

Standard Operating Procedures Manual for Assisters in the Individual Federally-facilitated Marketplaces







Table of Contents

1.0	INTRODUC	CTION & INSTRUCTIONS FOR USE	1
	1.1	Welcome	1
	1.2	Purpose of the Manual	1
	1.3	Updates to the Manual	2
	1.4	Instructions for Use	2
2.0	CONSUME	ER PROTECTIONS	3
	2.1	Privacy & Security Guidelines	3
	2.2	Fraud Prevention Guidelines	7
	2.3	Complaint & Grievance Process	9
3.0	INDIVIDUA	AL MARKETPLACE SOPS	11
	SOP-	-1. Receive Consent Before Accessing Consumer PII	12
	SOP-	-2. Assess Consumers' Knowledge & Needs	17
	SOP-	-3. Create an Account	20
	SOP-	-4. Verify Identity	24
	SOP-	-5. Apply for Health Coverage	35
	SOP-	-6. Review Eligibility Results	49
	SOP-	-7. Lower Costs of Coverage	56
	SOP-	-8. Compare, Save, & Select Health Plans	69
	SOP-	-9. Pay Health Plan Premium	82
	SOP-	-10. Request an Eligibility Appeal	86
	SOP-	-11. Exemptions	91
	SOP-	-12. Update Account Profile	104
	SOP-	-13. Report Life Changes	107
	SOP-	-14. Renew Health Coverage	112
APPI	ENDICES		117
	Арре	endix A: Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs)	117
	Арре	endix B: Acronyms & Definitions	131
	Арре	endix C: Federal Poverty Guidelines	140
	Арре	endix D: State Medicaid & CHIP Program Information	142
	Арре	endix E: Support Resources	146
INDE	X		149





List of Exhibits

Exhibit 1—Common Consumer Questions about Assister Use of PII	5
Exhibit 2—Resources to Report Fraud	9
Exhibit 3—Knowledge Assessment Guide	. 17
Exhibit 4—Marketplace Account Creation Screenshot	. 21
Exhibit 5—Marketplace Account Verification E-mail	. 22
Exhibit 6—Marketplace Account Created Screenshot	. 22
Exhibit 7—Account Errors and Action Items	. 23
Exhibit 8—Verify Your Identity Message Screenshot	. 24
Exhibit 9—Marketplace Verify Your Identity and Contact Information Screenshot	. 25
Exhibit 10—Marketplace Verify Your Identity Questions Screenshot	. 26
Exhibit 11—Your Identity Has Been Verified Screenshot	. 27
Exhibit 12—Consumer Directed to Contact Experian to Verify Identity Screenshot	. 29
Exhibit 13—Consumer Resubmission Contact Information for Verification Screenshot	. 30
Exhibit 14—Consumer Resubmission of Contact Information does not Verify Identity Screenshot	. 31
Exhibit 15—Consumer Directed to Upload Documents Manually to Verify Identity Screenshot	. 32
Exhibit 16—Uploading Documents Screenshot	. 33
Exhibit 17—Identity Still Being Verified Screenshot	. 34
Exhibit 18—Information Collected on the Eligibility Application (if Applying for Financial Assistance)	. 36
Exhibit 19—HealthCare.gov Application: Get Started Screenshot	. 38
Exhibit 20—HealthCare.gov Application: Family & Household Screenshot	. 38
Exhibit 21—HealthCare.gov Application: Income Screenshot	. 39
Exhibit 22—HealthCare.gov Application: Additional Information Screenshot	. 40
Exhibit 23—Marketplace Electronic Signature Screenshot	. 41
Exhibit 24—Eligibility Results Screenshot	. 42
Exhibit 25—HealthCare.gov Enroll To-Do List Screenshot	. 43
Exhibit 26—Application Details Page on HealthCare.gov Screenshot	. 45
Exhibit 27—Document Type Screenshot	. 46
Exhibit 28—Barcode Page from Eligibility Notice Screenshot	. 47
Exhibit 29—Eligibility Results	. 49
Exhibit 30—Appeals Information	. 51
Exhibit 31—Eligibility Assessment vs. Determination	. 53
Exhibit 32—Common Premium Tax Credit Questions and Answers	. 57
Exhibit 33—What are the Results of my Application?	. 58
Exhibit 34—Selecting the Amount of Advance Payments of the Premium Tax Credit Screenshot	. 60
Exhibit 35—Review and Confirm Plan Selection Screenshot	. 61
Exhibit 36—Consumer APTC Repayment Limits	. 62
Exhibit 37—Where Consumers can Direct Questions About The Tax Consequences of APTC and	
Marketplace Coverage	. 63
Exhibit 38—Common Cost-Sharing Reductions Questions and Answers	. 64
Exhibit 39—Key Notice Content and Next Steps	. 64
Exhibit 40—How to Identify CSR-eligible plans on the Marketplace Screenshot	. 67
Exhibit 41—Setting the Amount of Advance Payments of the Premium Tax Credit Screenshot	. 70
Exhibit 42—Advance Payments of the Premium Tax Credit	. 70

The Assister's SOP Manual



List of Exhibits

Exhibit 43—Tax Consequences for Advance Payments of the Premium Tax Credit	71
Exhibit 44—Filtering Options	73
Exhibit 45—Filter Plans by Metal Level Screenshot	74
Exhibit 46—Select a QHP for Plan Comparison Screenshot	74
Exhibit 47—Side-by-Side Plan Comparison Screenshot	75
Exhibit 48—Save QHP Screenshot	76
Exhibit 49—Warning Message Screenshot	77
Exhibit 50—Confirm Plan Selection Screenshot	78
Exhibit 51—Confirming Dental Plan Selection Screenshot	79
Exhibit 52—Review and Confirm Screenshot	80
Exhibit 53—Premium Payment Assistance Do's and Don'ts	83
Exhibit 54—Pay for Health Plan Screenshot	84
Exhibit 55—Appeals Notices	89
Exhibit 56—Descriptions of Exemptions	91
Exhibit 57—Step 1 of Exemption Application	100
Exhibit 58—Step 2 of Exemption Application	100
Exhibit 59—Step 3 of Exemption Application	102
Exhibit 60—Step 4 of Exemption Application	102
Exhibit 61—Communication Preferences Screenshot	105
Exhibit 62—Report a Life Change Screenshot	108
Exhibit 63—Life Changes	109
Exhibit 64—Proving Eligibility for Special Enrollment Period	111
Exhibit 65—2016 Annual Poverty Guidelines for All States (Except Hawaii and Alaska)	140
Exhibit 66—2016 Annual Poverty Guidelines for Alaska Only	140
Exhibit 67—2016 Annual Poverty Guidelines for Hawaii Only	140
Exhibit 68—State Medicaid & CHIP Program Contact Information	142
Exhibit 69—External Resources	146





Introduction & Instructions for Use 1.0

Welcome 1.1

The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) aims to ensure that all consumers have access to highquality, affordable health coverage options through a Health Insurance MarketplaceSM. Assisters play a critical role in meeting this goal, and CMS appreciates your support in this effort.

As an assister, you serve as a trusted resource to educate consumers and answer their questions about health coverage offered through a Federally-facilitated Marketplace (FFM).¹ Assisters help to ensure that consumers have positive and successful experiences as they complete FFM eligibility and enrollment activities.

1.2 Purpose of the Manual

The Standard Operating Procedures Manual for Assisters in the Individual Federally-facilitated Marketplaces is an instructional guide intended for assisters. In this Manual, the term "assisters" refers to certified application counselors (CACs), Navigators, and non-Navigator assistance personnel who help consumers in the Federallyfacilitated Marketplaces. The term "you" is also often used to refer to FFM assisters, but is also sometimes used to refer to consumers (especially in Appendix A: Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs)). This Manual contains standard operating procedures (SOPs) for assister activities within a Federally-facilitated Marketplace for the individual market (also referred to in this document as an "Individual Federally-facilitated Marketplace," "Individual FFM," or "Individual Marketplace"). The SOPs reflect requirements, policies, and best practices under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 (referred to collectively as the Affordable Care Act), CMS regulations, and CMS guidance.

This Manual is not intended to take the place of the statutes, regulations, and formal policy guidance upon which it is based. It summarizes current policy and operations as of the date it was published. We encourage assisters to refer to these statutes, regulations, and interpretive guidance for complete and current information about the requirements that apply to them.

DISCLAIMER: This manual contains screenshots from https://www.healthcare.gov that are intended only as an example of what you and/or the consumer may see when the consumer is completing an application on HealthCare.gov. All names and contact information used in the screenshots are fictional; and the use of health insurer names and/or health plan names are for demonstration purposes only and should not be construed as an endorsement by CMS of any specific health insurer or health plan.

The instructions and information included in this Manual provide guidance on how to help consumers in an Individual FFM with activities and issues such as:

¹ The terms "Federally-facilitated Marketplace" and "FFM," as used in this document, include FFMs where the state performs plan management functions and State Partnership Marketplaces. The terms "Health Insurance MarketplaceSM," and "Marketplace," as used in this document, generally refer to an FFM, and frequently refer to an Individual FFM.

This information is intended only for the use of entities and individuals that are certified to serve as Navigators, certified application counselors, or non-Navigator assistance personnel in a Federally-facilitated Marketplace. The terms "Federally-facilitated Marketplace" and "FFM," as used in this document, include FFMs where the state performs plan management functions and State Partnership Marketplaces. Some information contained in this manual may also be of interest to individuals helping consumers in State-based Marketplaces and Federally-supported State-based Marketplaces.



The Assister's SOP Manual



1.0. Introduction & Instructions for Use (continued)

- Preparing, completing, and updating Individual FFM applications for health coverage;
- Enrolling in health coverage through an Individual FFM;
- Understanding eligibility determinations for enrollment in health coverage through an Individual FFM application;
- Resolving data-matching issues (DMIs);
- Renewing eligibility and enrollment for health coverage through an Individual FFM;
- Certain issues related to exemptions from the individual shared responsibility payment and the requirement . to maintain minimum essential coverage; and
- Understanding the process of filing Individual FFM eligibility appeals. .

Updates to the Manual 1.3

The Center for Consumer Information & Insurance Oversight (CCIIO) within CMS maintains this Manual in its entirety. CCIIO may alter, delete, suspend, or discontinue the procedures in this Manual in the future. Procedural changes will be communicated to assisters through the Assister Newsletter and Assister Webinar, as well as through federal regulations and guidance. CCIIO will also periodically update the Manual as relevant regulations, guidance, or policies are released, and disseminate updated versions of the Manual to assister organizations. As an assister, you should refer to your assister organization's policies and guidelines for specific instructions on how to obtain new versions of the Manual. CMS plans to provide updated versions of the Manual on Marketplace.CMS.gov.

1.4 Instructions for Use

The Manual can either be used as an electronic document or as a stand-alone paper document. Key features such as the Table of Contents, Index, and color-coding allow for easy navigation of the document in either format.

1.4.1 Electronic Document Use

When using the electronic version of the Manual, click on the hyperlinked words to navigate to a new section within the document or to open an external website. To identify hyperlinks in the body of the Manual, look for underlined words in blue font. In the Table of Contents, hyperlinks appear as normal text. In all instances, hovering over a hyperlink changes the mouse pointer to indicate the hyperlink's presence.

1.4.2 Paper Document Use

When using the paper version of the Manual, refer to the Table of Contents and the Index to navigate to the page containing the information you need. The Table of Contents provides an overview of the document by sections and subsections, while the Index catalogues a list of keywords and topics found within the document.





2.0 Consumer Protections

This section provides an overview of some of the consumer protections that apply when you help consumers, specifically:

- Privacy and security guidelines;
- Fraud prevention guidelines; and
- The complaint and grievance process.

2.1 Privacy & Security Guidelines

When you help consumers apply for health coverage through a Marketplace, they may provide personal information to you. Consumers should be able to trust you to handle their personal information with care. Some of this information will be personally identifiable information (PII). The term "personally identifiable information" means information that can be used to distinguish or trace an individual's identity. Examples of PII include the consumer's:

- Name
- Social Security number
- Date of birth
- Address
- Income
- Protected health information
- Tax information

Another way to think about PII is that this information alone, or when combined with other personal information, can be linked to a specific individual.

In general, consumers should input their own information in an online or paper application, unless a consumer asks for help typing or using a computer to learn about, apply for, and enroll in FFM coverage online. An assister may then use the keyboard or mouse but must follow the consumer's specific directions, with the consumer physically present.

In summary, an assister must not log in to the consumer's online Marketplace account, fill out the online or paper Marketplace application, or select a plan unless directed by the consumer. The consumer must be physically present, and a consent form must be completed by that consumer or by his or her authorized representative.

Note: If you are working for a non-Navigator organization in a State Partnership Marketplace, please contact the Marketplace in the state where you are providing assistance for more information about what privacy and security standards apply to you.

2.1.1 Personally Identifiable Information

Review the guidelines in this section to understand your role in protecting consumers' PII and to be aware of situations in which you may come into contact with PII. Also review <u>How to Obtain a Consumer's Authorization</u>

This information is intended only for the use of entities and individuals that are certified to serve as Navigators, certified application counselors, or non-Navigator assistance personnel in a Federally-facilitated Marketplace. The terms "Federally-facilitated Marketplace" and "FFM," as used in this document, include FFMs where the state performs plan management functions and State Partnership Marketplaces. Some information contained in this manual may also be of interest to individuals helping consumers in State-based Marketplaces and Federally-supported State-based Marketplaces. 3



The Assister's SOP Manual

2.0. Consumer Protections (continued)

before Gaining Access to Personally Identifiable Information (PII) for more information on obtaining consumers' authorization prior to accessing their PII.

The guidance in this section summarizes and supplements privacy and security standards that are specifically listed or incorporated in your or your organization's agreement with CMS, as required under 45 CFR § 155.260(b), and/or in your agreement with your organization. Additionally, under CMS regulations, you must obtain a consumer's authorization (also referred to in this document as consent) prior to accessing a consumer's PII (see SOP-1, Receive Consent Before Accessing Consumer PII). You are allowed to access, keep, and use consumer PII to carry out your assister "authorized functions," which are listed in the privacy and security standards, and which generally include the activities you are authorized under CMS regulations to perform in your role as an assister, as well as for any other purpose for which a consumer has provided specific consent, consistent with applicable law. In the event that you encounter a consumer's PII, you must adhere to all applicable privacy and security standards.

Your responsibilities include:

- Knowing, understanding, and complying with the privacy and security standards in any grant, contract, or agreement between CMS and you and/or your assister organization, and/or in the terms and conditions of any contract or agreement between you and your assister organization.
- Recognizing and protecting consumers' private information, including PII, and any other sensitive . information that belongs to consumers.
- Informing consumers how their PII will be secured. .
- Obtaining consumers' authorization (or consent) prior to gaining access to their PII.
- Maintaining a record of a consumer's authorization for at least six years (unless a different and longer . retention period has already been provided under other applicable federal law); and informing consumers that they can revoke this authorization at any time.
- Providing consumers with a written privacy notice statement that has been developed by your organization (or ensuring that your organization has provided consumers with this privacy notice statement) prior to collecting PII or other information from them in connection with carrying out your assister duties. However, the privacy notice statement doesn't need to be provided to consumers prior to collecting their name, physical address, email address or telephone number if that information is being used only to make future contact with the consumer to carry out an authorized function, such as setting up an appointment, or to send them educational information directly related to your authorized functions.
- Only sharing consumers' PII with other individuals or organizations as authorized by the terms and conditions of any grant, contract, or agreement between CMS and you and/or your organization; the terms and conditions of any contract or agreement between you and your assister organization; or with a consumer's express consent.
- Maintaining an account of any and all disclosures of PII, except for those disclosures that are necessary to . carry out your authorized functions. Your accounting should contain the date, nature, and purpose of such disclosures, and the name and address of the person or agency to whom the disclosure is made. You should retain the account for at least six years after the disclosure, or the life of the record, whichever is longer. This account must be made available to CMS or the consumer who is the subject of the record, upon request. Disclosures of PII that have not been authorized by the consumer may be considered a privacy breach or incident depending on the circumstances.

You may come across consumers' PII when you:



The Assister's SOP Manual



2.0. Consumer Protections (continued)

- Obtain their authorization to provide assistance;
- Assist them with creating an account through the FFM;
- Assist them with the FFM eligibility application for health coverage; and/or
- Assist them with certain issues related to exemptions from the individual shared responsibility payment and the requirement to maintain minimum essential coverage, or with understanding how to file an FFM eligibility appeal.

Some requests or collections of PII are prohibited, however. For example, you and your organization are not permitted to:

- Request or require a Social Security number, information regarding citizenship, status as a U.S. national, or immigration status for any individual who is not seeking coverage for himself or herself on an application.
- Request information from or concerning any individual who is not seeking coverage for himself or herself, unless that information is necessary for the FFM eligibility application of another person seeking coverage, or is required as part of a Small Business Health Options Program (SHOP) employer application. Such necessary information may include information on individuals who are in an individual's tax household or who live with an individual applying for coverage, including contact information, addresses, tax filing status, income and deductions, access to employer-sponsored coverage, familial or legal relationships, American Indian or Alaska Native status, or pregnancy status.
- Use consumers' PII to discriminate against them, such as by refusing to assist consumers who have • significant or complex health care needs.

Exhibit 1 is a resource to answer common questions from consumers about assister use of PII in the Marketplace.

Why might you ask for my personal information?	What will NOT happen with my personal information?	
 To help you apply for health coverage through an FFM To help you apply for programs to lower costs of health coverage To help you identify qualified health plan (QHP) options available through an FFM To schedule appointments with you To provide assister services in a culturally and linguistically appropriate manner, and/or in a manner that is accessible to persons with disabilities 	 Information will not be used for purposes unrelated to the assister's authorized functions or for purposes to which a consumer hasn't consented 	

Exhibit 1—Common Consumer Questions about Assister Use of PII

2.1.2 Tips for Protecting PII

Here are some tips that will help you protect consumers' PII.

This information is intended only for the use of entities and individuals that are certified to serve as Navigators, certified application counselors, or non-Navigator assistance personnel in a Federally-facilitated Marketplace. The terms "Federally-facilitated Marketplace" and "FFM," as used in this document, include FFMs where the state performs plan management functions and State Partnership Marketplaces. Some information contained in this manual may also be of interest to individuals helping consumers in State-based Marketplaces and Federally-supported State-based Marketplaces.



The Assister's SOP Manual



2.0. Consumer Protections (continued)

Handling PII

- You are required to keep or store any copies of documents containing a consumer's PII only in a manner that is consistent with the privacy and security standards that apply to you. If you need to keep a consumer's document containing PII to carry out an authorized function, it's a good idea to keep a copy and return the originals to the consumer.
- You may use or disclose PII only to carry out your authorized functions or with a consumer's specific • consent.
- If you send information that may contain PII to other individuals or organizations, you may do so only to • carry out your authorized functions or with a consumer's consent, and must do so in a manner that is consistent with the privacy and security standards that apply to you.
- You should not leave files or documents containing PII where others could inadvertently see them. As a best . practice, pick up documents that contain PII promptly from printers and fax machines, and secure any documents that contain PII before leaving your desk or workstation.
- When assisting consumers who will be mailing their PII (such as a hard copy FFM application), advise them that it's a good idea to use an opaque envelope or container, and, if possible, use a traceable delivery service.
- When assisting consumers who will be faxing PII, it's a good idea to double check that the recipient's fax . number is correct and that someone is able to receive the faxed information promptly.
- Remind consumers they should keep their PII in a secure place that they will remember.
- If consumers mistakenly or accidentally leave behind PII at a facility or enrollment event, return it to . consumers as soon as possible and store the PII securely until that time.
- If it is not possible to return PII to a consumer and the PII is not in the form of an original document (such as an original Social Security card or government-issued identification card), you should consider destroying the PII and maintaining a record of its destruction. If the PII is in the form of an important original document like a Social Security card or government-issued identification card, we recommend that you return the document to the agency or entity that issued it and keep a record of its submission to that agency.
- Assisters should use email accounts, websites, and mobile devices in a manner consistent with their • organization's implementation of the privacy and security standards when collecting, transmitting, or accessing PII.
- As a best practice, clear your web browser history after using your browser to access PII, so that another person using the same computer and web browser does not inadvertently access the PII.
- Use passwords to protect electronic accounts that may contain PII, as well as any additional safeguards to • protect electronic accounts, consistent with your organization's implementation of the privacy and security standards. Remind consumers to do the same.





2.0. Consumer Protections (continued)

Reporting a Breach of PII

- Your organization must have its own breach² and incident³ handling procedures that are consistent with CMS's Risk Management Handbook Standard 7.1 Incident Handling and Breach Notification. These procedures must identify the designated Privacy Official for the organization (if applicable), and/or identify other personnel who are authorized or responsible for reporting and managing privacy and security incidents or breaches to CMS.
- You must comply with your organization's breach and incident handling procedures.
- Your organization's breach and incident handling procedures must address how to identify an "incident." An • "incident" is the act of violating an explicit or implied security policy, which includes attempts (either failed or successful) to gain unauthorized access to a system or its data, unwanted disruption or denial of service, the unauthorized use of a system for the processing or storage of data, and changes to system hardware, firmware, or software characteristics without the owner's knowledge, instruction, or consent.
- If an incident occurs, your organization's policies and procedures should be followed to determine if PII is . involved in the incident.
- If you discover that a potential incident or breach of PII has occurred, you should immediately report this to . your organization's designated Privacy Official and/or any other person who has been identified as responsible for reporting or managing a breach of PII for your organization.
- Your organization must report any incident or breach of PII to the CMS IT Service Desk by telephone at (410) • 786-2580 or 1-800-562-1963 or via email notification at cms_it_service-desk@cms.hhs.gov within one hour of discovery of the incident or breach.
- In addition, your organization must complete a CMS Security Incident Report. •
- You and your organization must cooperate with CMS in resolving any incident or breach and provide details . regarding identification, response, recovery, and follow-up of incidents and breaches. Your organization must also make its designated Privacy Official or other authorized personnel available to CMS upon request.

2.2 Fraud Prevention Guidelines

The FFMs are committed to providing accurate information about health coverage options and providing enrollment assistance to consumers. As you assist consumers, you should be aware of potential instances of

² Breach is defined by OMB Memorandum M-07-16, Safeguarding and Responding to the Breach of Personally Identifiable Information (May 22, 2007), as the compromise, unauthorized disclosure, unauthorized acquisition, unauthorized access, loss of control or any similar term or phrase that refers to situations where persons other than authorized users or for other than an authorized purpose have access or potential access to Personally Identifiable Information (PII), whether physical or electronic. The determination of whether a Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) privacy incident rises to the level of a breach is made exclusively by the CMS Breach Analysis Team (BAT).

³ Incident, or Security Incident, means the act of violating an explicit or implied security policy, which includes attempts (either failed or successful) to gain unauthorized access to a system or its data, unwanted disruption or denial of service, the unauthorized use of a system for the processing or storage of data; and changes to system hardware, firmware, or software characteristics without the owner's knowledge, instruction, or consent.

This information is intended only for the use of entities and individuals that are certified to serve as Navigators, certified application counselors, or non-Navigator assistance personnel in a Federally-facilitated Marketplace. The terms "Federally-facilitated Marketplace" and "FFM," as used in this document, include FFMs where the state performs plan management functions and State Partnership Marketplaces. Some information contained in this manual may 7 also be of interest to individuals helping consumers in State-based Marketplaces and Federally-supported State-based Marketplaces.



The Assister's SOP Manual



2.0. Consumer Protections (continued)

fraud and help consumers understand that they must always submit truthful and accurate information to a Marketplace.

Consumers may make mistakes when completing their eligibility application or paying their premiums to health insurance companies. Fraud, however, can occur when someone falsifies information, for example on an eligibility application. Fraud can also occur if someone uses another person's personal information as their own to receive health coverage (this type of fraud is also known as "identity theft"). If you suspect or are aware of fraud, you should report it to your organization and refer to the resources listed in Exhibit 2 to report fraud.

Use these guidelines to help prevent fraud and identity theft from occurring, and to learn how to report fraud when you suspect it has occurred.

2.2.1 Preventing Fraud

To help prevent fraud from occurring, encourage consumers to:

- Accurately report all sources and amounts of income on eligibility applications;
- Accurately report their age, tobacco usage, and address on eligibility applications;
- Protect their Social Security numbers;
- Shred documents containing health information or other PII before throwing them away;
- Never give out information over the telephone or Internet unless the requestor has proven they have authority to have this information (e.g., a health insurance company, the Marketplace);
- Review charges, bills, and explanations of benefits to ensure all charges for services, equipment, and . prescriptions are accurate;
- End any suspicious calls or visits immediately; .
- Report suspicious calls or visits to the Marketplace Call Center;
- Read How Can I Protect Myself from Fraud in the Health Insurance MarketplaceSM for additional information on how they can protect themselves against Marketplace fraud; and
- Be aware that some consumers are being targeted by tax scams. If consumers owe a payment, remember that it should be made only with their tax return or in response to a letter from the IRS. The payment should never be made directly to an individual or return preparer. Additional information on how consumers can identify and protect themselves from tax scams is available at https://www.healthcare.gov/how-can-iprotect-myself-from-tax-scams/.

2.2.2 Recognizing Fraud

Potentially fraudulent situations can occur when consumers:

- Purposely underreport their income or fail to report all sources of income.
- Purposely do not report an accurate level of tobacco use to attempt to change the cost of health coverage.
- Use another person's information to get health coverage through a Marketplace.

It might also constitute fraud when a person:

- Falsifies information to mislead a consumer into joining a health plan.
- Makes an unsolicited request for consumers' personal information fraudulently claiming that they will enroll them in QHPs sold through a Marketplace.



The Assister's SOP Manual



2.0. Consumer Protections (continued)

- Falsely claims to be an agent, broker, or assister and sends a consumer an email that asks for personal information.
- Tries to collect a tax payment directly from the consumer.

2.2.3 Reporting Fraud

If you or a consumer thinks fraud may have occurred, use the following resources to report it:

Resource	Contact Information	Description
HHS Office of the Inspector General (OIG)	 Online: <u>HHS OIG Fraud Hotline</u>⁴ 1-800-HHS-TIPS (1-800-447-8477) TTY: 1-800-377-4950 	To report that a consumer's information was used to enroll someone else in the Marketplace
The Federal Trade Commission (FTC)	 Online: <u>Secure Complaint Form</u>⁵ 1-877-ID-THEFT (1-877-438-4338); TTY: 1-866-653-4261 	To report identity theft
State Department of Insurance (DOI)	Your local State Department of Insurance	To report agent/broker fraud
Federally-facilitated Marketplace Call Center	 1-800-318-2596; TTY: 1-855-889-4325 (all languages available) 	To report that a consumer received suspicious calls or visits, or to report fraudulent conduct by an assister
Internal Revenue Service	 Complete and send Form 14157, Complaint: Tax Return Preparer with all supporting documentation to the IRS. Mail: Internal Revenue Service Attn: Return Preparer Office 401 W. Peachtree Street NW Mail Stop 421-D Atlanta, GA 30308 Fax: 855-889-7957 	To report suspected misconduct or fraudulent activity related to a tax return preparer or tax preparation firm.

Exhibit 2—Resources to Report Fraud

2.3 **Complaint & Grievance Process**

If consumers approach you about filing a complaint or grievance related to the conduct of FFM- approved assisters they have worked with during the eligibility and enrollment process, direct them to submit an email to assistercomplaints@cms.hhs.gov. For example, consumers who are not pleased with the help they received from a Navigator can submit an -email detailing their complaint.

https://forms.oig.hhs.gov/hotlineoperations/

⁵ https://www.ftccomplaintassistant.gov



The Assister's SOP Manual



2.0. Consumer Protections (continued)

Additionally, if you have knowledge of assister misconduct, such as another assister requesting payment from a consumer in return for helping to enroll the consumer in a QHP, you should contact CMS. Navigators and non-Navigator assistance personnel who wish to file a complaint or grievance should contact their Project Officer or point of contact at CMS. All other assisters, including CACs, should direct their complaint or grievance to the CAC inbox at CACQuestions@cms.hhs.gov.





3.0 Individual Marketplace SOPs

The SOPs contained in this section provide guidance to help you assist individuals who select and purchase health coverage through a Federally-facilitated Marketplace for the individual market or who have questions about exemptions from the individual shared responsibility payment or requirement to maintain minimum essential coverage. Individuals might:

- Request assistance with the process to apply for Medicaid or the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP);
- Identify, compare, and select QHPs;
- Complete a number of other eligibility and enrollment activities; or
- Request assistance related to exemptions from the individual shared responsibility payment or requirement to maintain minimum essential coverage.

Each SOP adheres to the following general structure:

- A. Introduction: Outlines general task(s) and describes the SOP topic.
- **B. Procedures**: Provides step-by-step instructions, tables, and graphics to guide assisters as they help consumers complete Marketplace activities.
- **C. Next Steps**: Identifies next steps or associated SOPs that assisters can reference to further assist consumers with Marketplace activities.

Use the Table of Contents below to navigate to the SOP needed to provide consumer assistance:

SOP-1. Receive Consent Before Accessing Consumer PII	
SOP-2. Assess Consumers' Knowledge & Needs	17
SOP-3. Create an Account	
SOP-4. Verify Identity	
SOP-5. Apply for Health Coverage	
SOP-6. Review Eligibility Results	
SOP-7. Lower Costs of Coverage	
SOP-8. Compare, Save, & Select Health Plans	
SOP-9. Pay Health Plan Premium	
SOP-10. Request an Eligibility Appeal	
SOP-11. Exemptions	
SOP-12. Update Account Profile	104
SOP-13. Report Life Changes	107
SOP-14. Renew Health Coverage	112

The Assister's SOP Manual

SOP-11. Exemptions

SOP-1. Receive Consent Before Accessing Consumer PII

A. Introduction

As an assister, you must receive consumers' consent (referred to in CMS regulations as an authorization) before accessing their PII, and must inform consumers of the functions and responsibilities of your assister type (Navigator, non-Navigator assistance personnel, or CAC). This is an essential step to ensure that consumers are making an informed decision to share their PII with assisters. As a best practice, to ensure that you receive informed consent from consumers, first have a conversation with consumers about your roles and responsibilities as an assister, including all the consumer protection standards that apply to your assister type through CMS regulations, such as conflict of interest requirements, rules about accepting payment and providing gifts, etc.

Next, ask consumers to provide consent, which could be done by asking each consumer to complete a consumer consent form. A model consumer consent form for <u>Navigator grantees</u> and <u>CAC-designated organizations in</u> <u>FFMs</u> is available at <u>Marketplace.CMS.gov</u> and can be used to obtain written consent from each consumer you assist. If you obtain consent verbally rather than through a form or other written document, you should keep a written record of the consent as described in the procedures below. These model forms are also available in Spanish at: <u>https://marketplace.cms.gov/technical-assistance-resources/draft-authorization-form-navigators-spanish.pdf</u> and <u>https://marketplace.cms.gov/technical-assistance-resources/model-auth-form-template-for-cacs-spanish.PDF</u>.

You must follow the privacy and security standards that apply to your assister type; these are contained in the terms and conditions of the grant, contract, or agreement between CMS and you and/or your organization; and/or the terms and conditions of the contract or agreement between you and your assister organization. You must also comply with these and other applicable standards or policies, including your organization's privacy and security policies, when collecting and storing consent forms. Note that all assister organizations are federally required to store written consumer consent forms and other records of consumer authorization for at least six years, unless a different and longer retention period has already been provided under other applicable federal law. For more information on obtaining a consumers' consent to access their PII, see the guidance available at https://marketplace.CMS.gov/technical-assistance-resources/obtain-consumer-authorization.pdf.

Note: If you are working for a non-Navigator organization in a State Partnership Marketplace, please contact the Marketplace in the state where you are providing assistance for more information about what privacy and security standards apply to you.

The remainder of this SOP provides guidance on how to receive informed consent before assisting consumers.





SOP-1. Receive Consent Before Accessing Consumer PII

Procedures Β.

Inform Consumers of Your Assister Roles and Responsibilities 1.

Inform consumers of the functions and responsibilities that apply to your specific assister type (e.g., Navigator, non-Navigator assistance personnel, or CAC), including all the consumer protection standards that apply through CMS regulations to your assister type, such as (as applicable):

- The requirement to provide information in a fair, accurate, and impartial manner; а.
- b. Conflict of interest requirements⁶;
- c. Rules about accepting payment and providing gifts;
- d. Rules about unsolicited direct contact with consumers, including "robo-calls;"
- e. Rules about nondiscrimination⁷ and providing culturally and linguistically appropriate services and services accessible to consumers with disabilities; and
- f. That you are not acting as a tax adviser or attorney when providing assistance as an assister, and cannot provide tax or legal advice within your capacity as an assister.
- 2. **Review Methods of Protecting PII**
- **Step I.** You are strongly encouraged to review with consumers the privacy and security standards required under the terms and conditions of the grant, contract, or agreement between CMS and you and/or your assister organization; and/or the terms and conditions of the contract or agreement between you and your assister organization. Explain to the consumer:
 - a. PII is information which can be used to distinguish or trace an individual's identity, such as their name, Social Security number, or biometric records, alone, or when combined with other personal or identifying information that is linked or linkable to a specific individual, such as date and place of birth, or mother's maiden name;
 - b. Assisters and assister organizations are required to follow privacy and security standards to protect consumers' PII;
 - c. What your authorized functions are, as set forth in the terms and conditions of the grant, contract, or agreement between CMS and you and/or your assister organization; and/or the terms and conditions of the contract or agreement between you and your assister organization; and

⁶ Additional guidance on conflict of interest requirements for assisters is available at https://marketplace.cms.gov/technical-assistance-resources/conflict-of-interest-requirements.PDF.

⁷ With a limited exception for certain certified application counselor designated organizations that receive Federal funds to provide services to a defined population under the terms of Federal legal authorities, all assisters are prohibited from discriminating based on race, color, national origin, disability, age, sex, gender identity, or sexual orientation. See 45 CFR \$155.120(c). Assisters must also comply with any other local, state, and federal nondiscrimination and civil rights laws, if applicable, such as section 1557 of the Affordable Care Act and its implementing regulations.





SOP-1. Receive Consent Before Accessing Consumer PII

- d. Assisters might access their PII, such as their names, dates of birth, financial information, or Social Security numbers when the assisters carry out their authorized functions.
- **Step 2.** Explain the methods you will use to protect consumers' PII.
 - a. CMS permits you to access, keep, and use consumer PII only to carry out your authorized functions or with a consumer's specific consent. In the event that you encounter a consumer's PII, you must adhere to all applicable privacy and security standards. If you are authorized to share consumers' PII with individuals or entities, you will share only the minimum necessary consumer information.
 - b. You will take precautions while handling consumers' PII to protect the confidentiality of their information.
 - c. When disposing of physical or electronic copies of consumers' PII, you will adhere to all privacy and security standards that apply to you.
- **Step 3.** Answer consumers' questions about the privacy and security of the PII they share with you. If needed to answer consumers' questions, refer to the model consumer consent form; your organization's Privacy Notice Statement; or the terms and conditions of your Navigator organization's grant, , Enrollment Assistance Program contract, the agreement between you and your CAC organization, or your CAC organization's agreement with CMS.
- **Discuss Consumers' Responsibilities** 3.
- Step I. Assisters are strongly encouraged to remind consumers that they have certain responsibilities when applying for health coverage through the Marketplace.
 - a. Consumers must provide complete and accurate information on the Marketplace eligibility application.
 - b. Consumers must accurately report all required sources and amounts of income.
 - c. Consumers should not ask assisters to misrepresent consumers' information while applying for health coverage.
 - d. Consumers must notify the Marketplace of any inaccurate information included on their eligibility application.
- **Obtain Consumers' Consent** 4.
- **Step I.** You can obtain a consumer's consent orally and/or in writing, or use the model form provided by CMS. At a minimum, the consent should include the following:
 - a. An acknowledgment that you informed the consumer of the functions and responsibilities that apply to your specific assister role (e.g., Navigator, non-Navigator assistance personnel, CAC) (including that assisters are not acting as tax advisers or attorneys, and cannot provide tax or legal advice within their capacity as assisters, as well as all the consumer protection standards that apply through CMS regulations to your assister type, such as conflict of interest requirements, rules about accepting payment and providing gifts, etc.);

This information is intended only for the use of entities and individuals that are certified to serve as Navigators, certified application counselors, or non-Navigator assistance personnel in a Federally-facilitated Marketplace. The terms "Federally-facilitated Marketplace" and "FFM," as used in this document, include FFMs where the state performs plan management functions and State Partnership Marketplaces. Some information contained in this manual may also be of interest to individuals helping consumers in State-based Marketplaces and Federally-supported State-based Marketplaces. 14





SOP-1. Receive Consent Before Accessing Consumer PII

- b. Consent for you to access and use the consumer's PII to carry out your authorized functions; and
- c. An acknowledgment that the consumer may revoke any part of the authorization at any time, as well as a description of any limitations that the consumer wants to place on your access or use of the consumer's PII.

We also recommend that the authorization include:

- a. An explanation of what PII includes and examples of the kinds of PII you may request from the consumer;
- b. An acknowledgment that the consumer is not required to provide you with any PII;
- c. An explanation that the help you provide is based only on the information the consumer provides, and that if the information given is inaccurate or incomplete, you might not be able to offer all the help that is available for the consumer's situation;
- d. An acknowledgment that you will ask only for the minimum amount of PII necessary for you to carry out your functions and responsibilities; and
- e. Any applicable specific consents to obtain access to consumer PII for CMS-approved purposes that are not already captured in the list of purposes set forth in the terms and conditions of your Navigator organization's grant, Enrollment Assistance Program, the agreement between you and your CAC organization, or your CAC organization's agreement with CMS.

Please note that express CMS approval for any activities requiring a consumer's specific consent that are not already captured in the list of purposes set forth in an assister organization's agreement with CMS or its grant terms and conditions is required for the assister organization to use CMS grant or contract funds on those activities.

- 5. Check Consumers' Understanding and Complete Consent Form
- **Step I.** Ask consumers if they have any questions about the information and/or form you have shared with them, and answer their questions. It's a good idea to have the consumer verbally confirm that they understand what you have told them before they sign the form.
- **Step 2.** Ask consumers to read and sign your organization's consumer consent form before assisting them. When you obtain consent verbally (e.g., over the phone), explain to the consumer the consent components (as described above), obtain consent, and make a written record of the consent.⁸ The record of the consumer's consent should contain, at a minimum:

⁸ You may obtain consumers' consent verbally by reading them your organization's standard written consent form or a script that contains, at a minimum, the required elements of the authorization that are summarized above. You must record in writing that the consumer's consent was obtained. The record of the authorization must include at a minimum, the required components summarized in Item 5, Step 2. Assisters are strongly encouraged to create a record of the authorization as it is being provided, and then read back the content of the record to the consumer once it is complete, so

This information is intended only for the use of entities and individuals that are certified to serve as Navigators, certified application counselors, or non-Navigator assistance personnel in a Federally-facilitated Marketplace. The terms "Federally-facilitated Marketplace" and "FFM," as used in this document, include FFMs where the state performs plan management functions and State Partnership Marketplaces. Some information contained in this manual may also be of interest to individuals helping consumers in State-based Marketplaces and Federally-supported State-based Marketplaces. 15





SOP-1. Receive Consent Before Accessing Consumer PII

- a. The consumer's name (and, if applicable, the name of the consumer's authorized representative);
- b. The date the consent was given;
- c. Your name and/or the name of the assister to whom the consent was given (and the names of any other assisters that the consumer authorized to access the consumer's PII);
- d. Notes regarding limitations, if any, the consumer makes on the scope of the consent provided; and
- e. Notes recording all acknowledgments and consents obtained from the consumer, including any applicable specific consents to access consumer PII for CMS-approved purposes that are not already captured in the list of purposes set forth in your agreement with CMS and/or your organization.

Store a signed copy of the consumer consent form or record of authorization (paper or electronic) for at least six years (unless a different and longer retention period has already been provided under other applicable federal law) in a secure manner in accordance with your agreement with CMS and/or your organization. If any changes are later made to the consent, including if and when a consumer revoked the consent or part of the consent, this should be included with the original record.

It is strongly recommended that you provide the consumer with a copy of the signed consumer consent form (or, if applicable, the record of a verbally given consent).

Next Steps С.

- 1. Proceed to SOP-2 Assess Consumers' Knowledge & Needs to assess the type of assistance consumers require.
- 2. For more help answering consumers' specific questions, see the Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) related to SOP-1 Receive Consent to Access Consumer Information.

that the consumer can confirm that the record is accurate and complete, and correct it if it is not. Assisters are also strongly encouraged to provide a copy of the record to the consumer at the earliest available opportunity.





SOP-2. Assess Consumers' Knowledge & Needs

SOP-2. Assess Consumers' Knowledge & Needs

A. Introduction

This section will assist you in understanding the type of support consumers require so that you can assist them.

B. Procedures

1. Assess Consumers' Knowledge

As a best practice, have a conversation with consumers to gauge their knowledge of health coverage, the Affordable Care Act, and the Marketplace. The Knowledge Checks and Sample Questions listed in Exhibit 3 provide ideas to help you start a conversation to assess consumers' understanding.

EXHIBIT D MICHEC ASSESSINCIT GUIDE	Exhibit	3—Knowledge	Assessment	Guide
------------------------------------	---------	-------------	------------	-------

Knowledge Category	Knowledge Checks	Sample Questions
Health Coverage	 Determine if consumers: Understand the basics of health coverage. Know that for individual market health insurance, consumers and insurance companies pay for health care. Understand key terms, such as premiums, deductibles, coinsurance, and copayments. Know that insurance companies contract with different networks of doctors, and that their health care provider may not be included in some insurance networks. 	 What questions do you have about health coverage? How have you managed your health care costs in the past? Do you understand how premiums, deductibles, coinsurance, and copayments function? Do you have a doctor you see regularly? How would you feel if you had to see a new or different doctor?



The Assister's SOP Manual



SOP-2. Assess Consumers' Knowledge & Needs

Knowledge Category	Knowledge Checks	Sample Questions
Affordable Care Act	 Determine if consumers: Are aware of the preventive services available to them without cost sharing when they have non- grandfathered coverage. Understand that there are limits on the amount they will pay in cost sharing for essential health benefits each year (excluding grandfathered coverage). Are aware that they can no longer be denied coverage or charged more for having a pre- existing medical condition. Understand the individual shared responsibility payment. Know the exemptions available from the individual shared responsibility payment to maintain minimum essential coverage and how to apply for an exemption if they think they might be eligible. 	 What questions do you have about how the Affordable Care Act can lower the cost of your coverage? What questions do you have about the requirement to maintain minimum essential coverage? Do you understand the consequences for consumers who do not meet this requirement? Are you aware that some consumers may be exempt from the requirement to maintain minimum essential coverage?
Marketplace	 Determine if consumers: Understand the eligibility requirements for health coverage, tax credits, and cost savings available through a Marketplace. Are aware of the key dates for the Marketplace annual Open Enrollment period, during which any consumer can apply for health coverage. Are aware of the different health coverage options. Are aware of the available programs to lower the costs of health coverage. Understand the essential health benefits covered by all QHPs offered through a Marketplace (as well as most individual and small group coverage outside the Marketplace). 	 What questions do you have about applying for and enrolling in health coverage through a Marketplace? Are you aware of the start and end dates for the Marketplace annual Open Enrollment period? How can I help you apply for health coverage through a Marketplace? What questions do you have about the health coverage available through a Marketplace? What are your concerns about paying for coverage? Are you aware of the types of services covered by health coverage available through a Marketplace?

Assess Consumers' Needs 1.

Step I. As a best practice, have conversations with consumers to learn about their health coverage status, any questions they might have about the enrollment process, and problems they might have with completing their Marketplace applications. During this discussion, you should attempt to find out:



The Assister's SOP Manual



SOP-2. Assess Consumers' Knowledge & Needs

- a. Whether consumers have existing health coverage and, if so, whether that coverage continues to meet their needs (e.g., if it is ending, benefits are changing, costs are changing);
- b. Who is in need of health coverage (e.g., consumers and/or family members);
- c. Whether consumers have started the Marketplace eligibility application process, and if they have, what stage in the application process they have reached (e.g., submitted the application, received an eligibility determination, ready to select a QHP);
- d. How consumers intend to pay for the coverage (e.g., with advance payments of the premium tax credit, with personal income); and
- e. What additional information, if any, consumers need to know about the Affordable Care Act, health coverage, or the Marketplaces (e.g., how to apply for an exemption to the individual shared responsibility payment or requirement to maintain minimum essential coverage, how to make changes to their account profile).

С. Next Steps

- 1. If consumers require additional information about health coverage, the Affordable Care Act, or the Marketplace, a good place to start is to refer to the resources on Marketplace.cms.gov.
- 2. If consumers are ready to begin eligibility and enrollment activities or have questions about exemptions from the individual shared responsibility payment or requirement to maintain minimum essential coverage, proceed to the appropriate SOP(s) in this Manual.
- For more help answering consumers' specific questions, see the <u>Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs)</u> related to SOP-2 Assess Consumers' Knowledge & Needs.





SOP-3. Create an Account

SOP-3. Create an Account

A. Introduction

As an Assister, you can help consumers create an account to access the Marketplace online, submit an application for health coverage, and select a QHP. This SOP provides guidance on how to assist a consumer in creating an account.

B. Procedures

1. Create an Account

To assist consumers with creating an account, complete the following required steps shown in Exhibit 4:

- **Step I.** Assist consumers with entering the following information as shown on the screenshots below:
 - a. Assist consumers with entering the following information on the screen:
 - First name (required to create an account); Ensure that consumers use their given first name and not a nickname to be consistent with their Marketplace applications.
 - ii. Last name (required to create an account);
 - iii. Email address, which will also be the consumer's username (required to create an account); and
 - iv. Password (required to create an account).
 - b. Explain to consumers that they must answer three security questions to protect their accounts from unauthorized access. Assist consumers with selecting security questions to protect their account.
 - c. Advise the consumer that they must select the "I understand and agree with the HealthCare.gov privacy policy and terms and conditions" check box.

Things You Should Know

 Consumers may change their Marketplace account passwords at any time, but consumers cannot change their usernames. If consumers need additional password or username assistance, direct them to the Marketplace Call Center.



The Assister's SOP Manual



SOP-3. Create an Account

Exhibit 4—Market	place	Account	Creation	Screensh	ot
	place	Account	creation	Scieensii	υı

Create an account					
Create an account to apply for Marketplace coverage.					
If you already have an account, <u>log in</u> . If you're having trouble, don't create another account. <u>Get help if you're having trouble logging into your account</u> .					
Select your state to get started.					
Pennsylvania	•				
First name Last na	ime				
Your email address will also be your username when you lo	og in.				
Email address					
Use: 8-20 characters Upper & lowercase letters	V Number(s)				
Password					
Retype password					
Pick 3 questions that only you will be able to answer. If you forget your password, we'll ask you these questions to verify your identity.					
Pick a question					
Type an answer					
Pick a question 👻					
Type an answer					
Pick a question 👻					
Type an answer					
I understand and agree with the HealthCare gov privacy policy and terms and conditions.					
The Marketplace will send you emails with important enrollment information, updates and reminders. You can unsubscribe at any time by clicking the link at the bottom of any Marketplace email.					
CREATE ACCOUNT					
Already have an account? Log in.					

Step 2. Once consumers click "Create Account," a "Check your email" message will display on the same page with a reminder to click the verification link found in their email inbox to activate their account. Consumers cannot proceed with applying for coverage through the Marketplace before verifying their email address and activating their account.





SOP-3. Create an Account

- a. Once consumers check their email, they will see an email from the sender "marketplace@healthcare.gov;" the subject line of the email will read "Welcome! Please verify your email for your HealthCare.gov account."
- b. Instruct consumers to click the link in the email to verify their email address, as shown in Exhibit 5. When they click the link, they may see the "Please wait" screen while the Marketplace finishes creating the account, and then the account will be processed.

Exhibit 5—Marketplace Account Verification E-mail



c. Once consumers successfully verify their account, they will see the screen shown in Exhibit 6.

Exhibit 6—Marketplace Account Created Screenshot



2. Troubleshooting

Consumers may receive error messages during the account creation process. Exhibit 7 provides reasons for errors encountered and steps to assist consumers in resolving the errors.

The Assister's SOP Manual



SOP-3. Create an Account

Exhibit 7—Account Errors and Action Items

Error/Condition	Explanation & Discussion	Action Items
A profile already exists for that user	 Explain that if consumers have previously created an account, it is stored in the Marketplace and consumers can access the account with the correct login information. Consumers can only create one account. Explain that consumers may have mistakenly entered information that belongs to another consumer's account. 	 Assist consumers with ensuring that login information is correct and that they do not have an existing account. Consumers should contact the Marketplace Call Center or use the system prompts on HealthCare.gov to retrieve login information if an account already exists.
An account cannot be created with the information entered	 Explain that the Marketplace requires consumers to enter information in a valid format. Explain that the system identifies each piece of information that is missing or invalid so consumers can correct the information. Explain that consumers have the option to cancel the account creation activity. 	 Walk consumers through each piece of information that the system has identified as missing or invalid. Help consumers correct the information or show them how to cancel the entire account creation activity.

C. Next Steps

- If consumers would like to submit a Marketplace application or select a QHP, proceed to <u>SOP-4 Verify</u> <u>Identity</u> to complete the identity verification process required before beginning these eligibility and enrollment activities.
- 2. If consumers would like to perform account maintenance activities (e.g., reset password), proceed to <u>SOP-12 Update Account Profile</u>.
- 3. For more help answering consumers' specific questions, see the <u>Frequently Asked Questions related to</u> <u>SOP-3 Create an Account</u>.



SOP-4. Verify Identity

SOP-4. Verify Identity

Introduction Α.

As an assister, you can help consumers verify their identities so that they are able to complete eligibility and enrollment activities such as submitting a Marketplace application or selecting a QHP. This SOP provides guidance on how to assist consumers with identity verification.

Procedures Β.

1. Verify Identity

Step I. If consumers would like to complete an application on the Marketplace, they will log in and select "Start a new application or update an existing one." Consumers will then select their state and click "Start my application." To start the application, consumers will need to complete their identity verification, shown in Exhibit 8. The identitiy verification will be auto-populated with information the consumers entered when they first created their Marketplace account.

Exhibit 8—Verify Your Identity Message Screenshot

Verify your identity & contact information

Tell us about yourself. Use your complete name as it appears on your legal documents (like your driver's license or Social Security card). Why do I need to verify my identity? 📀

Step 2. Assist consumers with entering the following additional information, as shown in Exhibit 9:

- a. First name (no nicknames)
- b. Middle name
- c. Last name
- d. Phone number
- Date of birth (required to process an eligibility application) e.
- Address (required to process an eligibility application) f.
 - i. Street
 - ii. Apartment number (if applicable)
 - iii. City
 - iv. State
 - v. ZIP code
- Social Security Number (SSN) g.





SOP-4. Verify Identity

Note: Although providing a SSN for the application filer can help expedite the identity proofing process, not all application filers are required to provide one to the Marketplace. Examples of individuals who are not required to provide a SSN include:

- a. Application filers who are not applying for coverage for themselves
- b. All individuals who do not have an SSN

As a reminder, later in the application process it will be important and strongly encouraged for nonapplicants listed on the application to include a SSN if they have one, as this can help the Marketplace match applicants' information with trusted data sources to verify identity and avoid having to provide more information later.

Exhibit 9—Marketplace Verify Your Identity and Contact Information Screenshot

HealthCare.gov	Individuals & Families	Small Businesses	John 💄 🛹 Log out
Apply Get Results Get G	Coverage		

Verify your identity & contact information

Tell us about yourself. Use your complete nam	e as It appears	on your legal documents (like	your driver's lice	nse or Social Security card). Wh	y do I need to verify my identity	? 😮
John		Middle	Carson			Suffix 👻
Phone number		Date of birth				
XXX-XXX-XXXX	Home 🝷	MM/DD/YYYY				
Street address					Apt./Ste. #	
City		Alabama	•	ZIP code		
Social Security Number (SSN) 🛛						
XXX-XX-XXXX						
		CON	TINUE			

Note: Consumers will be asked questions about their identity based on information in their consumer report maintained by Experian, a consumer reporting agency. Some of these questions may be based on a consumer's personal and financial history, so it may be helpful to prepare consumers to expect questions about their loans and other finances. Consumers must select the correct answer from a list of possible choices. Their answers will be compared with the information in their consumer report. Once consumers answer enough questions correctly, they will be able to proceed with their Marketplace application.



SOP-4. Verify Identity

Step 3. Assist consumers with answering identity questions. Examples of the question and answer formats are shown in Exhibit 10. Once consumers click "Continue" on the Verify Your Identity and Contact Information page, a set of four questions will display. Consumers must answer these questions to verify their identity and help protect their PII.

Note: Because identity proofing is based, in part, on a consumer's financial history, consumers may see an "inquiry" on their credit report. This will not affect their credit score.

Exhibit 10—Marketpl	ace Verify Your Identity Questions Screenshot
Answer these questions so we ca	n verify your identity
Based on your information, we've put togeth	er a few questions that only you'll be able to answer. Why do I need to verify my identity?
You may have opened a mortgage loar your mortgage payments. If you do no	In or around June 2015. Please select the lender to whom you currently make t have a mortgage, select 'NONE OF THE ABOVE/DOES NOT APPLY.
GMAC MORTGAGE	
CITICORP MORT	
EQUICREDIT	
INDEPENDENCE ONE	
NONE OF THE ABOVE/DOES NOT APPLY	
You may have opened an auto loan in have such an auto loan, select 'NONE O	or around january 2016. Please select the lender for this account. If you do not IF THE ABOVE/DOES NOT APPLY.
AMSOUTH BK	
TD AUTO FINANCE	
BANK AMERICA	
SOVEREIGN BANK	
NONE OF THE ABOVE/DOES NOT APPLY	
Which of the following businesses have select 'NONE OF THE ABOVE'.	e you been associated with? If there is not a matched business name, please
HONEYWELL	
FASTMAN KODAK	
LIFE HEALTH BENEFITS AGENCY	
NONE OF THE ABOVE/DOES NOT APPLY	
You currently or previously resided on choices.	one of the following streets. Please select the street name from the following
RUBLE	
COUNTY LINE	
HERITAGE	
PINESTEAD	
NONE OF THE ABOVE/DOES NOT APPLY	
	VERIFY MY IDENTITY

Once consumers are finished answering the questions, they need to click the "Verify My Identity" Step 4. button. If they pass the identity proofing process, they will be taken to the "Your Identity has been Verified" page. You can see an example of what this page looks like in Exhibit 11.

The Assister's SOP Manual



SOP-4. Verify Identity

Exhibit 11—Your Identity Has Been Verified Screenshot

lealthCare .gov	Individuals & Families	Small Businesses	John 💄 🛛 🖈 Log o
Apply Get Results Get	Coverage		
Your identity has been You can now fill out your application	l verified on for health coverage through the Marl	ketplace.	
Important Marketplac	e emails		
If the Marketplace has your email a	address, we'll automatically send you im	portant information, updates, and re	eminders about Marketplace
enrollment. You can opt out of the	se communications at any time. To do t	his, click on the "unsubscribe" link in	the footer of any Marketplace email.
Privacy & the use of yo	ur information		aa allaibilib. far baaltb sawaraa ar bala
paying for coverage. We'll check yo	e as required by law. Your answers on the information in ou	his form will only be used to determine r databases and the databases of oth	he eligibility for health coverage or help her federal agencies. If the information
doesn't match, we may ask you to coverage won't be asked questions	send us proof. We won't ask any questi s about citizenship or immigration statu	ons about your medical history. Hous s.	sehold members who don't want
As part of the application process,	we may need to retrieve your informati	on from the Internal Revenue Service	e (IRS), Social Security, the Department
of Homeland Security (DHS), and/o coverage if you want it and to give	r a consumer reporting agency. We nee you the best service possible. We may a	ed this information to check your elig also check your information at a later	ibility for coverage and help paying for time to make sure your information is
up to date. We'll notify you if we fir	nd something has changed.		
Learn more about your data, or vie	w the <u>Privacy Act Statement</u> .		
I agree to have my information	used and retrieved from data sources	for this application. I have consent fo	or all people I'll list on the application for
their information to be retrieve	ed and used from data sources.		
I understand that I'm required for a Special Enrollment Period	to provide true answers and that I may l, if I qualify. If I don't, I may face penalti	be asked to provide additional inform es, including the risk of losing my elig	mation, including proof of my eligibility gibility for coverage.
	ΤΑΚΕ ΜΕ ΤΟ ΤΙ	HE APPLICATION	
Note: The Privacy	& Use of Your Information	page lets consumers know	w how the information they

Integrated systems will check applicants' eligibility by retrieving information from other federal agencies, including the Social Security Administration (SSA) and the Department of Homeland Security (DHS). If consumers applied for help paying for coverage through insurance affordability programs,



SOP-4. Verify Identity

these integrated systems will also retrieve information from additional agencies, including the Internal Revenue Service (IRS), state Medicaid and CHIP agencies, and other trusted data sources.

- **Step 5.** Consumers need to check the boxes to indicate they agree to have their information used and retrieved from the trusted data sources to verify the information provided on their applications. Then, they need to click the "Take Me to the Application" button.
- **Step 6.** If online identity verification is successful, proceed to <u>SOP-5 Apply for Health Coverage</u> to assist consumers with beginning the application process. If online identity verification is unsuccessful, continue with Step 7.
- **Step 7.** Consumers will receive a code, or reference number, on the response screen from their online application indicating that their identity verification attempt was unsuccessful. Refer consumers to the Experian Help Desk for assistance with identity proofing. The consumer will need to write down the code on the screen and give it to Experian. If a consumer only makes one attempt to identity proof, he or she may not receive the code or reference number until the consumer makes a second attempt. If the reference number was generated, but the consumer did not write it down and cannot remember it when calling the Experian Help Desk, he or she can log back into the account and pull up the code or reference number again. Inform consumers that they must verify their identity before they can submit an application online and receive a final eligibility determination. Direct a consumer to contact the Experian Help Desk, as shown in Exhibit 12, if the consumer's identity was not verified.



SOP-4. Verify Identity

Exhibit 12—Consumer Directed to Contact Experian to Verify Identity Screenshot HealthCare.gov **Individuals & Families Small Businesses** John 💄 🖈 Logout Español 👤 John Carson ? HELP VERIFY YOUR IDENTITY Contact information Your identity wasn't verified. To verify your identity, call the Experian help desk at (866) 578-5409 and give them your code below Your code: T7N-1E8-K5N-1A9-D2G Be sure to write down this code now, because you won't be able to see it again if you leave this page. If your identity is verified over the phone, you may be asked about changes on the call (like using your legal name instead of a nickname). You'll need to make the same changes to your application, and you may need to answer the challenge questions again. Select "Resubmit" to continue. If your identity isn't verified over the phone, select "Resubmit" to continue. Then, select "Resubmit information." You'll then be asked to upload documents to help verify your identity. RESUBMIT If you aren't able to call now, return to My Profile.

a. If identity verification with Experian over the phone is successful (see Exhibit 13), the consumer can click the "Resubmit" button, then submit updated contact information, and click "Continue." Proceed to <u>SOP-5 Apply for Health Coverage</u> to help consumers begin the application process.



SOP-4. Verify Identity

Exhibit 13—Consumer Resubmis	ssion Contact Information	for Verification Screenshot
------------------------------	---------------------------	-----------------------------

HealthCare.gov	Individuals & I	Families	Small Businesses			John 💄	A Logout Español
<	🔔 John Carson						HELP
2	VERIFY YOUR IDENTITY Contact information Identity questions	Contact You may nee with Experiar button. Tell us ab as it appe	t information d to change information n. Make any necessary ch pout yourself. Us ears on legal doo	on this page b langes then cli se your co cuments	ased on your phone call ck the "Continue" omplete name, (like your Social		
		Security of All fields are requi characters, like ac First name	card). ired unless they're marked opt cents, tildes, etc.	ional. Don't enter Middle option	r any letters with special		
		John					
		Last name		Suffix optiona	ə/		
		Carson		Select	T.		
		Date o <mark>f bi</mark> rth		Social Secur	ity number optional		
		MM/DD/YYYY Email address PCIA-3@yopma	il.com	XXX-XX-XXXX			
		Street address	ē.		Apt./Ste #. optional		
		824 Deborah 9	St				
		City	State		ZIP code		
		Jackson	Mississippi	•	39208-		
		Phone number 6015551234	Ext. optional		Phone type (Select one.) optional Select		

b. If identity verification over the phone is unsuccessful, the consumers will also need to click the "Resubmit" button and then enter in their his or her contact information again, (see Exhibit 14).





SOP-4. Verify Identity

Exhibit 14—Consumer Resubmission of Contact Information does not Verify Identity Screenshot

HealthCare.gov	Individuals & Families Small B	Businesses		Jol	nn 💄 -	Logout Español
< 💄 John Car	son					😢 HELP
VERIFY YOUR Contact Infon 2 Identity quest	IDENTITY nation ions Important: Yo Review your in Tell us about you as it appears on Security card).	ormatio ur attempt to ve formation, and urself. Use legal doct	n rrify your identii ry again. e your con iments (li hal. Don't enter any	ty was unsuccessful. nplete name, ke your Social		
	First name		Middle optional			
	John					
	Last name		Suffix optional			
	Carson		Select	¥		
	Date of birth		Social Security (number optional		
		简				
	MM/DD/YYYY Email address PCIA-3@yopmail.com		000XX-300XX Δ.	nt /Ste # antional		
	824 Deborah St			persee #, optionar		
	City	State		Picode		
	Jackson	Mississippi	,	19208-		
		<u></u>	x	000X-XXXXX		
	Phone number	Ext. optional	PI	none type (Select one.)		
	6015551234		op			

- c. If the identity proofing process is unsuccessful after two additional attempts, HealthCare.gov will display a screen for consumers to upload documents for manual verification of their identity.
- d. Please proceed to the Submit Supporting Documentation section in this manual to learn more about submitting additional information to the Marketplace, Exhibit 15. While the vast majority of consumers who create an account on HealthCare.gov successfully complete identity proofing online, there is a small percentage who need to submit documents to complete identity proofing. Consumers who are unable to complete identity proofing on HealthCare.gov can contact the Experian Call Center to complete the process, but if consumer responses indicate the Experian Call Center will not be able to help, new enhancements in the FFM software will route the consumer around the call center and directly to the document upload step.



SOP-4. Verify Identity

Exhibit 15—Consumer Directed to Upload Documents Manually to Verify Identity Screenshot

HealthCare.gov	Individuals & Families	Small Businesses	John 💄 🖈 Logout Español
۲.	🔔 John Carson		🕐 HELP
1 2	VERIFY YOUR IDENTITY Contact information Identity questions You able veri Onc you If yo	Dur identity wasn't verified. need to submit documents to prove your identity. You won't be to submit your application for health coverage until your identity is fied. e you upload your documents, they'll be reviewed. The results of identity verification will be emailed to you at PCIA-2@yopmail.com. IPLOAD DOCUMENTS u aren't able to upload your documents now, <u>return to My Profile</u> .	

e. If for some reason the "Upload" button does not appear or is not working (see Exhibit 16), the consumer should mail the documentation and contact the Marketplace Call Center to report the issue. If consumers were unable to verify their identity over the phone, inform them they must upload supporting documentation to HealthCare.gov or mail copies of supporting documentation to complete the identity verification process.⁹ Consumers will be asked to submit a document with a picture ID from a list of documents that can be found in the HealthCare.gov "Identity" section, and are also listed below.

Consumers can submit one of the following:

- Driver's license issued by a state or territory; i.
- ii. School identification card;
- iii. Voter registration card;
- iv. U.S. military card or draft record;
- v. Any identification card issued by the federal, state, or local government;
- vi. U.S. passport or U.S. passport card;
- vii. Certificate of Naturalization (Form N-550 or N-570) or Certificate of Citizenship (Form N-560 or N-561);

⁹ Consumers should mail all copies (not originals) of supporting documentation to: Health Insurance Marketplace, 465 Industrial Blvd., London, KY 40750-0001. Consumers should be sure to follow the steps outlined in the Submitting Supporting Documentation section of SOP-5. Apply for Health Coverage.

This information is intended only for the use of entities and individuals that are certified to serve as Navigators, certified application counselors, or non-Navigator assistance personnel in a Federally-facilitated Marketplace. The terms "Federally-facilitated Marketplace" and "FFM," as used in this document, include FFMs where the state performs plan management functions and State Partnership Marketplaces. Some information contained in this manual may also be of interest to individuals helping consumers in State-based Marketplaces and Federally-supported State-based Marketplaces. 32




SOP-4. Verify Identity

- viii. Permanent Resident Card or Alien Registration Receipt Card (Form I-551);
- ix. Employment Authorization Document that contains a photograph (Form I-766);
- x. Military dependent identification card;
- xi. American Indian Tribal document;
- xii. U.S. Coast Guard Merchant Mariner card; or
- xiii. Foreign passport, or identification card issued by a foreign embassy or consulate that contains a photograph.

If consumers cannot provide one document with a picture ID from the list above, then they must submit two documents from the list below:

- Birth certificate; i.
- ii. Social Security card;
- iii. Marriage certificate;
- iv. Divorce decree;
- v. Employer identification card;
- vi. High school or college diploma; or
- vii. Property deed or title.

Exhibit 16—Uploading Documents Screenshot

HealthCare.gov	Individuals & Families Small Businesses	and L . Alama Land
0	VERIFY YOUR IDENTITY VERIFY YOUR IDENTITY YOUR YOUR IDENTITY YOUR YOUR YOUR YOUR YOUR YOUR YOUR	
	Submit documents that prove your identity.	
	U.S. persport or U.S. persport and More information about submitting documents	
	Q SELECT FILE TO UPLOAD	



SOP-4. Verify Identity



Consumers who have manually uploaded supporting documents required for identity proofing will be notified by the Marketplace via email or U.S. Postal Service about the results of their identity verification, Exhibit 17.

Note: If a consumer is unable to successfully verify his or her identity, this does not prevent the consumer from completing an application and enrolling in coverage. Consumers who have gone through the steps above and continue to have issues verifying their identity should call the Marketplace Call Center and complete the online application with a Call Center Representative.

HealthCare.gov	Individuals & Families	Small Businesses	John 💄 🏞 Logout 🔀 Español
<	🔔 John Carson		HELP
2	VERIFY YOUR IDENTITY Contact information Identity questions The do The re 3@yop Re	ur identity is still being rified. ocuments you submitted are still being reviewed. esults of your identity verification will be emailed to you at PCIA- omail.com	

Exhibit 17—Identity Still Being Verified Screenshot

For more information about submitting documents, see the presentation on "Tips for Submitting Supporting Documents to the Health Insurance MarketplaceSM."

C. **Next Steps**

- 1. If consumers would like to begin the eligibility application process, proceed to SOP-5 Apply for Health Coverage.
- 2. For more help answering consumers' specific questions, see the Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) related to SOP-4 Verify Identity.





SOP-5. Apply for Health Coverage

SOP-5. Apply for Health Coverage

Introduction Α.

As an assister, you can help consumers apply for health coverage through the Marketplace. When consumers apply, the Marketplace will consider the eligibility application for a number of things. If consumers apply for help paying for coverage, the Marketplace will check for their eligibility for advance payments of the premium tax credit, cost-sharing reductions (CSRs), and Medicaid or CHIP. Consumers can apply for enrollment in QHPs with or without advance payments of the premium tax credit and cost-sharing reductions. This SOP provides guidance on how to assist consumers in completing their applications.

Things You Should Know

• Encourage consumers to use the electronic application feature to receive their eligibility determinations faster.

Procedures Β.

1. Complete Online Application

To assist consumers with their online eligibility application, complete the following steps:

- Step 2. If consumers do not yet have a HealthCare.gov account, proceed to SOP-3 Create an Account to assist consumers with account creation. Check to be sure consumers have completed their identity verification, explained in SOP-4 Verify Identity. If consumers have a HealthCare.gov account and have verifed their identity, proceed to Step 2.
- **Step 3.** Help consumers go to their account to determine if they have previously started their Marketplace application online.
 - a. If consumers have previously started and saved their Marketplace application, they should proceed to the section of the application where assistance is required. Ensure that consumers complete all required fields accurately.
 - b. If consumers do not have an existing Marketplace application, assist them with starting the application process.
- **Step 4.** Guide consumers through the application process by following the application prompts to gather consumers' responses for each section of the application.
 - a. Refer to Exhibit 18 educate consumers on the information collected in each section of the eligibility application.





SOP-5. Apply for Health Coverage

Exhibit 18—Information Collected on the Eligibility Application (if Applying for Financial Assistance)

Section Information Collected	
 Get Started Marital Status—Applicants must disclose if they are legally married, whether to a spous opposite sex or the same sex. Generally, <u>married couples</u> must file taxes jointly to qualit the premium tax credit and cost-sharing reductions. If a couple receiving advance paym the premium tax credit is expecting to divorce during the calendar year, the couple should update their eligibility application after they are divorced to be reassesse advance payment of the premium tax credit eligibility.¹⁰ Number of Dependents—Applicants must disclose the number of dependents they will of their next tax return. Income Range—Applicants may disclose their household income range, which will help determine whether they are eligible for help paying for coverage. Help Paying for Coverage—Applicants must indicate whether they are interested in help for coverage through the Marketplace. If they are not interested in getting help paying for coverage, they will not be asked any additional income information during the application process. Screening Questions—How applicants respond to these screening questions determines whether they complete the shorter, streamlined application, or go through the more d traditional application. Contact Information Name Home address Phone number Preferred spoken language Preferred method of communication (e.g., electronic or paper notices) Race and ethnicity (optional) Help Applying for Coverage—Applicants should indicate whether they are receiving he an assister or agent/broker by inserting the assister's ID number or the agent/broker's Producer Number (NPN) on the application. 	e of the ent of uld plan ld. The d for laim on paying or n setailed,

¹⁰ According to IRS Notice 2014-23, Married couples who are living apart at the time of filing his or her tax return, unable to file joint return because the taxpayer is a victim of domestic abuse and indicates on his or her income tax return they fall within the two criteria are not mandated to file a joint tax return. https://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-drop/n-14-23.pdf

This information is intended only for the use of entities and individuals that are certified to serve as Navigators, certified application counselors, or non-Navigator assistance personnel in a Federally-facilitated Marketplace. The terms "Federally-facilitated Marketplace" and "FFM," as used in this document, include FFMs where the state performs plan management functions and State Partnership Marketplaces. Some information contained in this manual may also be of interest to individuals helping consumers in State-based Marketplaces and Federally-supported State-based Marketplaces. 36



The Assister's SOP Manual



SOP-5. Apply for Health Coverage

Section	Information Collected
Family & Household Information	 Many of the following questions serve to verify information the applicant may have provided earlier in the process, including: Sex Social Security Number (SSN) Citizenship/Immigration status Plans to file taxes for 2017 Marital status Dependents Race/Ethnicity (optional) Additional Questions—The series of additional questions helps applicants determine whether they may have special circumstances that may qualify them for Medicaid. Specifically, they can indicate whether they have a physical disability or mental health condition that limits their ability to function on a daily basis; and whether they need help with daily activities or live in a medical facility or nursing home. The system also asks whether they needed help paying medical bills in the last three months.
Income Information*	 Income—When applying for help paying for coverage, applicants must enter information about the monthly and annual income (e.g., job-based income, Social Security benefits, unemployment, and investments income) for everyone in the tax household, even if other household members are not applying for coverage. Make sure that consumers are very explicit about their expected household income and how it should be reflected in the application. There are multiple ways to enter household income into the application (weekly, monthly, etc.), and you need to ensure that it is entered correctly. Applicants are only required to complete the Income section if they would like to see their options to lower health plan costs via advance payment of the premium tax credit and cost-sharing reductions or be evaluated for Medicaid or CHIP eligibility.
Additional Information	 Current Health Coverage Information—When applying for help paying for coverage, applicants must enter information on whether they are enrolled in or eligible for certain other coverage, and if so, information about the existing coverage. Special Enrollment Period Eligibility—Additional questions are included to see whether applicants may be eligible for a special enrollment period to enroll in a Marketplace plan outside of open enrollment.

b. Assist consumers with entering the information collected on the "Get started" section of the application, shown in Exhibit 19.





SOP-5. Apply for Health Coverage





c. Assist consumers with entering the information collected on the "Family & household" section of the application, shown in Exhibit 20. (The "Family & household" section of the application must be completed in one sitting).

Exhibit 20—HealthCare.gov Application: Family & Household Screenshot

Continue your application

After you complete this section, you'll answer a few more questions before you compare plans.

Household contact informatio	on		
These fields are optional: middle name, suffix, and pr	referred written and spoken	languages.	22
KAREN	Middle	DRAVENSTATT-MOC	Suffix •
Email address		Phone number	
kdmoc@yopmall.com		517-371-5887	Home •
Preferred written language 🖸	Preferred spoken lar	nguage 🖸	
English	- English	-	
Go paperless! Get your notices by email, inste	ad of paper copies in your n	nailbox,	
Another person is helping me complete my ap	oplication. 🛛		
Home address			

Enter the permanent address where everyone on your application lives. The apt/ste. # field is optional.

d. Assist consumers with entering the information collected on the "Income" section of the application, shown in Exhibit 21.





SOP-5. Apply for Health Coverage

Exhibit 21—HealthCare.gov Application: Income Screenshot

Income information				
People can get income in man	y ways. We need to know about your in	come so we can figure out if you can	get help paying for coverage. <u>Learn more</u> .	
Job Social Security Alimony Scholarship	Self-employment Capital gains Farming or fishing Other income	Unemployment Investment Rental or royalty	Pension Retirement Cash support	
Current income for KAREN DRAVENSTATT-MOC				
Tell us about any income KAREN h	ad in the last month.			
Does KAREN have any deduct	ons for 2017?			

e. Assist consumers with entering the information collected on the "Additional information" section of the application, shown in Exhibit 22.





SOP-5. Apply for Health Coverage

Exhibit 22—HealthCare.gov Application: Additional Information Screenshot

Additional information

We need to know a few more things about you and your family to make sure we match you with the best available programs to lower your health coverage costs.

All fields are required unless they're marked optional.

You may need:

- Information about your current health coverage
- Information about any job-related coverage you and your family may be able to get, even if you're not enrolled in it
- If you are eligible for insurance from an employer, you'll need information about the plans they offer

How can I get my employer's coverage information?

You can use the Employer Coverage Tool to get the information you'll need. Download the form and take it to your employer's human resources office to complete.

NEXT

f. Inform consumers that they can save and resume their eligibility application at a later date during the enrollment period by logging into their account again prior to submission. If consumers would like to submit their eligibility application, proceed to Step 4.

The Assister's SOP Manual



SOP-5. Apply for Health Coverage

- **Step 5.** Consumers should review their application answers, verify accuracy of information provided, electronically sign, and submit the application. Before submitting their applications, consumers can review and edit any information provided on the application using the "Review Application" page.
 - a. Consumers must attest to the accuracy of the information provided in their applications before submission. On the "Sign & submit" page, consumers will read a series of statements and confirm that they have read and understood each statement.
 - b. On the "Sign & submit" page, consumers must input their electronic signatures before clicking the "Submit Application" button to submit their eligibility application. Exhibit 23 provides an example of the screen consumers may see when it is time to electronically sign and submit their applications.

Exhibit 23—Marketplace	Electronic Signature Screenshot
------------------------	---------------------------------

ign & submit	
YES NO I'm signing this application under penalty of perjury, which means I've provided true answers to all of the questions to the my knowledge. I know I may be subject to penalties under federal law if I intentionally provide false information.	e best of
AREN DRAVENSTATT-MOC, type your full name below to sign electronically. Karen Dravenstatt-Moc	

- **Step 6.** If consumers receive an immediate eligibility determination, proceed to SOP-6 Review Eligibility Results to help consumers review their eligibility notice.
 - a. Assist consumers with reviewing their eligibility notice in their online accounts, as shown in SOP-6 Review Eligibility Results. The eligibility notice will notify consumers if they need to submit supporting documentation or perform additional activities to complete the application process.
 - b. If consumers are asked to submit supporting documentation and have the necessary supporting documentation with them, assist them with scanning and uploading the documents. Be sure to return all original documents to consumers and to delete or erase all electronic copies of consumers' documents from all of your electronic devices (e.g., printers, scanners).
 - If consumers do not have the supporting documentation with them, but they need to submit c. supporting documents, explain their options to provide the documentation within the specified timeframe, which include:
 - i. Scanning and uploading documents from home;
 - ii. Returning to the assister office with the supporting documents to scan and upload them with the assister's help; or

This information is intended only for the use of entities and individuals that are certified to serve as Navigators, certified application counselors, or non-Navigator assistance personnel in a Federally-facilitated Marketplace. The terms "Federally-facilitated Marketplace" and "FFM," as used in this document, include FFMs where the state performs plan management functions and State Partnership Marketplaces. Some information contained in this manual may also be of interest to individuals helping consumers in State-based Marketplaces and Federally-supported State-based Marketplaces. 41







SOP-5. Apply for Health Coverage

iii. Mailing copies of the documents to the Marketplace.

Exhibit 24—Eligibility Results Screenshot

Your application was received and has been processed.		
Eligibility result esults based on your application (ID 137156851) submin nrollment. Learn more about your eligibility results	S tted on 10/10/2016. Follow these steps below to complete your	
We've successfully processed your application.		
Step 1: View Your "Coverage Opt This section gives a quick snapshot of your eligibility. information. Continue to Step 2.	tions at a Glance" It's important to view your full "Eligibility Results" for more detailed	
Karen Dravenstatt-Moc 🛛 Eligible	For Marketplace health plans For a premium tax credit of up to \$465 each month for your tax household Temporary eligibility: You need to provide more information within the next 3 months to keep your coverage. View your "Eligibility Results" to learn how to submit this information.	
Step 2 : View Your "Eligibility Results"		
Your "Eligibility Results" contain important information about your Marketplace coverage, including your eligibility for coverage, costs, deadlines, and next steps. If you're eligible for coverage through a Marketplace plan, you'll continue to Step 3 to enroll in coverage after you review your results.		
VIEW ELIGIBILITY RESULTS (PDF)		
Step 3: Continue to enrollment		

Step 7. After consumers review their eligibility results and select "Continue to Enrollment," the Enroll To-Do list will appear as shown in Exhibit 25.

SOP-5. Apply for Health Coverage



Complete Paper Application 2.

To assist consumers with paper applications, complete the following steps:

Step I. Determine if consumers have previously started their applications.

Things You Should Know

- Encourage consumers to transfer their paper application to the electronic format to help ensure enrollment in the most timely and efficient manner.
- a. If consumers have previously started applications, proceed to the section where assistance is required.
- b. If consumers do not have existing paper applications, encourage them to complete electronic applications.
- С. If consumers would still like to complete paper applications, follow the format provided.





3.

MARKETPLACE ASSISTER TOOLKIT The Assister's SOP Manual



SOP-5. Apply for Health Coverage

a. Provide consumers with the address to mail the application. Consumers should mail applications to:

Health Insurance MarketplaceSM Dept. of Health and Human Services 465 Industrial Blvd. London, KY 40750-0001

Submit Supporting Documentation

Things You Should Know

If consumers prefer the paper application, pre-printed eligibility applications may be useful to expedite the assistance process.

The Marketplace reviews consumers' application information and verifies it using a service called the Federal Data Services Hub (the Hub) to verify that the information entered in an application is correct. The Hub connects the Marketplace with federal agencies, such as SSA, IRS, DHS, and certain other trusted data sources. The Marketplace compares consumers' application information against their information through the Hub to verify its accuracy. Inconsistencies, also called data-matching issues (DMIs), may occur when the Hub's trusted data sources do not have a consumer's most up-to-date information. For example, a consumer's information may be flagged as potentially inaccurate if the consumer had a recent name change due to marriage. In this case, the consumer could receive a notice from the Marketplace asking for documents to prove the recent name change.

If consumers' application information cannot be confirmed through the Hub, they will receive a notice from the Marketplace notifying them that they need to verify their eligibility with their application. This is known as a data-matching issue, or inconsistency. The notice will specify the timeframe to provide the documentation. The supporting documentation will help the Marketplace verify the application information and make a final eligibility determination. If consumers appear to be eligible for Medicaid or CHIP and experienced a datamatching issue due to citizenship, immigration status, income or residency, consumers will receive a notice telling them they may be eligible for Medicaid or CHIP and that their case has been sent to the state Medicaid agency. The state Medicaid agency will then contact them if they need further information to complete the application.

To assist consumers with uploading or mailing supporting documentation to resolve inconsistencies preventing them from enrolling in a Marketplace QHP, complete the following steps:

- **Step I.** If consumers receive a notice instructing them to send the Marketplace more information, explain to consumers why they may have received this notice and the process that the Marketplace uses to verify consumers' application information.
- **Step 2.** If consumers wish to scan and upload the requested documentation to HealthCare.gov, complete the following steps. If consumers wish to mail copies of the requested documentation, proceed to Step 3.
 - a. Help consumers review their eligibility notice to determine what type(s) of supporting documentation they need.
 - b. Assist consumers with logging in to their account on HealthCare.gov.
 - c. Instruct consumers to navigate to" My Applications & Coverage," and then select the relevant application.
 - d. Help consumers navigate to the "Applications Details" page where they should click the "Upload Documents" button for each application data matching issue, as shown in Exhibit 26.

This information is intended only for the use of entities and individuals that are certified to serve as Navigators, certified application counselors, or non-Navigator assistance personnel in a Federally-facilitated Marketplace. The terms "Federally-facilitated Marketplace" and "FFM," as used in this document, include FFMs where the state performs plan management functions and State Partnership Marketplaces. Some information contained in this manual may also be of interest to individuals helping consumers in State-based Marketplaces and Federally-supported State-based Marketplaces. 44

The Assister's SOP Manual

SOP-5. Apply for Health Coverage





- e. Assist consumers with selecting the appropriate document type and uploading a scanned image of the document to HealthCare.gov, as shown in Exhibit 27. The document must be a .pdf, .jpeg, .jpg, .gif, .xml, .png, .tiff, or .bmp., and cannot be bigger than 10 MB.
- f. If a red box error message appears, make sure the consumer uploaded the right type of document (e.g., PDF not Excel file).



SOP-5. Apply for Health Coverage



Exhibit 27—Document Type Screenshot

Upload documents		
You need to send the Marketplace more information to either prove you're eligible for a Special Enrollment Period or resolve a data matching issue. You can upload documents here.		
Use "Expand" and "Collapse" for each item to see a list of documents and upload files.		
Verify Karen's citizenship or immigration status <u>Collapse -</u>		
 Karen - You need to send the Marketplace proof that you are a citizen. Send a copy of a document proving you are a citizen. Examples of documents proving citizenship can include: U.S. passport U.S. public birth record Certification of Report of Birth Consular Report of Birth Abroad Certification of Birth Abroad U.S. Citizen Identification Card American Indian Card (I-872) Certificate of Naturalization Certificate of Citizenship 		
Document type: Select •		
SELECT FILE TO UPLOAD		

Step 3. If consumers wish to mail copies of the requested documentation, complete the following steps:

- a. Help consumers review their eligibility notice to determine what type(s) of supporting documentation is needed. Consumers may need to submit more than one document for each data matching issue.
- b. Assist consumers with making copies of all supporting documentation. Consumers should retain originals of any documents sent to the Marketplace.





SOP-5. Apply for Health Coverage

c. Advise consumers to include the barcode page from their eligibility notice (shown in Exhibit 28) in the envelope when they mail their supporting documentation to the Marketplace. If consumers do not have the page with the barcode, write the application ID number of the consumer who has the data matching issue, as well as the consumer's date of birth and SSN (if applicable) on the copies of supporting documents.

Exhibit 28—Barcode Page from Eligibility Notice Screenshot

Need to send documentation? If your **Eligibility Results** say that you need to send more information, please also include a copy of this bar code page. This page helps the Marketplace make sure your documents can be easily associated with your application. For more information about choosing documents and uploading or mailing them to the Marketplace, see "8. How to send more information" in "Understanding Your Eligibility Results" included with this notice.



PA,137156851

d. Instruct consumers to mail copies of their supporting documentation to:

Health Insurance MarketplaceSM Attn: Coverage Processing 465 Industrial Blvd. London, KY 40750-0001





SOP-5. Apply for Health Coverage

C. Next Steps

- 1. If consumers are not ready to submit their eligibility application, explain that they may save their online application to their account and resume the application at a later point in time.
- If consumers receive an immediate eligibility determination and are eligible to enroll in QHPs through the Marketplace, proceed to <u>SOP-6 Review Eligibility Results</u> and <u>SOP-8 Compare, Save, & Select</u> <u>Health Plans</u>. If consumers need more information about a Special Enrollment Period (SEP), proceed to <u>SOP-13 Report Life Changes</u>.
- 3. For more help answering consumers' specific questions, see Appendix A for <u>Frequently Asked</u> <u>Questions (FAQs) related to SOP-5 Apply for Health Coverage</u>.



SOP-6. Review Eligibility Results

SOP-6. Review Eligibility Results

Introduction Α.

As an assister, you can help consumers review their Marketplace eligibility determinations. This SOP provides guidance on how to assist consumers in understanding their eligibility determinations.

Procedures Β.

1. Review Eligibility Results

To assist consumers with reviewing eligibility determinations, complete the following steps:

- Step 2. Confirm with consumers that they have received an eligibility notice.
- **Step 3.** Review the notices with consumers.
- **Step 4.** Explain the eligibility results to consumers. Use Exhibit 29 to help consumers navigate the different sections of an eligibility notice.

Exhibit 29—Eligibility Results

Section of Eligibility Notice	Information Displayed
Eligibility Results	List of whether applicant(s) are eligible for purchasing coverage through the Marketplace (including, if applicable, a catastrophic plan), advance payments of the premium tax credit/cost-sharing reductions, a special enrollment period, and are or may be eligible for Medicaid/CHIP. Explain the eligibility results, including information about each program, to the individual. This information will be unique for each household applicant.
Why don't I qualify for other programs?	Information about why the applicant(s) did not qualify for other programs (e.g. Medicaid). This information will not be the same for all consumers. Explain to consumers their bases of ineligibility and direct them to their appeal rights in the following sections.
What should I do next?	Instructions and key deadlines for submitting any necessary supporting documentation. This information will be unique for each household applicant.
When will coverage begin?	Information about coverage effective dates. This information will be unique for each household applicant. If determined eligible for Medicaid or CHIP, the FFM notices may not provide information on when coverage will begin. In this case, explain to the individual that the Medicaid/CHIP agency will be sending a separate notice detailing the effective date for the coverage.



The Assister's SOP Manual

SOP-6. Review Eligibility Results



Section of Eligibility Notice	Information Displayed
What if information from my application changes during the year?	Information about the process and effect of reporting changes. Explain to those consumers that reporting changes is important as it will affect their coverage
What should I do if I think my eligibility results are wrong?	Instructions and important information to know about requesting an appeal of an eligibility determination. This information will be the same for all consumers.
More about getting Medicaid or CHIP	Information about applying for Medicaid/CHIP if the Marketplace application found the applicant(s) ineligible for Medicaid/CHIP based on their income, but the applicant(s) thinks they have a family income close to the Medicaid income limit, or that they may qualify for other reasons. This information will be the same for all consumers that did not qualify for Medicaid/CHIP.
	Information about how applicant(s) may be eligible for Medicaid coverage for special health care needs in addition to their other coverage. This information will be the same for all consumers.
For more help	Contact information for the Marketplace and, if applicable, state Medicaid/CHIP agencies. This information will be the same for all consumers.
Additional information	Information on tax credits, lowering out-of-pocket costs, Medicaid, and getting help in a language other than English. This information will be the same for all consumers.
Bar code page	Bar code should be included with copies of documentation if a consumer decides to mail supporting documents to the FFM. This bar code page will not be needed if the consumer (1) does not need to submit supporting documentation, or (2) decides to upload supporting documentation through HealthCare.gov.

Eligibility notices from the Marketplace will provide appeals information in case consumers believe their eligibility results are wrong. Consumers are able to request an appeal through the Marketplace Appeals Center within 90 days of receiving their eligibility results. The appeals information can be found on the eligibility notice. See Exhibit 30.

The Assister's SOP Manual





Exhibit 30—Appeals Information

Important Information About Appeals	Information on What and How a Consumer Can Appeal
Important information about appeals	Information about when, where, and how to appeal an eligibility decision
More information about the premium tax credit	Information about what premium tax credits are and how they work
More information about lower out-of- pocket costs	Information about cost-sharing, cost-sharing reductions, and how they work
More information about Medicaid and CHIP	Information about Medicaid and CHIP benefits
Getting help with the cost of special health care needs	Information about how applicant(s) may be eligible for Medicaid coverage for special health care needs in addition to their other coverage. This information will be the same for all consumers.
Coverage for immigrant families	Information on coverage options for immigrant families
Reporting changes	Information about types of changes consumers must report and where they can report the change
How to send more information	Information about how consumers can submit additional documents to support an appeal of their eligibility determination

Applicants who have a data-matching issue in their information will have a note in their eligibility notice and may receive an additional notice that: (1) additional supporting documentation is necessary, (2) that the indicated applicant(s) has to submit documentation to verify their eligibility, or (3) that this eligibility notice is not a final eligibility determination. You should help these applicant(s) with their data matching issue by helping them complete the steps listed on the eligibility notice, including providing additional supporting documentation. Until the data matching issue is resolved, this eligibility notice is not final and cannot be appealed. Consumers may enroll in coverage while they are resolving the data matching issue, but they typically have a period of time, between 90 and 95 days, to submit documentation before their coverage or help paying for coverage ends.

Proceed with Sections 1.1 through 1.4 to explain eligibility results.

1.1 Options to Lower Health Plan Costs

If consumers are eligible for advance payments of the premium tax credit and/or cost-sharing reductions, discuss how these two programs work. Refer to SOP-7 Lower Costs of Coverage for more information on these financial assistance options.

1.2 Medicaid/CHIP Eligibility

Depending on the state in which consumers reside, the Marketplace may either determine consumers' eligibility for Medicaid or CHIP, or make an initial assessment of eligibility for those programs and have the state make the final determination. In a state in which the Marketplace determines Medicaid/CHIP eligibility, the Marketplace's determination is considered final. In a state in which the Marketplace's finding regarding Medicaid/CHIP eligibility is an assessment, the Marketplace simply makes an initial assessment, but the state Medicaid or CHIP agency will make the final determination if the individual is eligible for Medicaid or CHIP. When the Marketplace assesses (as opposed to determines) consumers as eligible for Medicaid or CHIP, consumers' eligibility notices will indicate that the consumer "may be eligible" for Medicaid or CHIP and that the state agency will make the final determination on their eligibility. The eligibility results do not indicate whether the consumer lives in an



SOP-6. Review Eligibility Results

assessment state or a determination state. A list of assessment and determination states is available at Medicaid and CHIP Marketplace Interactions.

On a Marketplace application, any applicant who meets their state's income, residency, immigration, and other requirements will be transferred to the state Medicaid or CHIP agency. In any state, if it appears a consumer may be eligible for Medicaid on another basis or if the consumer requests a full Medicaid eligibility determination, the Marketplace will transfer the consumer's application to the state agency for a final determination.

Transferring consumer information to the state Medicaid and CHIP Agency

There are several reasons the Marketplace may transfer a consumer's information to the state Medicaid or CHIP agency. For example, on a Marketplace application, any applicant who meets their state's income, residency, immigration status, and other requirements for Medicaid or CHIP will have their account and information transferred to the state Medicaid or CHIP agency. Also, if it appears a consumer may be eligible for Medicaid on another basis (such as through special health care needs or a disability), the Marketplace will transfer the consumer's application to the state agency for a determination on those basis. Consumers who live in a state where the Marketplace provides an eligibility determination can also request to send their application to the state agency; if they do so, the Marketplace will transfer their information to the state agency. In this scenario, the Marketplace may have told the consumer that they were not eligible for Medicaid and CHIP in the Eligibility Determination Notice. However, consumers can request a full determination from their state agency.

Assessed as Potentially Eligible: If the consumer resides in a state in which the Marketplace provides an initial eligibility assessment for Medicaid or CHIP, and the Marketplace assesses a consumer potentially eligible for Medicaid or CHIP, the consumer's application is transferred to the state Medicaid or CHIP agency for a final eligibility determination. Individuals are not eligible for premium tax credits and cost sharing reductions when they are assessed as potentially eligible for Medicaid/CHIP and transferred to the state Medicaid/CHIP agency, unless the state determines the consumer ineligible for Medicaid/CHIP. If this happens, the state Medicaid agency will transfer the account back to the Marketplace and the consumer may then be eligible for premium tax credits and cost sharing reductions. It is important to remember that after the Marketplace's initial assessment, the consumer's determination of eligibility for coverage is not yet done. The state agency will provide a final decision on eligibility for Medicaid/CHIP in assessment states.

Determined Eligible: If the consumer resides in a state in which the Marketplace provides a final eligibility • determination for Medicaid or CHIP and the Marketplace determines that the consumer is eligible, the consumer's determination of eligibility for Medicaid/CHIP is complete. The consumer's application will be transferred to the state Medicaid or CHIP agency and the consumer will be enrolled in Medicaid or CHIP

coverage. Consumers' state Medicaid/CHIP agency will notify them about next steps, including benefit and potential cost-sharing information. If an applicant appears to be eligible for Medicaid or CHIP but the Marketplace is unable to verify all information necessary to determine eligibility, the Marketplace transfers the consumer's application to the state Medicaid or CHIP agency to collect additional information and complete the final determination.

Things You Should Know

• Medicaid/CHIP eligibility is determined on an individual basis and might be available to children, but not their parents.

Exhibit 31 highlights the differences between an assessment and a determination of eligibility.





SOP-6. Review Eligibility Results

Review whether consumers are assessed potentially eligible or determined to be eligible for Medicaid or CHIP.

Exhibit 31—Eligibility Assessment vs. Determination

Consumers Who are Assessed by the Marketplace as Potentially Eligible for Medicaid/CHIP	Consumers Who are Determined by the Marketplace to be Eligible for Medicaid/CHIP
 If the Marketplace assesses a consumer as potentially eligible for Medicaid/CHIP, it will transfer the account to the state Medicaid/CHIP agency for a final determination The state Medicaid or CHIP agency will make a final Medicaid/CHIP eligibility determination. Consumers' state Medicaid/CHIP agency may follow up with them to collect additional information. Consumers' state Medicaid/CHIP agency will notify them about the results of the final determination and next steps. If the state Medicaid or CHIP agency determines the consumer not eligible, the consumer's account will be transferred back to the Marketplace for a determination of APTC/CSR eligibility. In most states, Medicaid coverage will be effective back to the date of application; Medicaid coverage may be effective up to three months prior to the month of application in certain states if the consumer would have been eligible during that time and has unpaid bills for Medicaid-covered services. Some states have different start dates for different types of Medicaid coverage and for CHIP. Check with your state Medicaid or CHIP agency to understand what the start dates are for 	 If the Marketplace determines a consumer as eligible for Medicaid/CHIP, it will transfer the account to the Medicaid/CHIP agency for enrollment. Consumers are enrolled directly in Medicaid or CHIP coverage in most cases. Consumers' state Medicaid/CHIP agency will notify them about next steps, including benefit and potential cost-sharing information. In most states, Medicaid coverage will be effective back to the date of application; Medicaid coverage may be effective up to three months prior to the month of application in certain states if the consumer would have been eligible during that time. States have different start dates for CHIP. The state will notify the consumer about when CHIP coverage will begin.

If consumers who are determined eligible for Medicaid or CHIP indicate that they would rather enroll in a QHP, explain that they may do so; however, they will not be eligible for advance payments of the premium tax credit and/or cost-sharing reductions for enrollment in a QHP through the Marketplace. An individual cannot be enrolled in Medicaid/CHIP and remain eligible to received advance payments of the premium tax credit for Marketplace coverage.¹¹Ensure that these consumers are aware of the cost associated with maintaining coverage through the Marketplace, when a consumer is eligible for Medicaid or CHIP. Use the following

different types of Medicaid and for CHIP.

¹¹ See <u>https://marketplace.cms.gov/applications-and-forms/pdm-round-2-notice.pdf</u>.

This information is intended only for the use of entities and individuals that are certified to serve as Navigators, certified application counselors, or non-Navigator assistance personnel in a Federally-facilitated Marketplace. The terms "Federally-facilitated Marketplace" and "FFM," as used in this document, include FFMs where the state performs plan management functions and State Partnership Marketplaces. Some information contained in this manual may also be of interest to individuals helping consumers in State-based Marketplaces and Federally-supported State-based Marketplaces. 53



The Assister's SOP Manual



SOP-6. Review Eligibility Results

guidance when assisting consumers eligible for Medicaid or CHIP who want to enroll in a QHP through the Marketplace and pay the full cost:

- Scenario 1: If everyone on an application is determined eligible for Medicaid/CHIP, they all want to enroll in a QHP through the Marketplace at full cost, and it is still during Open Enrollment or one or more people qualify for a SEP, help the individual(s) start a new application and indicate they do not want help paying for health coverage. Then, help them proceed through the rest of the application.
- Scenario 2: If everyone on an application is determined eligible for Medicaid/CHIP and one or more applicants (but not all applicants) want(s) to enroll in a QHP through the Marketplace at full cost, assist the application filer with removing that applicant(s) from the Medicaid/CHIP application. They will need to be added as a non-applicant(s) if they are part of the tax household. The application filer should submit the application and continue through the Enroll To Do List. If it is still during Open Enrollment or the applicant(s) interested in QHP coverage qualifies for a SEP, they will need to create a separate application for QHP coverage without financial assistance to enroll in a QHP through the Marketplace.

1.3 Ineligibility

The Marketplace may find consumers ineligible to purchase coverage through the Marketplace or for programs to lower costs of health coverage. For example, consumers may be determined ineligible for advance payments of the premium tax credit or cost-sharing reductions if they do not meet the household income criteria for these programs. Consumers may be able to get low-cost health care at a community health center. For more information, visit http://findahealthcenter.hrsa.gov.

1.4 Eligible for Coverage through the Marketplace without Financial Assistance

Consumers who are ineligible for advance payments of the premium tax credit, cost-sharing reductions, or Medicaid or CHIP may still enroll in QHPs through the Marketplace if they are gualified. These consumers will receive an eligibility determination stating the reason they are not eligible and/or the reason they were denied eligibility for advance payments of the premium tax credit.

Next Steps C.

- 1. If an applicant is found ineligible and thinks this is due to an error, discuss the following options:
 - Making an account update; see SOP-12 Update Account Profile.
 - Filing an eligibility appeal; see SOP-10 Request an Eligibility Appeal. •
 - Requesting to continue their application with the state Medicaid and CHIP agency if the Marketplace provided an assessment of eligibility.
- 2. If an applicant is found eligible for advance payments of the premium tax credit or cost-sharing reductions, proceed to SOP-7 Lower Costs of Coverage.





SOP-6. Review Eligibility Results

- 3. If an applicant is found eligible to purchase coverage through the Marketplace, proceed to <u>SOP-8</u> <u>Compare, Save, & Select Health Plans</u>.
- 4. For more help answering consumers' specific questions, see Appendix A for <u>Frequently Asked</u> <u>Questions (FAQs) related to SOP-6 Review Eligibility Determination</u>.





SOP-7. Lower Costs of Coverage

SOP-7. Lower Costs of Coverage

Introduction Α.

When consumers who apply for help lowering the costs of coverage receive their eligibility results, the Marketplace will inform them of their eligibility for options to lower their health plan costs through advance payments of the premium tax credit and/or cost-sharing reductions. If eligible, consumers can choose whether to apply advance payments of the premium tax credit to the cost of their health plans. When comparing plans, consumers select the amount of advance payments of the premium tax credit for which they are eligible that they want paid on their behalf to their chosen insurance provider. The amount of advance payments of the premium tax credit for which a consumer is eligible is based on the consumer's projected household income for the coming year and other factors. Consumers can also select health plans that apply cost-sharing reductions if they are eligible.

While assisting consumers with selecting the amount of advance payments of the premium tax credit or viewing a plan's cost-sharing reductions, remind consumers that they must accurately represent their household income information. Consumers generally are required to report all forms of household income, although Supplemental Security Income (SSI) and certain other items are not included in household income.¹² This SOP provides guidance on how to assist consumers with understanding advance payments of the premium tax credit and costsharing reductions.

Procedures Β.

1. Select Advance Payments of the Premium Tax Credit

If consumers are eligible for advance payments of the premium tax credit, they have the option of using all, some, or none of the amount for which they are eligible to reduce their monthly premium cost. Before helping them make changes to their Marketplace accounts, make sure that consumers understand advance payments of premium tax credit. APTC is reconciled on tax returns, so using too much or too little of their credit can result in balances owed or refunds at tax time. Exhibit 32 provides information to help answer questions about advance payments of the premium tax credit available through the Marketplace.

¹² Don't include child support payments, SSI, gifts, veteran's disability payments, worker's compensation, or proceeds from loans, such as student loans.

This information is intended only for the use of entities and individuals that are certified to serve as Navigators, certified application counselors, or non-Navigator assistance personnel in a Federally-facilitated Marketplace. The terms "Federally-facilitated Marketplace" and "FFM," as used in this document, include FFMs where the state performs plan management functions and State Partnership Marketplaces. Some information contained in this manual may also be of interest to individuals helping consumers in State-based Marketplaces and Federally-supported State-based Marketplaces. 56



Exhibit 32—Common Premium Tax Credit Questions and Answers

Question	Answer
What is the premium tax credit?	 A tax credit that helps low- and moderate-income individuals afford health insurance.
What are advance payments of the premium tax credit?	 Individuals who meet certain criteria at the time of enrollment in a QHP may choose to have advance payments of the premium tax credit paid to their insurance provider to lower the cost of their monthly premiums. Consumers may choose to have some, none, or all of the advance payments of the premium tax credit for which they are eligible paid on their behalf.
How do advance payments of the premium tax credit affect individuals' tax returns?	• When consumers file their tax returns for the year, the actual amount of the premium tax credit they were eligible for is calculated. Consumers whose advance payments of the premium tax credit exceed their actual premium tax credit eligibility may be required to pay back all or a portion of the difference (see the <u>Repayment Limitation Table</u>). Consumers whose advance payments of the premium tax credit is less than the amount they were eligible for will owe less in taxes or get a refund for the difference.
Who is eligible for advance payments of the premium tax credit?	 To be eligible for a premium tax credit: Consumers or family members, such as their spouse or dependent, must be enrolled in a QHP through the Marketplace for one or more months in which they were not eligible for other minimum essential coverage (MEC) such as Medicaid, CHIP, TRICARE, or affordable employer-sponsored coverage that meets the minimum value standard; Consumers must file a joint tax return if married, unless the consumer is a victim of domestic abuse or spousal abandonment, and will not be claimed as a dependent on another taxpayer's tax return;[†] In general, consumers must have household income between 100% and 400% of the federal poverty level (FPL) (see <u>Appendix C: Federal Poverty Guidelines</u>);* and Note that a premium tax credit is only allowed for months in which consumers pay their share of the premium by the due date of the consumers' tax return.

Consumers who are married but living apart from their spouse and are unable to file a joint income tax return because of a case of spousal abandonment or domestic abuse can obtain advance payments of the premium tax credit and cost-sharing reduction as long as they are otherwise eligible. For more information, see the guidance available at: https://www.CMS.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Regulations-and-Guidance/Downloads/victims-domestic-violence-guidance-3-31-2014.pdf.

*Adult Consumers generally must have a household income between approximately 138% and 400% of the FPL (approximately \$16,590 to \$47,520 for an individual and \$33,934 to \$97,200 for a family of four; higher in Alaska and Hawaii) if they live in a state that has expanded Medicaid. Consumers living in a Medicaid expansion state whose household income is less than 100% FPL and who are not eligible for Medicaid due to immigration status may also be eligible for financial assistance through the Marketplace. See the Assister Guide to the Immigration Section of the Online Marketplace Application for more information on helping non-citizens through the Marketplace application process.

2. Select the Amount of the Advance Payments of the Premium Tax Credit

If consumers are eligible for advance payments of the premium tax credit, the Marketplace will notify them of the maximum dollar amount available to them. Consumers can choose to apply the entire amount to their monthly health plan premiums or a lesser amount of their choice, including zero. Be sure to point out the



SOP-7. Lower Costs of Coverage

differences between their eligibility for a certain amount of premium tax credit; and receiving advanced payments of the premium tax credit; and their premium tax credit.

Advance payments of the premium tax credit are based on estimates of the premium tax credit consumers may be allowed to claim when filing their tax return. Eligibility for the premium tax credit and the amount of the credit they are allowed is not determined until the consumer files a tax return.

Also point out that when filing their tax return for the year, consumers must reconcile or compare their advance payments of the premium tax credit with the premium tax credit they are allowed. Consumers whose advance payments of the premium tax credit exceed their actual premium tax credit will owe all or a portion of the difference to the IRS when filing their taxes. Consumers whose actual premium tax credit is more than their advance payments of the premium tax credit may get a credit on their taxes or get a refund for the difference. You can help consumers select the amount of advance payments of the premium tax credit to apply to their monthly premiums during plan selection after the initial application or when reporting a life change to the Marketplace.

For example, if a consumer will have an uncertain variable income, you may want to discuss the idea of claiming only part of the tax credit for which they are eligible as an advance payment. This may reduce the amount of money the consumer may owe at tax filing time in the event the consumer's actual income is higher than anticipated. However, it's important to remind consumers that you cannot provide tax advice within your capacity as an assister.

To help consumers select the amount of advance payments of the premium tax credit they would like to have paid on their behalf, complete the following steps:

Step I. Help consumers review the amount of advance payments of the premium tax credit for which they are eligible. The amount of advance payments of the premium tax credit for which consumers are eligible can be found in the *Eliqibility Results* table on their eligibility notice, as shown in Exhibit 33. Explain that the amount shown on the table represents the amount of the advance payments of the premium tax credit for the entire family, not just the individual, on that particular row of the chart. For example, if a married couple is eligible for \$300 of advance payments of the premium tax credit, the eligibility results table will show \$300 after the husband's name and \$300 after the wife's name. Even though the amount of \$300 appears twice, the couple is not eligible for \$600.

Family Member(s)	Results		Next St	eps
Andre Hill	 Eligible Market Eligible credit (year), b 	to purchase health coverage through the place, but more information is needed for advance payments of the premium tax \$300 each month, which is \$3,600 for the ut more information is needed	•	Send the Marketplace more information
Bridget Hill	 Eligible Market Eligible credit (year), k 	to purchase health coverage through the place, but more information is needed for advance payments of the premium tax \$300 each month, which is \$3,600 for the ut more information is needed	•	Send the Marketplace more information

Exhibit 33—What are the Results of my Application?

The Assister's SOP Manual



SOP-7. Lower Costs of Coverage

Explain to consumers that they have the option to use less than the total amount of the advance payments of the premium tax credit for which they are found eligible. The amount they use will lower the cost they will pay for QHP monthly premiums.

- **Step 2.** Describe the potential effects of adjusting advance payments of the premium tax credit amount, including:
 - a. Premium amount paid by consumers; and
 - b. Tax consequences (see Section 2.1 Potential Tax Consequences).
- **Step 3.** Explain when the advance payments of the premium tax credit take effect.

Things:You-Should-Know

•→Remind·consumers·that·they·must· file-taxes-in-the-upcoming-year-ifadvance payments of the premium tax-credit-are-paid-on-their-behalf.-Also-inform-consumers-that-they-willbe-ine ligible for advance payments of-the-premium-tax-credit-in-futureyears-if-advance-payments-of-thepremium-tax-credit-are-paid-on-theirbehalf-but-they-do-not-file-a-federaltax-return-for-the-year.¶

During Open Enrollment:

- a. If consumers adjust advance payments of the premium tax credit between the 1st and 15th of the month, the change in premium takes effect on the first of the next month (e.g., if the change is made on December 8, the change in premium takes effect on January 1).
- b. If consumers adjust advance payments of the premium tax credit between the 16th and the last day of the month, the change in premium takes effect on the first of the month following the next month (e.g., if the change is made on December 17, the change in premium takes effect on February 1).

Outside of Open Enrollment

- a. If consumers adjust the amount of advance payments of the premium tax credit (APTC), the change generally takes effect the day the adjustment is made, unless the family simultaneously receives a Special Enrollment Period (SEP) determination, in which case the APTC change follows the SEP effective date.
- **Step 4.** Help consumers select the amount of advance payments of the premium tax credit they would like to apply towards their monthly premium payments. Consumers' maximum amount of the advance payments of the premium tax credit cannot be more than the cost of their monthly premiums. The tool consumers can use to select the amount of advance payments of the premium tax credit they would like to apply towards their monthly premium payments is shown in Exhibit 34.



The Assister's SOP Manual

SOP-7. Lower Costs of Coverage



Exhibit 34—Selecting the Amount of Advance Payments of the Premium Tax Credit Screenshot

Decide how much to lower your monthly premium

You qualify for a premium tax credit of \$465 a month. This amount is based on income and household information from your application.

How much of my tax credit can I use each month?

You can use all of it each month to lower your premium OR save any amount to get later. If you don't use all the credit you qualify for, you'll claim the rest when you file your federal income tax return.

Use all \$465 of your tax credit each month to lower your premium

Good option if: You're pretty sure the income estimate and household information on your application are right for the year. Make sure you update if things change.

USE ALL \$465 EACH MONTH

Use some credit to lower your monthly premium, get the rest later

Good option if: You think your income or other information may change during the year. If you update your application during the year, you can adjust how much tax credit you use.

ENTER AMOUNT TO USE MONTHLY

Use none of your tax credit to lower your monthly premium, get it all later

Good option if: Your yearly income is hard to predict, or you think your household may change. You'll claim what you don't use when you file your income tax return.

USE NONE MONTHLY, GET ALL LATER

IMPORTANT: If the consumer is shopping for a plan, monthly premium costs will reflect the amount of APTC the consumer selected. Some consumers may wish to change the amount of advance payments of the premium tax credit they are using for an existing plan. These consumers should log in to their Marketplace accounts; select the plan they are currently enrolled in from the Plan Compare menu; and proceed to the Review and Confirm Plan Selection page to make the change. See Exhibit 35 for an example of what plan costs will look like once the advance payments of the premium tax credit have been applied.



SOP-7. Lower Costs of Coverage

Exhibit 35—Review and Confirm Plan Selection Screenshot



2.1 Potential Tax Consequences

Before Navigators, non-Navigator assistance personnel, and certified application counselors provide assistance to consumers, they must provide consumers with a disclaimer stating that they are not acting as tax advisors or attorneys, and they cannot provide tax or legal advice within their capacities as Navigators, non-Navigator assistance personnel, and certified application counselors. However, these assister entities are expected to help consumers understand general information about the impact of Marketplace policies on consumer taxes.

Explain to consumers that the amount of the advance payments of the premium tax credit paid on their behalf will affect the amount they owe or the amount of their refund when they file their federal income tax return. Consumers for whom advance payments of the premium tax credit payments are made must file a tax return, even if they are not otherwise required to file taxes. On their tax return, the advanced payments of the premium tax credit they received will be compared to the actual premium tax credit they are allowed to claim on that return.

A consumer's maximum advance payments of the premium tax credit (APTC) depend on the consumer's projected household income and family size. However, the consumer must use his or her actual household income and family size in calculating the premium tax credit when filing his or her tax return to calculate the premium tax credit. If a consumer's actual household income differs from the projected household income



amount, this may affect the amount the consumer will pay or receive as a credit or refund when filing the consumer's federal income tax return.

Consumer repayments of the excess advanced payments of the premium tax credit is limited to amounts based on their income and household size, as shown in Exhibit 36.

Household Income Percentage of Federal Poverty Line	Limitation Amount for Single, Married Filing Separately, and HOH taxpayers	Limitation Amount for all other filing statuses
Less than 200%	\$300	\$600
At least 200%, but less than 300%	\$750	\$1,500
At least 300%, but less than 400%	\$1,250	\$2,500
400% or more	No limit	No limit

Exhibit 36—Consumer APTC Repayment Limits

If consumers' actual household incomes are less than they projected when they submitted their Marketplace application, or if consumers chose to have less than all of the advance payments of the premium tax credit for which they were eligible paid to the insurance provider, it is likely that the consumers' premium tax credit will be more than their advance payments of the premium tax credit. In that case, consumers will get a credit or a refund for the difference when they file a tax return for the year.

If a consumer's income is below 100% FPL, he or she may still be able to claim the premium tax credits at tax time if the individual had been enrolled in a Marketplace plan with APTC and had expected a household income between 100 and 400% FPL when the consumer initially enrolled in the plan. However, for the next plan year, the individual may be eligible for Medicaid and generally will not be eligible for APTC if household income for the next plan year is expected to remain below 100% FPL. Consumers should be encouraged to go back to the Marketplace to update their income information. If a consumer does appear to qualify for Medicaid, his or her application information will be sent directly to the consumer's State Medicaid office. The consumer will receive a notice of Medicaid eligibility later.

Note that as an Assister, you may educate consumers on the Marketplace-related components of the premium tax credit reconciliation process, and help them understand the availability of IRS resources on this process. However, you must inform consumers that you are not acting as a tax adviser or attorney when providing assistance as an assister and cannot provide tax or legal advice within your capacity as an assister.

Exhibit 37 provides a reference on when consumers should contact the Marketplace Call Center or the IRS if they have questions about how their coverage status and/or Marketplace financial assistance will affect the tax filing process. Use this resource in your work with consumers to help them route their questions accordingly.



Marketplace Call Center will handle	Internal Revenue Service will handle	
questions regarding:	questions regarding:	
 Form 1095-A (Advance Premium Tax Credit) Form 8962 (Premium Tax Credit) and how it works with Form 1095-A Advance Premium Tax Credit versus Premium Tax Credit Eligibility for Advance Premium Tax Credit Exemptions (including who qualifies for exemptions, what to do if your exemption is pending, and how to get an Exemption Certificate Numbers (ECNs)) Handling problems with Form 1095-A (including missing or incorrect information and duplicate copies) How the Tax Credit may Impact Consumers' Tax Refunds Fees for Not Having Coverage (what it is, how much it will cost, and what it will be in future years) Tax Assistance (including free file, which forms to fill out, where to get assistance with tax filing, and what the tax deadline is) 	 Help Filing Taxes Help Paying Taxes Owed to the IRS Questions Related to Tax Filing, such as: How long can I delay filing? What happens if I don't file? I filed my taxes prior to getting Form 1095-A. How do I amend my tax return? Questions on how to complete Form 8962 Premium Tax Credit Questions on how to complete Form 8965 Exemptions Questions about other tax forms 	

Select Plans with Cost-Sharing Reductions 3.

In addition to premium tax credits, consumers may be eligible for financial assistance through the Marketplace in the form of cost-sharing reductions ("income-based cost-sharing reductions" or CSRs). If consumers have household income between 100% and 250% FPL or are members of a federally recognized Indian tribe, they may be eligible for plans with cost-sharing reductions. Plans with income-based cost-sharing reductions reduce the amount that consumers have to pay out of pocket for health care (e.g., deductibles, copayments, and coinsurance), provided that the consumer chooses a Silver level QHP.¹³ Eligible members of federally recognized Indian Tribes may receive their special cost sharing benefit in any Bronze, Silver, Gold or Platinum plan. The Marketplace will determine if consumers are eligible for cost-sharing reductions based on projected household income and family size; or membership in a federally recognized tribe. Exhibit 38 provides information to help answer questions about cost-sharing reductions.

¹³ Members of federally recognized tribes may take advantage of cost-sharing reductions at any health plan metal level.

This information is intended only for the use of entities and individuals that are certified to serve as Navigators, certified application counselors, or non-Navigator assistance personnel in a Federally-facilitated Marketplace. The terms "Federally-facilitated Marketplace" and "FFM," as used in this document, include FFMs where the state performs plan management functions and State Partnership Marketplaces. Some information contained in this manual may also be of interest to individuals helping consumers in State-based Marketplaces and Federally-supported State-based Marketplaces. 63



Exhibit 38—Common Cost-Sharing Reductions Questions and Answers

Question	Answer	
What is a cost-sharing reduction?	A discount that lowers the amount a consumer has to pay for deductibles, coinsurance, and copayments.	
Who is eligible for cost- sharing reductions?	 To be eligible for and utilize cost-sharing reductions, a consumer must: Have a projected household income between 100% and 250% of the FPL (see <u>Appendix C: Federal Poverty Guidelines</u>) +; or an American Indian with household income under 300% of the FPL. Enroll in a Silver category QHP* through the Marketplace; and Be eligible for the premium tax credit 	

+Members of federally recognized tribes who have a household income below 300% of the FPL are exempt from cost-sharing and do not have to pay out-of-pocket costs for health coverage.

*Members of federally recognized tribes may take advantage of cost-sharing reductions at any health plan metal level.

Consumers will find out if they are eligible for cost-sharing reductions by reviewing their onscreen eligibility results. It is important for those eligible for the most generous cost-sharing reductions provided, at the 94%/06 and 87%/05 level, to understand that if they use medical services, they may potentially save thousands of dollars but only by selecting a Silver plan. See Exhibit 39 for the key notice content and next steps:

Cost-sharing Reduction Eligibility Type	Eligibility Notice Content English & Spanish	Next steps English & Spanish
94% Cost Sharing Reduction CSR Code = 06	 Can choose a health plan with lower copayments, coinsurance, and deductibles (cost-sharing reductions) (06) 	 Choose a health plan and make first month's payment. Consumers must choose a Silver plan to get these extra savings on out-of-pocket costs. Choosing a Silver plan instead of a Bronze plan may save consumers thousands of dollars if they use a lot of medical services.
	 Puede elegir un plan médico con copagos, coseguro, y deducibles reducidos (reducciones en costos compartidos) (06) 	 Elija un plan médico y haga el pago del primer mes. Debe elegir un plan Plata para obtener estos ahorros adicionales en los gastos directos de su bolsillo. La elección de un plan Plata en lugar de un plan Bronce puede ahorrarle miles de dólares si utiliza una gran cantidad de servicios médicos.
87% Cost Sharing Reduction CSR Code = 05	 Can choose a health plan with lower copayments, coinsurance, and deductibles (cost-sharing reductions) (05) 	 Choose a health plan and make first month's payment. Consumers must choose a Silver plan to get these extra savings on out-of-pocket costs. Choosing a Silver plan instead of a Bronze plan may save consumers thousands of dollars if they use a lot of medical services.

Exhibit 39—Key Notice Content and Next Steps



The Assister's SOP Manual



SOP-7. Lower Costs of Coverage

Cost-sharing Reduction	Eligibility Notice Content	Next steps	
Eligibility Type	English & Spanish	English & Spanish	
87% Cost Sharing Reduction CSR Code = 05 continued	 Puede elegir un plan médico con copagos, coseguro, y deducibles reducidos (reducciones en costos compartidos) (05) 	 Elija un plan médico y haga el pago del primer mes. Debe elegir un plan Plata para obtener estos ahorros adicionales en los gastos directos de su bolsillo. La elección de un plan Plata en lugar de un plan Bronce puede ahorrarle miles de dólares si utiliza una gran cantidad de servicios médicos. 	
73% Cost Sharing Reduction CSR Code = 04	 Can choose a health plan with lower copayments, coinsurance, and deductibles (cost-sharing reductions) (04) 	 Choose a health plan and make first month's payment. Consumers must choose a Silver plan to get these extra savings on out-of-pocket costs. 	
	 Puede elegir un plan médico con copagos, coseguro, y deducibles reducidos (reducciones en costos compartidos) (04) 	 Elija un plan médico y haga el pago del primer mes. Debe elegir un plan Plata para obtener estos ahorros adicionales en los gastos directos de su bolsillo. 	
Zero Cost Sharing (100% in-network costs covered for members of federally recognized tribes under 300% FPL) CSR Code = 02	 Can choose a health plan with lower copayments, coinsurance, and deductibles (cost-sharing reductions) (02) 	 Choose a health plan and make first month's payment. Consumers won't pay copayments, coinsurance, or deductibles when they get care from an Indian Health Service provider, or when they get covered services through their Marketplace plan's approved providers. 	
	 Puede elegir un plan médico con copagos, coseguro, y deducibles reducidos (reducciones en costos compartidos) (02) 	 Elija un plan médico y haga el pago del primer mes. No tendrá que pagar los copagos, coseguros o deducibles cuando recibe cuidado de un proveedor del Programa de Salud para Indígenas, o cuando recibe servicios cubiertos a través de proveedores aprobados de su plan del Mercado. 	
Limited Cost Sharing (for members of federally recognized tribes at 300% FPL and above) CSR Code = 03	 Can choose a health plan with lower copayments, coinsurance, and deductibles (cost-sharing reductions) under certain conditions (03). You won't pay any cost-sharing for covered services from the Indian Health Service, but we need more information from you. 	 Choose a health plan and make first month's payment. Also, send the Marketplace more information, as required in the eligibility notice. This notice explains what consumers need to send. Consumers won't pay copayments, coinsurance, or deductibles when they get care from an Indian Health Service provider, or from a Marketplace plan provider when referred by an Indian Health Service provider. 	

The Assister's SOP Manual



SOP-7. Lower Costs of Coverage

Cost-sharing Reduction	Eligibility Notice Content	Next steps
Eligibility Type	English & Spanish	English & Spanish
Limited Cost Sharing (for members of federally recognized tribes at 300% FPL and above) CSR Code = 03 continued	 Puede elegir un plan médico con copagos, coseguros y deducibles más bajos (reducciones de costos compartidos) bajo ciertas condiciones (03). Cuando se inscribe en este tipo de plan, no tendrá que pagar ningún costo compartido por los servicios proporcionados por el Servicio de Salud Indígena. Para obtener ayuda con los costos por los servicios cubiertos de un proveedor del plan del Mercado, usted necesita un Compras/Referido de Cuidado. 	 Elija un plan médico y haga el pago del primer mes. No tendrá que pagar los copagos, coseguros o deducibles cuando recibe atención de un proveedor de Servicio de Salud para Indígenas o de un proveedor del plan del Mercado cuando son referidos por un proveedor de Servicios de Salud para Indígenas. Sin un referido, tendrá que pagar sus costos compartidos regulares de su plan del Mercado.

If consumers are eligible for cost-sharing reductions, discuss the following topics.

Topic 1: Explain to consumers that they must choose a Silver category plan to take advantage of the cost-sharing reduction. If they qualify for a cost sharing reduction and do not choose a Silver level plan, they may owe more when they need health care. There is one exception to this rule: members of a federally recognized tribe may take advantage of cost-sharing reductions at any health plan metal level. Consumers who are eligible for cost-sharing reductions will see eligible plans indicated with an "Extra Savings" box in the corner, as illustrated in Exhibit 40.





SOP-7. Lower Costs of Coverage

Exhibit 40—How to Identify CSR-eligible plans on the Marketplace Screenshot Extra savings Geisinger Health Plan · Geisinger Marketplace HMO 30/60/3500 Silver HMO Plan ID: 22444PA0010030 Monthly premium Deductible Out-of-pocket Copayments / Estimated total yearly Providers maximum Coinsurance costs Emergency room care: \$75 \$196.32 \$600 Your prescription drugs \$2,350 \$3,338 Generic drugs: \$15 Was: \$661.32 Individual total Individual total Primary doctor: \$15 CHANGE Specialist doctor: \$25 CHANGE 0 QUICK VIEW DETAILS COMPARE & SAVE ENROLL Extra savings Highmark Blue Cross Blue Shield · My Priority Blue Flex HMO 2100S Silver HMO Plan ID: 83731PA0060002 Monthly premium Deductible Out-of-pocket Copayments / Estimated total yearly Providers maximum Coinsurance costs Emergency room care: 10% \$700 Your prescription drugs \$207.31 \$1,400 \$3,396 Coinsurance after (0/2)Was: \$672.31 Individual total Individual total deductible CHANGE Generic drugs: 15% CHANGE Primary doctor: \$25 Specialist doctor: \$40 0 0 QUICK VIEW DETAILS COMPARE & SAVE ENROLL Extra savings Highmark Blue Cross Blue Shield · My Priority Blue Flex HMO 2750SQE Silver HMO Plan ID: 83731PA0060003 Monthly premium Deductible Out-of-pocket Copayments / Estimated total yearly Providers maximum Coinsurance costs Emergency room care: 10% Coinsurance after deductible Your prescription drugs \$209.47 \$900 \$1,700 \$3,545 (0/2)Was: \$674.47 Individual total Individual total CHANGE Generic drugs: 10% Coinsurance after deductible CHANGE Primary doctor: 10% Coinsurance after deductible Specialist doctor: 10% Coinsurance after deductible

Topic 2: Explain that cost-sharing reductions may decrease the following costs:

- Deductibles:
- Coinsurance; and/or
- Copayments.





SOP-7. Lower Costs of Coverage

Topic 3: Explain that cost-sharing reductions will not decrease the following costs:

- Monthly premiums;
- Balances billed by non-network providers; nor
- Amounts spent on non-covered services.

Topic 4: Explain that consumers need to be aware of their responsibility to notify the Marketplace within 30 days of any changes in their household income level or other application information that may affect their eligibility for cost-sharing reductions.

C. Next Steps

- 1. If consumers would like to compare plans or make plan selections, proceed to <u>SOP-8 Compare, Save,</u> <u>& Select Health Plans</u>.
- 2. If consumers need to report changes that affect their eligibility results, proceed to <u>SOP-13 Report Life</u> <u>Changes</u>.
- 3. If consumers believe that they are eligible for more advance payments of the premium tax credit or cost-sharing reductions, proceed to <u>SOP-10 Request an Eligibility Appeal</u>.
- 4. For more help answering consumers' specific questions, see Appendix A for <u>Frequently Asked</u> <u>Questions (FAQs) related to SOP-7 Lower Costs of Coverage</u>.




SOP-8. Compare, Save, & Select Health Plans

SOP-8. Compare, Save, & Select Health Plans

Introduction Α.

The Marketplace allows consumers to compare their QHP options, including estimated premiums and other health care costs. Even if consumers have not created a Marketplace account and prefer to apply by calling the Marketplace Call Center or using a paper application, they can view and compare some Marketplace QHP options. However, until they submit an application and are determined eligible for enrollment through the Marketplace, the premiums and advance payments of the premium tax credit they see will simply be estimates, and they will not be able to select health plans for enrollment.

Consumers without a Marketplace account may:

- View key plan details (e.g., premiums, deductibles, estimated APTC and CSRs) using the "2017 health . insurance plans & prices" feature on HealthCare.gov.
- View, download, or print the plan's Summary of Benefits and Coverage.
- View the plan's provider directory and drug formulary.
- View Quality Rating information, if the consumer lives in Virginia or Wisconsin, where the new star ratings for plans will be piloted.
- View the relative breadth of health plans' provider networks for adult primary care providers, pediatricians, • and hospitals in the consumer's county if the consumer lives in one of approximately two pilot states selected by CMS.

If consumers choose to compare plans without creating an online account and submitting an application, explain that the health plan and cost options that they receive are only estimates based on consumers' responses to a few general questions. More consumer-specific information on available plans and costs can be viewed after consumers complete an application and are determined eligible for enrollment through the Marketplace.

If consumers are interested in more detailed information about plans available to them, or believe they may be eligible for other coverage programs or options to lower their costs (i.e., Medicaid, CHIP, advance payments of the premium tax credit, and cost-sharing reductions), encourage them to create an online account and complete an eligibility application. To create an account, proceed to SOP-3 Create an Account.

The remainder of this SOP provides guidance on how to assist consumers with Marketplace accounts who have been determined eligible for enrollment through the Marketplace to compare QHPs, save plan information, and make a final QHP selection.

Procedures Β.

Selecting Advance Payments of the Premium Tax Credit Amount 1.

Consumers who are determined to be eligible for advance payments of the premium tax credit may choose to use all, some, or none of that amount to lower their monthly premiums. If consumers are eligible for advance

This information is intended only for the use of entities and individuals that are certified to serve as Navigators, certified application counselors, or non-Navigator assistance personnel in a Federally-facilitated Marketplace. The terms "Federally-facilitated Marketplace" and "FFM," as used in this document, include FFMs where the state performs plan management functions and State Partnership Marketplaces. Some information contained in this manual may also be of interest to individuals helping consumers in State-based Marketplaces and Federally-supported State-based Marketplaces. 69



SOP-8. Compare, Save, & Select Health Plans

payments of the premium tax credit, the system will prompt them to set the amount of advance payments of the premium tax credit that they would like to apply to their monthly premiums before viewing their QHP options, as shown in Exhibit 41.

Exhibit 41—Setting the Amount of Advance Payments of the Premium Tax Credit Screenshot

Your enrollment To-Do list / Change information				
You must fi later. You c	nish all the following steps to complete your enrollment. If you don't finish today, you can come back and finish an also make changes here.			
✓	Decide how much tax credit to use to lower your premium Choose how much of your premium tax credit to use to lower your monthly bill.	CHANGE		

Step I. Consumers who are eligible for advance payments of the premium tax credit will see three different options on how to use the advance payments of the premium tax credit for which they are eligible, much like the screen shown in Exhibit 42. Consumers can generally use all, some or none of the amount for which they are eligible. The three scenarios show how the options affect the consumer's monthly premium cost and, potentially, their tax liability when they file their tax return. After reviewing, the consumer will select his or her preferred amount of premium tax credit and click "Continue."

Exhibit 42—Advance Payments of the Premium Tax Credit





SOP-8. Compare, Save, & Select Health Plans

Step 2. You can help consumers use the advance payments of the premium tax credit amount selection tool shown in Exhibit 42 to set the amount they would like to apply to their premium each month.

The amount that consumers select is not permanent. When consumers view and compare QHPs, the Marketplace will reduce the premium amounts displayed according to the amount of advance payments of the premium tax credit they select. At any time before enrolling in a plan, consumers may adjust the amount of advance payments of the premium tax credit that they would like to use. (Consumers will also be able to change the amount after enrolling in a plan, but the time at which that change takes effect will depend on the calendar date on which the change is made).

Step 3. You can help consumers select the amount of advance payments of the premium tax credit that they would like to have made on their behalf. Exhibit 43 provides an explanation of the tax consequences that consumers might encounter.

Exhibit 43—Tax Consequences for Advance Payments of the Premium Tax Credit

Scenario	Tax Consequence
Consumers elect <i>lower</i> advance payments of the premium tax credit than the maximum for which they are eligible AND/OR their annual household income is <i>less than</i> projected for the tax year or their household size <i>increases</i> .	Consumers' tax liability might decrease, and they might get a tax refund if the premium tax credit for which they are eligible at tax time exceeds the advance payments of the premium tax credit that they received during the year.
Consumers elect the <i>maximum</i> advance payments of the premium tax credit for which they are eligible AND/OR their annual household income is <i>more than</i> projected for the tax year or their household size <i>decreases</i> .	Consumers' tax liability might increase, and they might owe money at tax time if the premium tax credit for which they are eligible at tax time is less than the advance payments of the premium tax credit that they received during the year.

Step 4. It is important to remind consumers that they are required to report changes to eligibility information, such as certain income and household -related changes, to the Marketplace within 30 days, and should do so as soon as possible. The amount of premium tax credit and/or cost-sharing reductions for which they are eligible, may be affected.

2. **Comparing QHPs**

This section provides information on different criteria (e.g., cost, benefits covered) consumers may want to use to compare and evaluate QHPs.

- **Step I.** Explain to consumers the factors that might affect their available QHP options and the costs of the QHPs:
 - a. Place of residence;
 - b. Age;
 - c. Family size;
 - d. Tobacco use; and
 - e. Eligibility for advance payments of the premium tax credits or cost-sharing reductions.





SOP-8. Compare, Save, & Select Health Plans

- **Step 2.** Assist consumers with comparing health plans using the "Metal Table" which summarizes plans by:
 - a. Metal level;
 - b. Displaying premium ranges (after application of advance payments of the premium tax credit); and
 - c. Cost-sharing (e.g., deductibles)

Things You Should Know

 While you can help consumers compare plans based on the applicant and their family members' unique coverage needs, you should never advise consumers to choose specific plans.

Once the consumer is on the plan results page, summary information about individual plans is presented, including the cost of premiums.

- **Step 3.** Assist consumers with filtering and sorting QHPs to find plans that best meet their needs and budget. Encourage consumers to consider different aspects of coverage, including costs (premiums, copayments, coinsurance, deductible, out-of-pocket maximums, etc.), coverage (such as: services, devices, and medications), and provider network (ensuring preferred medical providers are covered in the plan's network). Consumers should review all aspects they think are important before choosing and enrolling in a plan.
 - a. The Marketplace can provide consumers with an estimate for their total health plan costs for the year, based on how much medical care the consumers think they will use (low, medium, or high). This can help consumers consider and compare different types of health insurance and health care costs beyond just monthly premiums. It is important to remind the consumer that these are estimates only, and that actual costs to the consumer can vary, based on actual health care use throughout the plan year.
 - b. The Marketplace initially sorts plans from the lowest to highest premium amount. Consumers may filter and view QHPs by other sorting criteria, such as alphabetically by QHP name or by maximum out-of-pocket costs.

Consumers may also filter QHPs to narrow the results to display only plans that meet selected criteria.

c. Exhibit 44 specifies the various filtering options available to consumers for customizing their QHP lists and lists examples of when to use each filtering option. It may be helpful to review the chart with consumers and identify the filtering options that are most important to them.





SOP-8. Compare, Save, & Select Health Plans

Exhibit 44—Filtering Options

Filtering Option	Examples of Consumer Scenarios	Description of Filtering Option
Plan Categories	Consumers want to view only those plans that can be expected to cover, on average, 70% or more of their health care costs (i.e., a Silver-level plan or higher).	 Assignment of plan categories designated by metal level: Bronze, Silver, Gold, Platinum, and Catastrophic (e.g., a Platinum category plan, on average, will cover a higher percentage of costs of care than a Bronze category plan, but will generally have a higher premium). You may want to remind consumers eligible for cost-sharing reductions that they can only take advantage of those reductions if they pick a Silver plan
Max Monthly Premium	Consumers are concerned about monthly premium costs.	 Price range that consumers pay monthly for their QHPs.
Max Yearly Deductible	Consumers want to view only those plans that have a deductible amount within a certain range.	 The required amount consumers must pay before their health coverage begins to cover most health care costs.
Estimated Yearly Costs	Consumers are interested in the estimated total yearly cost for the plan premiums, deductible, copayments, and other costs.	 Estimated total yearly costs, from lowest to highest.
Health Plan Types	Consumers are concerned with flexibility of access to providers inside and outside of a network or are interested in coverage in multiple states.	 Types of provider access, such as Health Maintenance Organization (HMO), Preferred Provider Organization (PPO), Point of Service (POS), and multi-state or national provider networks. Stand-alone dental plans available to purchase*
Health Savings Account (HSA) Eligible Plans	Consumers are considering enrolling in a high deductible health plan (HDHP).	 Tax-advantaged medical savings account available to consumers who are enrolled in an HDHP. The funds contributed to the account are not subject to federal income tax at the time of deposit.
Search Plan	Consumers who already know which plan they want can search for it by the plan number	• Enter the plan number to find a preferred plan quickly.

*Under the Affordable Care Act, dental insurance is treated differently for adults and children 18 and under. Dental coverage for children is a category of essential health benefit. All stand-alone dental plan QHPs offer through the Marketplace must cover the pediatric dental essential health benefit, but are not required to cover adult dental services.





SOP-8. Compare, Save, & Select Health Plans

Exhibit 45—Filter Plans by Metal Level Screenshot

SIMPLE CHOICE PLANS Single Crosse Parts Heiger	Single Orace Para March McCorport Constant Const	
PLAN CATEGORIES Choose plan categories to ties	a koosti a sherii a Gasiii	
ESTIMATED TOTAL YEARLY COSTS Includes premiums, deductives, and all other costs for year, series on same lower yes between	\$100	\$1000-
MAX MONTHLY PREMIUM Choose a maximum metrolog premium trebulant by any premium tak chock you second to use.	4100	\$1000-
MAX YEARLY DEDUCTIBLE Choose a maximum yearly deduction	\$100 .	\$1000+
HEALTH PLAN TYPES Creats of typer you want to sail	Health Maintenance Organization (MMO) (7)	
DOCTORS, MEDICAL FACILITIES &: DRUGS COVERED Credit services plant multiprovide	PRESCRIPTION DRUGS: © 1 ML Insulin Lisper 50 UNTIML / Insulin, Protamone Lispero, Human 50 UNTIML Pen Injector III monobulast 10 MG Onil Tables	
HEALTH SAVINGS ACCOUNT (HSA) - ELIGIBLE PLANS Chief to tea high-cecurtow/da point:	See plans you can use a Health Savings Account (HSA) with	
SEARCH PLAN Triter Panel Search Help	Exergine 12345059874	

- Step 4. Once consumers identify QHPs in which they are interested in enrolling, consumers may make direct plan-to-plan comparisons using the side-by-side function.
 - a. To select QHPs for comparison, consumers can click the "Compare & Save" box listed below the QHP name. Next, select the "Compare & Save Plans" button at the top of the page. See Exhibit 46 for an illustration of this process. Note that consumers can select and compare up to three plans at one time. Consumers can also hover their cursor over the "i" icons for explanations about what the different dollar amounts mean.

Monthly premium	Deductible	Out-of-pocket maximum	Copayments / Coinsurance	Estimated total yearly costs	Providers
¥0U.00 Was: \$525.66	>6,800 Individual total	\$7,150 Individual total	Coinsurance after deductible Generic drugs: 15% Primary doctor: \$95 Specialist doctor: \$130	\$2,178 Change	(0/2) CHANGE
	0	0	0	0	
QUICK VIEW	DETAILS			COMPARE & SAVE	ENROLL

Exhibit 46—Select a QHP for Plan Comparison Screenshot

b. The side-by-side comparison, shown in Exhibit 47, allows consumers to compare QHPs' monthly premiums and annual deductibles, medical and prescription drug benefits, and other key information.

MARKETPLACE ASSISTER TOOLKIT

The Assister's SOP Manual



SOP-8. Compare, Save, & Select Health Plans



Exhibit 47—Side-by-Side Plan Comparison Screenshot

Step 5. Remind consumers to make sure their doctors or other health providers are in-network for the specific plan they are considering before they enroll. Also remind consumers to enter the information for any medications they take to verify if the medications are on the plan's drug formulary. The best way for consumers to ensure a provider participates in the specific plan they are selecting is for consumers to call **both** their doctor/provider and the insurance company to make sure the doctor is in the relevant





SOP-8. Compare, Save, & Select Health Plans

network. If consumers want a plan that includes their health provider(s) or specific prescription drugs in the plan's formulary, direct them to the following external resources for additional information about the QHPs:

- Plan websites; a.
- Individual plan provider directories; and b.
- Summaries of Benefits & Coverage (SBCs). This information may be found by clicking on the c. "Details" link for the plan on HealthCare.gov.

Changes to Plan Comparison

Starting in the 2017 benefit year, consumers will have the option to select "Simple Choice plans," which come with a uniform set of deductibles, copayments, coinsurance rates, and annual limitations on certain cost-sharing features. The uniform cost sharing features will allow the consumer to compare plans based on other important factors, such as providers in the plan's network, with the knowledge that cost-sharing for certain categories of covered benefits will be the same across Simple Choice plans. The "Simple Choice plans" will display in Plan Compare.

Additionally, in some states, consumers will see quality star rating information, which will provide consumers information about the quality of health care services and enrollee experiences, and overall patient and consumer experience for health plans offered on the Marketplace in those states. The quality star ratings will only display for QHPs in 2 states for the 2017 plan year: Virginia and Wisconsin, which use the HealthCare.gov platform. CMS anticipates quality star rating information will be available in all Federally Marketplaces for the 2018 open enrollment period.

3. Saving QHP Selections

Step I. If consumers would like to review certain QHPs at a later time, consumers may save the QHPs to their account by clicking the "Compare & Save" check box, as shown in Exhibit 38. Consumers may view these QHPs at a later time by logging in to their account and clicking the "Saved Plans" button also shown in Exhibit 48.



Exhibit 48—Save QHP Screenshot





SOP-8. Compare, Save, & Select Health Plans

- 4. Selecting a QHP
- **Step I.** After consumers have reviewed and compared their available QHP options, they may select plans to enroll in for themselves and/or family members included on their application. After clicking "Enroll," different warnings may appear that indicate the consumer may have missed the opportunity to participate in a plan with cost-sharing reductions (for example, if the consumer has selected a plan that is not a Silver-level plan) or that they selected a plan covering a child that does not provide child dental coverage. One example of this warning message appears in Exhibit 49. Consumers will be asked to confirm their plan selection, as shown in Exhibit 50.

Exhibit 49—Warning Message Screenshot







SOP-8. Compare, Save, & Select Health Plans

Exhibit 50—Confirm Plan Selection Screenshot

Plan selection Geisinger Health Plan · Geisinger Marketplace HMO 30/60/3500								
Silver HMO Plan ID: 2244 Monthly premium \$196.32 Was: \$661.32	Silver HM0 Plan ID: 22444PA0010030 Monthly premium Deductible Out-of-pocket maximum Copayments / Coinsurance Estimated total yearly costs Providers \$196.32 Was: \$661.32 \$3,500 Individual total \$7,150 Individual total Emergency room care: \$250 Generic drugs: \$20 Copay after deductible Primary doctor: \$30 Specialist doctor: \$60 \$1.37 Coll Providers							
	θ	Ð	Ð	0				
 Adult Dental Benefit Not Included Would you like to enroll in this plan? YES NO 								

5. Dental Coverage

- **Step I.** Some medical plans include child and/or adult dental coverage. If consumers want dental coverage, they can select a medical plan that includes dental coverage or select a stand-alone (separate) dental plan.¹⁴ If no separate dental plan is desired, consumers can skip directly to the "Review and Confirm" task. If consumers wish to select a stand-alone dental plan, proceed to Step 2.
- **Step 2.** You can help consumers indicate they are interested in stand-alone dental coverage. The process will proceed similarly to the medical plan compare and selection process. Once available dental plans appear, you can assist consumers with enrolling in a dental plan.
 - a. A consumer must enroll in a medical plan in order to enroll in a stand-alone dental plan through an Individual Health Insurance MarketplaceSM.
 - b. Consumers can enroll in a stand-alone dental plan through the Marketplace even after they have already enrolled in health coverage as long as it is still Open Enrollment or if they have a SEP. To do

¹⁴ Note that, as adult dental coverage is not an Essential Health Benefit, APTCs cannot be used to pay any portion of a premium attributable to coverage of adult dental benefits.

This information is intended only for the use of entities and individuals that are certified to serve as Navigators, certified application counselors, or non-Navigator assistance personnel in a Federally-facilitated Marketplace. The terms "Federally-facilitated Marketplace" and "FFM," as used in this document, include FFMs where the state performs plan management functions and State Partnership Marketplaces. Some information contained in this manual may also be of interest to individuals helping consumers in State-based Marketplaces and Federally-supported State-based Marketplaces. 78





SOP-8. Compare, Save, & Select Health Plans

so, Marketplace operations require that consumers return to the Marketplace, re-select their Marketplace health plan, and then select a dental plan at the same time to add a dental plan. Assisters helping consumers in this situation can remind consumers that the coverage effective date of their dental plan will depend on the date that they enroll, not on the date when they originally selected health coverage.

Step 3. Once consumers select "Enroll," a confirmation window will appear. It will provide a summary of the plan selection and if the consumer agrees, they will select "Yes" and "Continue," as shown in Exhibit 51.

Exhibit 51—Confirming Dental Plan Selection Screenshot

Plan selection					
DSM USA Insurance Co	mpany lnc · DentaQue	st EPO Family Preventa	tive		
Monthly premium	Deductible	Out-of-pocket maximum	Providers		
\$8.56	\$100 Individual total	\$350 Individual total (Applies to child essential health benefits only)	CHANGE		
	0	θ			
Would you like to enroll in this plan?					
YES NO					
	CON	TINUE			

Review and Confirm 6.

Step I. After confirming their dental plan, consumers will be brought to the "Confirm your plan choices and enroll" page, where the consumer can see a summary of the plan(s) he or she selected and must provide a final approval to enroll in the plans. An example of this summary and enrollment appears in Exhibit 52.



MARKETPLACE ASSISTER TOOLKIT

The Assister's SOP Manual

SOP-8. Compare, Save, & Select Health Plans



Exhibit 52—Review and Confirm Screenshot

Confirm your plan choices and enroll						
Health Plan for Karen Dravenstatt-Moc		CHANGE				
Geisinger Health Plan Gelsinger Marketplace HMO 30/60/3500 Plan ID: 22444PA0010030	Original Health plan premium	\$661.32				
 Adult Dental Benefit Not Included Child Dental Benefit Not Included 	Premium tax credit used to lower monthly premium costs	- \$465.00				
	Health plan monthly premium you'll pay	\$196.32				
Dental Plan for Karen Dravenstatt-Moc		CHANGE				
DSM USA Insurance Company Inc DentaQuest EPO Family Preventative Plan ID: 68711PA0030005	Original Dental plan premium	\$8.56				
	Dental plan monthly premium you'll pay	\$8.56				
Did someone help you select a plan and enroll?						
YES NO I understand that I'm not eligible for a premium tax credit if I'm found eligible for other qualifying health coverage, like Medicaid, the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), or a job-based health plan. I also understand that if I become eligible for other qualifying health coverage, I must contact the Marketplace to end my Marketplace coverage and premium tax credit. If I don't, the person who files taxes in my household may need to pay back my premium tax credit.						

Step 2. At the bottom of the "Confirm your plan choices and enroll" page, consumers must attest to their understanding that they may no longer be eligible for APTC if they experience certain life changes; and that the household tax filer may have to pay back the APTC if the consumer fails to take appropriate action. Next, the consumer will be taken to the "Read these statements and select whether you agree or disagree" page, where they accept eligibility for advance payments of the premium tax credit (if





SOP-8. Compare, Save, & Select Health Plans

applicable) by agreeing to file a federal income tax return in the upcoming year for the current tax year and/or by attesting to the filing of a joint income tax return with their spouse by the end of the current tax year (if married). Consumers are also attesting that no one else can claim them as a dependent for the current tax year on a federal income tax return. After selecting "Yes," the consumer needs to enter his or her full name and click "Finish Plan Selection."

Next Steps C.

- 1. If consumers wish to pay their health plan premium, proceed to SOP-9 Pay Health Plan Premium.
- 2. For more help answering consumers' specific questions, see Appendix A for Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) related to SOP-8 Compare, Save, & Select Health Plans.





SOP-9. Pay Health Plan Premium

SOP-9. Pay Health Plan Premium

A. Introduction

This SOP provides guidance on how to assist consumers with making premium payments once they have selected a QHP. After the consumer has selected a QHP, the Marketplace will redirect the consumer to the QHP website – when applicable – or will instruct the consumer to contact the QHP issuer directly to make premium payments. Online premium payment is optional and not every health insurance company will accept online payments. Consumers should contact their health insurance company with any specific questions about acceptable methods or deadlines for premium payment. Please ensure that consumers understand that the individual Marketplace does not accept payments on behalf of insurance companies. All financial transactions that consumers need to make related to their Marketplace QHP coverage are handled directly by their insurance company, not the Marketplace.

QHP issuers in the FFMs are required to accept paper checks, cashier's checks, money orders, electronic fund transfers (EFTs), and all general-purpose prepaid debit cards as methods of payment. The insurance company must present all payment method options equally for a consumer to select the preferred payment method.

Insurance companies may accept payment of the initial premium by a method that is exclusive to the initial premium. For example, online payment ("payment redirect") may allow payment of the initial month's premium by credit card, even though the issuer does not accept credit cards as a method of payment for regular, monthly premiums.

Application of premium payment methods must not improperly discriminate against any consumer or group of consumers. Insurance companies may not offer a discount on premiums to individuals who elect a specific type of premium payment method (e.g., EFT). Additionally, issuers may not apply additional fees to a consumer based on payment method. For example, an issuer may not pass on administrative fees for processing a premium payment via credit card.

Before assisting consumers when they are making a payment, it's important to understand that consumers' financial payment information (e.g., bank account, debit cards, credit cards) must be kept private and secure, just like all consumer PII that you may encounter while helping a consumer. Exhibit 53 specifies appropriate and inappropriate activities related to assisting consumers with information about premium payments:





SOP-9. Pay Health Plan Premium

Exhibit 53—Premium Payment Assistance Do's and Don'ts

 Assure consumers that the assister will protect any financial information consumers share with the assister, and that an Individual FFM does not collect their financial information, because they will make their payments directly to the issuer of the QHP they selected. Keep any financial information that consumers give you private and secure. Turn computers to face consumers to keep information private. Ask consumers to enter their own financial 	Do	Don't
information.	 Assure consumers that the assister will protect any financial information consumers share with the assister, and that an Individual FFM does not collect their financial information, because they will make their payments directly to the issuer of the QHP they selected. Keep any financial information that consumers give you private and secure. Turn computers to face consumers to keep information private. Ask consumers to enter their own financial information. 	 Use consumers' financial information for personal gain. Enter consumers' payment methods (e.g., credit card information) on their behalf unless the consumer requests assistance and is physically present in person.

B. Procedures

1. Make a Premium Payment

If a consumer understands the requirement to make a premium payment and the available payment options, you can proceed with the following steps to help the consumer submit a premium payment:

- **Step I.** Assist consumers with navigating to their Enroll To-Do List on HealthCare.gov to view their selected QHP.
- **Step 2.** Help consumers select how they would like to make payments:
 - a. Pay online/electronically, if available as an option.
 - b. Mail payments to the appropriate insurance company.
- **Step 3.** If consumers wish to make electronic payments, they may click the "Pay for Health Plan" button (if available) to be redirected to their QHP issuer's website, as shown in Exhibit 54.



MARKETPLACE ASSISTER TOOLKIT

The Assister's SOP Manual

SOP-9. Pay Health Plan Premium

Exhibit 54—Pay for Health Plan Screenshot



Step 4. Once consumers have navigated to their QHP issuer's website, you can complete the following steps to assist consumers:

- a. Explain to consumers that their enrollment in a QHP is not complete until the insurance company receives the first premium payment.
- b. Explain that consumers can follow the prompts on the insurance company's website to complete electronic payments, if available. Consumers should be sure to follow their insurance company's payment policies.
- c. Encourage consumers to contact their insurance company's call center with questions about billing.
- d. Remind consumers that to protect their PII, they should log out of the insurance company's website after making their premium payments.

This information is intended only for the use of entities and individuals that are certified to serve as Navigators, certified application counselors, or non-Navigator assistance personnel in a Federally-facilitated Marketplace. The terms "Federally-facilitated Marketplace" and "FFM," as used in this document, include FFMs where the state performs plan management functions and State Partnership Marketplaces. Some information contained in this manual may also be of interest to individuals helping consumers in State-based Marketplaces and Federally-supported State-based Marketplaces. 84

Things You Should Know

Insurance companies must accept methods of payment that include options for consumers that do not have bank accounts or credit cards.











SOP-9. Pay Health Plan Premium

Step 5. If consumers wish to pay their premiums by mail, you can complete the following steps:

- a. Explain to consumers that enrollment in their QHP is not complete until the insurance company receives the first premium payment.
- b. Direct consumers to the insurance company's call center if they need additional billing information. Consumers should note that it may take a day or two before their QHP selection shows up in the insurance company's system.
- c. Encourage consumers to contact their insurance company's call center with questions about billing.

C. Next Steps

- 1. If consumers do not have their payment information with them (e.g., credit card or bank account routing info), they should access their insurance company's website or contact the insurance company's call center to make a payment at a later time.
- 2. If consumers have further questions or issues about premium payments, they should contact their insurance company's call center.
- 3. For more help answering consumers' specific questions, see Appendix A for <u>Frequently Asked</u> <u>Questions (FAQs) related to SOP-9 Pay Health Plan Premium</u>.





SOP-10. Request an Eligibility Appeal

SOP-10. Request an Eligibility Appeal

A. Introduction

Assisters are not required to help consumers through the entire eligibility appeals process, and must not act as tax advisers or attorneys when providing assistance as Navigators, non-Navigator assistance personnel, or certified application counselors. This SOP provides guidance on how to assist consumers with understanding the process of filing Marketplace eligibility appeals. The Marketplace allows consumers to request an appeal of the following:

- Eligibility or redetermination of eligibility to: purchase a Marketplace QHP (including a catastrophic plan); a child only plan; or eligibility for an employer to participate in a SHOP employer plan.
- An eligibility determination for a special enrollment period.
- Eligibility or redetermination of eligibility for advance payments of the premium tax credit or cost-sharing reductions, including the amount of advance payments of the premium tax credit and cost-sharing reductions for which the consumer was determined or re-determined eligible. Note that consumers who have outstanding data matching issues (DMIs) will need to resolve those issues or wait for them to expire before they will be able to file an appeal regarding the eligibility determination for which there is a DMI. Consumers cannot appeal eligibility determinations that still have open DMIs.
- Eligibility for an exemption from the individual shared responsibility payment that is granted by the Marketplace.
- Eligibility for Medicaid or CHIP.¹⁵

- (i) MAGI-related Medicaid denials by the FFM.
- a. The following states have delegated MAGI-related Medicaid determinations to the FFM and delegated authority to conduct appeals to CMS AL, AK, AR, LA, MT, NJ, TN, WV, WY (for MAGI-related Medicaid, not CHIP). When the FFM denies MAGI-related Medicaid to residents of those states who apply to the FFM, they may appeal those denials to the Federal Marketplace Appeals Entity (Marketplace Appeals Center).
- b. Option to Transfer to State Entity. Consumers in these states have a right to have their state entity conduct a Medicaid Fair Hearing. They may request their MAGI-related Medicaid appeal through the Marketplace Appeals Center but can ask that their Fair Hearings be held by their state by checking the appropriate box on their appeal request or otherwise asking for this option. Marketplace Appeals Center will transfer such appeals to the applicable state Medicaid agency Fair Hearing entity. This option does not exist for CHIP appeals.
- (ii) Appeals in Assessment States. For consumers in all other states, the FFM assesses eligibility for MAGIrelated Medicaid and CHIP. The state Medicaid agency makes the final eligibility determination and

¹⁵ Consumers may file appeals from Medicaid and CHIP determinations with FFM only under limited circumstances.





SOP-10. Request an Eligibility Appeal

- Eligibility for Basic Health Programs.
- A Marketplace individual or SHOP application that had not been acted on with reasonable promptness such that the consumer did not receive timely notice of an eligibility determination.
- The appeal decision of a state-based appeals entity or the refusal of a state-based appeals entity to vacate . dismissal of an appeal request (that is, to reinstate the appeal).

Consumers who disagree with an eligibility determination made by the FFM may appeal to the Federal Marketplace Appeals Entity (Marketplace Appeals Center) within 90 days of the date of their eligibility notice. Upon receipt, the Marketplace Appeals Center will review the appeal request and validate the appeal based on whether it was submitted within the 90-day timeframe and whether it concerns a matter over which the Marketplace Appeals Center has jurisdiction. For example, if the appeal request is about a matter where no jurisdiction exists, such as a dispute the consumer has with a QHP issuer over a claim denial, the consumer will receive a notice explaining why the appeal request was invalid and what other options the consumer may have. The Marketplace Appeals Center may accept an untimely appeal if a consumer sufficiently demonstrates within a reasonable timeframe that failure to submit the appeal request timely was due to exceptional circumstances that should not preclude the appeal.

Once an appeal has been validated, the Marketplace Appeals Center will review the appeal, including all documentation provided by the consumer and available in the consumer's Marketplace eligibility record. The consumer may be asked in writing to submit additional information or be contacted by phone to discuss the appeal. In many cases, the Marketplace Appeals Center will work with the consumer to resolve the appeal informally. If the consumer is satisfied with the informal resolution, a decision will be sent in the mail. Conversely, if the consumer is not satisfied with the informal resolution, the consumer can request a hearing conducted by telephone of the appeal before afederal hearing officer. After the hearing, the consumer will receive a final appeal decision in the mail. If the appeal decision states that the contested eligibility determination was incorrect, the consumer will be able to choose whether the appeal decision will be effective in the future or retroactively to the coverage effective date associated with the incorrect eligibility determination.

The following rights are afforded to consumers as part of the appeals process:

- Consumers can ask for an expedited appeal review if they believe that they have an immediate need for • health services and a delay could seriously jeopardize their health.
- Consumers may have an authorized representative to help them with their appeal. An authorized • representative is a person who has the permission of the consumer to talk with the Marketplace Appeals

aggrieved consumers may appeal through their state's Fair Hearing process.

(iii)Non-MAGI-Related Appeals. The FFM does not render eligibility determinations for non-MAGI-related Medicaid. If a state Medicaid agency denies non-MAGI Medicaid, aggrieved consumers may appeal through their state's Fair Hearing process. Consumers whose eligibility is determined on a non-MAGI basis include the aged, blind, or disabled, as well as the medically needy, present or former foster youth, consumers with long-term care needs, and some others.

MARKETPLACE ASSISTER TOOLKIT

The Assister's SOP Manual



SOP-10. Request an Eligibility Appeal

Center about their appeal, see their information, and act for them on matters related to their appeal, including getting information about them and signing their appeal request on their behalf.

- Consumers also can have someone help them with their appeal, including at the hearing like a friend, relative, or lawyer. This person does not have to be formally designated as an authorized representative, but if they are not, they will not be allowed to act for the consumer on matters related to the consumer's appeal.
- Consumers who are appealing a redetermination of eligibility resulting in a loss or reduction of eligibility for advance payments of the premium tax credit and, if applicable, cost-sharing reductions can request a continuation of the previous level of benefits pending their appeal. This is sometimes called "aid-paidpending." If they do not prevail in their appeal, they would be liable for any advance payments of the premium tax credit that they had received during the appeal, which would be reconciled when they file their taxes.
- Consumers can ask the Marketplace Appeals Center to provide them a copy of their appeal record free of • charge.
- Consumers can bring witnesses to testify.
- Consumers may request an auxiliary aid or service and language assistance services to make the appeals process accessible to them.

The sections that follow in this SOP provide guidance on how to assist consumers with requesting an appeal.

Procedures Β.

All consumer eligibility determination notices contain instructions on how consumers may request an appeal. Consumers can mail or fax their appeal requests to the Marketplace. The appeal request may either be in the form of a letter or consumers may send a completed and signed appeal request form. Depending on consumers' preferred method for requesting an appeal, see the corresponding section below.

- 1. Complete and Mail or Fax an Appeal Request Form to the Marketplace
- **Step I.** If consumers choose to complete an appeal request form, they can find the correct appeal request form for their state by visiting HealthCare.gov/Marketplace-Appeals.
- **Step 2.** Consumers should complete their state's appeal request form and then mail or fax their completed form, a copy of the eligibility notice they would like to appeal, and copies of any supporting documentation to:

Health Insurance MarketplaceSM Dept. of Health and Human Services 465 Industrial Blvd. London, KY 40750-0061 Fax line: 1-877-369-0129

2. Write and Mail or Fax a Letter to the Marketplace

Step I. If consumers choose to write a letter to the Marketplace to request an appeal, they should include the following information:



CENTERS FOR MEDICARE & MEDIC

SOP-10. Request an Eligibility Appeal

- a. Name;
- b. Address;
- c. Reason for appeal request;
- d. Name of the person (or people) on the application who is (are) appealing their eligibility determination(s); and
- e. Copy of the eligibility notice (optional, but encouraged).
- **Step 2.** Consumers may also include copies of any supporting documentation, such as pay stubs or W2 forms, to demonstrate household income. If they do not choose to submit documents with the appeal request, the Marketplace Appeals Center will notify the consumer about what, if any, information or documents it needs to adjudicate the appeal. Consumers should never send original documents but should be sure the copies they send to the Marketplace are legible.
- **Step 3.** Consumers should either mail or fax their completed letter to:

Health Insurance MarketplaceSM Dept. of Health and Human Services 465 Industrial Blvd. London, KY 40750-0061 Fax line: 1-877-369-0129

Things You Should Know

• Consumers should be sure to include the ZIP code extender (the "0061") when mailing documents or letters to the Marketplace.

3. Additional Information

Consumers may receive various notices during the appeals process. Exhibit 55 lists sample notices commonly used throughout the appeals process and their corresponding descriptions.

Exhibit 55—Appeals Notices

Notice Type	Description
Acknowledgment of Your Marketplace Eligibility Appeal	Notice explaining the appeal request has been received.
Notice of Informal Resolution	Notice explaining how CMS proposes to resolve the appeal informally, without a hearing.
Notice of Hearing	Notice explaining a hearing request has been received and details on the hearing (e.g., format, date, and time).
Appeals Decision Notice	Notice explaining the outcome of the hearing.
Notice of Marketplace Eligibility Appeal Dismissal	Notice explaining why the appeal has been dismissed. This notice includes a form to use if the consumer disagrees with the dismissal and wants to request that the appeal be reopened.
Notice Granting (or Denying) Request to Vacate an Appeal Dismissal	Notice explaining whether an appellant demonstrated 'good cause' to reopen an appeal that has been dismissed.

For more information on appeals, assisters and consumers can visit HealthCare.gov/Marketplace-Appeals.

MARKETPLACE ASSISTER TOOLKIT

The Assister's SOP Manual



SOP-10. Request an Eligibility Appeal

For an overview of the appeals process, see this presentation on Marketplace Eligibility Appeals. An overview of the appeals process is also available at https://marketplace.cms.gov/technical-assistance-resources/assisterwebinars.html.

Additional information is available at https://marketplace.cms.gov/outreach-and-education/appeals-eligibilityand-health-plan-decisions.pdf and https://marketplace.cms.gov/technical-assistance-resources/logo-andinfographics/steps-for-a-marketplace-appeal.pdf.

Next Steps С.

- 1. If consumers require further assistance with the appeals process, consider referring them to the Consumer Assistance Program or legal services program available in their state.¹⁶
- 2. For more help answering consumers' specific questions, see Appendix A for Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) related to SOP-10 Request an Eligibility Appeal.
- 3. Appellants with questions about their eligibility appeals may call the Marketplace Appeals Center at 1-855-231-1751 (TTY: 1-855-739-2231). The call center is available 7:30 AM to 8:45 PM (EST) Monday through Friday, and 10:00 AM to 5:30 PM (EST) Saturday.

¹⁶ For more information on Consumer Assistance Programs, visit <u>http://www.CMS.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Consumer-</u> Assistance-Grants. For more information on legal services, visit http://www.lsc.gov/find-legal-aid.

This information is intended only for the use of entities and individuals that are certified to serve as Navigators, certified application counselors, or non-Navigator assistance personnel in a Federally-facilitated Marketplace. The terms "Federally-facilitated Marketplace" and "FFM," as used in this document, include FFMs where the state performs plan management functions and State Partnership Marketplaces. Some information contained in this manual may 90 also be of interest to individuals helping consumers in State-based Marketplaces and Federally-supported State-based Marketplaces.





SOP-11. Exemptions

A. Introduction

The Affordable Care Act requires applicable individuals to either have minimum essential coverage (MEC) for the entire year, pay a fee when filing a federal income tax return, or obtain an exemption from the requirement to maintain MEC. Refer to Exhibit 56 below to learn more about the various exemptions for which consumers may qualify.

Please remember: It's important to remind consumers that you cannot provide tax advice within your capacity as an assister and that you are not acting as a tax adviser or attorney when providing assistance as an assister. However, you should be able to help consumers generally understand that some exemptions can be claimed through the tax filing process and how to request them.

When to Use This Exemption	Information Consumers Need When Applying for This Exemption	Link to Exemption Application	How to Claim This Exemption	For More Information on this Exemption
Consumers can use this exemption if they experience a life situation that keeps them from getting health insurance (e.g. homeless, facing eviction or foreclosure, and experienced domestic violence).	 SSNs, if they have them Information about people in their tax household Documents that support their claim of hardship (see page 1 of the hardship exemption application), if applying through the Marketplace. 	Application for Exemption from the Shared Responsibility Payment for Individuals who Experience Hardships	In most cases, this exemption will be claimed through the Marketplace. Consumers who are ineligible for Medicaid based on a state's decision not to expand Medicaid may apply for this exemption either through the Marketplace or when filing their federal income tax	https://www.healthcare.g ov/health-coverage- exemptions/hardship- exemptions/

Exhibit 56—Descriptions of Exemptions





SOP-11. Exemptions

When to Use This Exemption	Information Consumers Need When Applying for This Exemption	Link to Exemption Application F	low to Claim This Exemption	For More Information on this Exemption
There are multiple types of categories of hardship exemptions. Hardship exemptions usually cover the month before the hardship, the months of the hardship, and the month after the hardship. But in some cases the Marketplace may provide the exemption for additional months, including up to a full calendar year.	Note: If consumers can't obtain documents to support hardship, call the Marketplace Call Center at 1-800-318- 2596. TTY users should call 1-855-889-4325			
Type of Exemption: Membersh	ip in a Health Care Sharing Minis	try		
Consumers can use this exemption if they are/were members of a health care sharing ministry that is recognized by the Marketplace	 SSNs, if they have them Information about people in their tax household If claiming this exemption through the Marketplace, consumers must provide the name and address of the health care sharing ministry of which they are a member. 	Application for Exemption from the Shared Responsibility Payment for Members of a Health Care Sharing Ministry To claim on their federal tax return, consumers should use IRS Form 8965: https://www.irs.gov/pub /irs-pdf/f8965.pdf	Starting September 1, 2016, this exemption may only be obtained by claiming it on an annual federal income tax return through the IRS	https://www.healthcare.g ov/exemptions- tool/#/results/2016/detai ls/healthcare-sharing- ministry





SOP-11. Exemptions

When to Use This Exemption	Information Consumers Need When Applying for This Exemption	Link to Exemption Application	How to Claim This Exemption	For More Information on this Exemption
Type of Exemption: Income Be	elow the Tax-filing Threshold			
Consumers can use this exemption if their annual income is below the amount that requires them to file a federal tax return	 Consumer's household income SSNs, if they have them Information about people in their tax household 	IRS Form 8965: https://www.irs.gov/pub /irs-pdf/f8965.pdf	Consumers who don't have to file a federal income tax return are automatically exempt from the individual shared responsibility payment. However, consumers whose incomes are below the filing threshold but who choose to file a federal income tax return anyway can claim the exemption through the tax filing process.	https://www.healthcare.g ov/exemptions- tool/#/results/2016/detai ls/income-below- threshold
Type of Exemption: Members	hip in a Federally-recognized India	an Tribe or Eligibility for Se	rvices through an Indian Health Car	e Provider
 Consumers can use this exemption application if they are either: 1. A member of an federally recognized Indian tribe; and/or 2. Eligible for health services through the Indian Health Service, tribes and tribal organizations, or urban Indian organizations. 	 SSNs, if they have them Information about people in their tax household If claiming this exemption through the Marketplace, consumers must provide documents showing membership in a federally recognized Indian tribe or eligibility for services from the Indian Health Service, a tribal health care provider, or an urban Indian health care provider. 	Application for Exemption for American Indians and Alaska Natives and Other Individuals who are Eligible to Receive Services from an Indian Health Care Provider To claim on federal tax return use Form 8965: https://www.irs.gov/pub /irs-pdf/f8965.pdf	Starting September 1, 2016, this exemption may only be obtained by claiming them on a federal income tax return through the IRS.	https://www.healthcare.g ov/exemptions- tool/#/results/2016/detai ls/tribal





SOP-11. Exemptions

When to Use This Exemption	Information Consumers Need When Applying for This Exemption	Link to Exemption Application	How to Claim This Exemption	For More Information on this Exemption
Consumers qualify for the exemption for any month they had any of these statuses for at least 1 day, or for the full year if they had the status all year. If the consumer was granted this exemption they can use it for future years without submitting another application as long as the membership in the federally recognized tribe or eligibility for services from an Indian health care provider remains unchanged.				
Type of Exemption: Incarceration	on			
Consumers can use this exemption application if they were incarcerated (detained or jailed), other than being held pending disposition of charges. Consumers can claim this exemption for any month they were incarcerated for at least 1 day.	 SSNs, if they have them Information about people in their tax household If claiming this exemption through the Marketplace, consumers must provide documents showing the name and address of the facility where the consumer was incarcerated, and the time periods of incarceration. 	Application for Exemption from the Shared Responsibility Payment for Individuals who are Incarcerated (Detained or Jailed) To claim on federal tax return use Form 8965: https://www.irs.gov/pub /irs-pdf/f8965.pdf	Starting September 1, 2016, this exemption may only be obtained by claiming them on a federal income tax return through the IRS.	https://www.healthcare.g ov/exemptions- tool/#/results/2016/detai ls/incarceration





SOP-11. Exemptions

When to Use This Exemption	Information Consumers Need When Applying for This Exemption	Link to Exemption Application	How to Claim This Exemption	For More Information on this Exemption
Type of Exemption: Coverage i	s Unaffordable			
Consumers can use this exemption application if their required contribution for coverage would exceed 8.13% percent of their 2016 household income (for 2015, the threshold was 8.05%).	 SSNs, if they have them Employer and income information for everyone in their family (for example, from pay stubs, W-2 forms, or wage and tax statements) Information about any job- related health insurance available to their family Proof of yearly income for 2015 (examples of documents are found in the exemption application) 	Application for Exemption from the Shared Responsibility Payment for Individuals who are Unable to Afford Coverage and are in a State with a Federally Facilitated Marketplace To claim on their federal tax return, consumers should use IRS Form 8965: https://www.irs.gov/pub /irs-pdf/f8965.pdf	If the consumer needs the exemption for only the months after they sign their exemption application through the end of the tax year, they can submit a Marketplace exemption application or claim it on their tax return. If they need the exemption for the entire tax year or any months before they sign the exemption application, they should claim it on their tax return	https://www.healthcare.g ov/exemptions- tool/#/results/2016/detai ls/marketplace- affordability
Type of Exemption: Membe	ership in a Recognized Relig	ious Sect whose Memb	ers Object to Insurance	
Consumers can use this exemption if they are a member of a religious sect that is recognized by the Social Security Administration as conscientiously opposed to accepting any insurance benefits, including Social Security and Medicare, and has been in existence since December 31, 1950.	 Name and address of their religious sect SSNs, if they have them Copy of an approved IRS Form 4029 with required signatures (Application for Exemption from Social Security and Medicare Taxes and Waiver of Benefits), if they have one 	Application for Exemption from the Shared Responsibility Payment for Members of Recognized Religious Sects or Divisions	Marketplace exemption application	https://www.healthcare.g ov/exemptions- tool/#/results/2016/detai ls/religion





SOP-11. Exemptions

When to Use This Exemption	Information Consumers Need When Applying for This Exemption	Link to Exemption Application H	łow to Claim This Exemption	For More Information on this Exemption
Consumers who get this exemption won't have to reapply for an exemption unless they turn 21 or leave their religious sect.				
Type of Exemption: Short	Coverage Gap			
Consumers can use this exemption if anyone in their tax household experienced a gap in health coverage of no more than 2 consecutive months. If a consumer has more than one short coverage gap during a year, the short coverage gap exemption only applies to the first gap.	• SSNs, if they have them	IRS Form 8965: https://www.irs.gov/pub /irs- pdf/f8965.pdf	Claim on tax return	<u>https://www.healthcare.g</u> <u>ov/exemptions-</u> <u>tool/#/results/2016/detai</u> <u>ls/short-gap</u>
Type of Exemption: U.S. C	itizens Living Abroad			
Consumers can use this exemption if they're a U.S. citizen who either spent at least 330 full days outside of the U.S. during a 12-month period or was a bona fide resident of a foreign country for a full tax year. Consumers can claim the coverage exemption for any month during their tax year that's included in the 12-month period.	• SSNs, if they have them	IRS Form 8965: https://www.irs.gov/pub /irs-pdf/f8965.pdf	Claim on tax return	https://www.healthcare.g ov/exemptions- tool/#/results/2016/details /citizen-abroad For more information on the requirements to qualify for this exemption: https://www.irs.gov/indivi duals/international- taxpayers/foreign-earned- income-exclusion-physical- presence-test





SOP-11. Exemptions

When to Use This Exemption	Information Consumers Need When Applying for This Exemption	Link to Exemption Application	How to Claim This Exemption	For More Information on this Exemption
Type of Exemption: Certain	n Non-U.S. Citizens			
Consumers can use this exemption if they are a resident alien who is a citizen or national of a foreign country with which the U.S. has an income tax treaty with a nondiscrimination clause and a bona fide resident of a foreign country for the tax year.	• SSNs, if they have them	IRS Form 8965: https://www.irs.gov/pu /irs-pdf/f8965.pdf	Claim on tax return	https://www.healthcare.g ov/exemptions- tool/#/results/2016/detail s/citizen-abroad For more information on the requirements to qualify for this exemption: https://www.irs.gov/indiv iduals/international-
Consumers can claim this exemption for the entire year.				<u>taxpayers/foreign-</u> earned-income-exclusion-
Consumers who are not lawfully present in the U.S. but who file a tax return can also use this exemption.				<u>bona-fide-residence-test</u>

Exemptions that must be claimed through the Marketplace can be claimed at any time during the year. Exemptions available through the federal tax filing process must be claimed when applicants file their federal income taxes for the tax year. The exemption for unaffordable coverage processed by the Marketplace is available prospectively ONLY. After the tax year ends, consumers must claim this exemption on their tax return. For more information on exemptions from the IRS, please visit: https://www.irs.gov/affordable-care-act/individuals-and-families/aca-individual-shared-responsibility-provision-exemptions.

The sections that follow in this SOP provide guidance on how to assist consumers with understanding exemptions and applying for exemptions from the individual responsibility payment that are granted through the Marketplace.



SOP-11. Exemptions



B. Procedures

1. Hardship Exemptions to Purchase Catastrophic Coverage

Consumers may be eligible for an exemption based on financial or other circumstances that prevented them from obtaining coverage in a QHP. If consumers qualify for and receive one of these hardship exemptions, they may enroll in a catastrophic plan.

Step I. Consumers should download and fill out the appropriate application for either an <u>affordability</u> <u>exemption</u> or a <u>hardship exemption</u>, depending on the consumer's specific situation. Consumers should mail the application to:

Health Insurance MarketplaceSM—Exemption Processing 465 Industrial Blvd. London, KY 40741

- **Step 2.** The Marketplace will review the exemption application and determine consumers' eligibility for an exemption. The Marketplace may request more information or documentation from consumers as part of this review. The consumer has 90 days from the date the notice is sent to provide additional information if requested by the Marketplace.
- **Step 3.** The Marketplace will mail consumers a notice of the exemption eligibility result. If consumers are granted an exemption, the Marketplace notice will include their unique exemption certificate number (ECN).
- Step 4. Consumers should read and understand the notice. Consumers should keep the notice because the ECN will be required when the consumer files their federal income tax return. The notice will direct consumers to view <u>Catastrophic Plan Information</u> or call the Marketplace Call Center at 1-800-318-2596 for assistance with shopping for a plan, if they're interested in purchasing coverage.
- **Step 5.** Assist consumers with contacting the health insurance company of their choice to enroll, if preferred.
- 2. Hardship Exemptions to Purchase Catastrophic Coverage for Consumers Who Receive Policy Cancellation Notices

If consumers have been notified that their health plan has been cancelled due to lack of compliance with Affordable Care Act standards, and consumers believe that the QHP options available through the individual market in the Marketplace in the area are unaffordable, consumers may be eligible for a hardship exemption and may be able to enroll in catastrophic coverage if it is available in their area.17 Consumers whose coverage was cancelled may enroll using the steps in the section immediately above or they can choose to enroll in a

¹⁷ Catastrophic plans are not available in all states.

This information is intended only for the use of entities and individuals that are certified to serve as Navigators, certified application counselors, or non-Navigator assistance personnel in a Federally-facilitated Marketplace. The terms "Federally-facilitated Marketplace" and "FFM," as used in this document, include FFMs where the state performs plan management functions and State Partnership Marketplaces. Some information contained in this manual may also be of interest to individuals helping consumers in State-based Marketplaces and Federally-supported State-based Marketplaces. 98



SOP-11. Exemptions

catastrophic plan directly with the insurer of their choice by following the steps outlined below. For information, QHP options, and insurer contact numbers, visit Catastrophic Plan Information or call 1-866-837-0677, a special phone number for people whose plans have been canceled.¹⁸

- **Step I.** Consumers should download and fill out the form for a hardship exemption.19 Consumers should be sure to answer that their reason for applying is that the consumer's individual policy was canceled and they feel that available coverage is not affordable.
- **Step 2.** Consumers can view a list of catastrophic plans available through HealthCare.gov and should be prepared to submit the following items to an issuer of catestrophic coverage in their area:
 - a. The hardship exemption form.
 - b. Supporting documentation indicating that the previous policy was cancelled, such as your cancellation letter.
- **Step 3.** The health insurance issuer will send the consumer's information to CMS; and CMS will verify that the consumer is eligible for the hardship exemption. If the consumer does not submit the supporting documentation with the exemption form, CMS may contact the consumer to notify him or her that the application is incomplete and cannot be processed until the supporting documentation is provided.
- **Step 4.** The consumer can enroll in a plan. Conumers interested in pursuing this option are advised to contact the call center at 1-866-837-0677.

3. Other Exemptions

Depending on the type of exemption, consumers may apply for an exemption via the Marketplace or claim it when filing their federal tax returns. Use the information and instructions below to help consumers with applying for exemptions.

- **Step I.** If consumers have not yet started an application for an exemption, they should determine the appropriate exemption application, download the application with the link provided, and determine what information is required to complete the application.
- **Step 2.** The following guidance may be helpful to consumers completing exemption applications:
 - a. In Step 1 of the application, consumers input their name, address, phone number, preferred language, and other personal information, as shown in Exhibit 57.

¹⁸ 9 AM – 7 PM EST Monday – Friday and 9 AM – 5 PM EST Saturday – Sunday

¹⁹ <u>https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Regulations-and-Guidance/Downloads/ARR-2017-Guidance-051016-508.pdf</u>





SOP-11. Exemptions

Exhibit 57—Step 1 of Exemption Application

STEP 1: Tell us about yourself

The person who fil application. If you' her federal income	es a federal income tax return in y re applying for an exemption for a e tax return to fill out this informati	our household sho child, we need an a on even if the adul	ould be the contact persor adult who claims the child It doesn't need the exemp	n for this I on his or ption.	
Use your legal nam	е				
1. First name	Middle name	Last name	Suff	fix	
2. Home address (Leave blank if you don't have one.)		3. Apartment or suite nu	umber	
4. City		5. State	6. ZIP code	7. County, parisł	h, or township
8. Mailing address	(Select if same as home addre	ss)	1		9. Apartment or suite number
10. City		11. State	12. ZIP code	13. County, paris	sh, or township
Please provide a ph	one number so we can contact you ij	^r necessary. We won	't use your number for any	rthing else.	
14. Phone number	_	Best Time to Call: Morning Afternoor Evening Weekend	15. Other phone numb	er	Best Time to Call: Morning Afternoon
16. Do you want to	get information by email from the	Marketplace?			🔿 Yes 🔿 No
Email address:					
17A. What's your p	referred spoken language?		17B. What's your preferm	ed written langua	ge?

b. In Step 2 of the application, consumers input the information required for the specific exemption application, such as information about members of the applicant's tax household (e.g., Social Security number, demographic information, financial information), as shown in Exhibit 58. Be sure to complete a Step 2 page for *every* person in the consumer's tax household.

Exhibit 58—Step 2 of Exemption Application

STEP 2: Tell us about your tax household

Who to include in your application

You'll need to complete Step 2 for all the following people. If any of these people doesn't want an exemption, just answer questions 1-7 of Step 2 for them.

- "Person 1": Must be the adult who files a federal income tax return for this household. Make them Person 1 even if they don't need a hardship exemption.
- A spouse who's filing taxes jointly with Person 1
- Anyone who Person 1 claims as a dependent on Person 1's tax return.

Note: If you don't plan to file a federal income tax return, you don't need to fill out this application because you won't have to make the Shared Responsibility Payment.

Who NOT to include in your application

A spouse who files taxes separately. They should fill out their own exemption application and include on their own application anyone the spouse claims as a dependent on their federal income tax return.

Anyone who lives with you but isn't a dependent on your tax return.





SOP-11. Exemptions

STEP 2: Person 1

Person 1 must be the person whee exemption.	io files the federal tax r	eturn for your househol	d even if the	y don't need this				
1. First name	Middle name	Last name		Suffix				
2. Relationship to you	3. Date of b	irth (mm/dd/yyyy)	4. Sex					
SELF	<u> </u>	<mark>/</mark>	O Ma	ale 🔘 Female				
5. Social Security Number (SSN)	-	-						
If you're applying for an exemption for yourself and you have an SSN, you must provide it. If you don't have an SSN, you can still qualify for an exemption. If you're not applying for an exemption for yourself, providing your SSN can speed up the process. We use SSNs to match exemptions with the right tax returns. To get an SSN, visit <u>socialsecurity.gov</u> or call 1-800-772-1213 (TTY: 1-800-325-0778).								
6. Do you plan to file a federal in	icome tax return?					Yes	O No	
a. Will you file jointly with a sp	ouse?					O Yes	O No	
Full name of Spouse (unless N	Io is selected for Quest	ion 6A						
b. How many dependents will	you claim on your tax	return (Don't count a sp	ouse as a de	pendent)?				
Name(s) of dependents								
7. Do you want this exemption?	🔵 YES. Ansv	ver all questions below.		0	IO . Skip to question	9.		
8. Select the type of hardship(s) you're applying for below. Note the date the hardship started, when it will end, or if it's ongoing. You need only one exemption for any given time period. You may apply for more than one hardship if the hardship events were at different times during the year. If you're applying for more than one hardship, you must submit documentation for EACH hardship.								

Type of hardship (Select all that apply.)	Tax year for which you need this exemption (YYYY)		ich you ption	Date hardship started (Note: If your hardship started before 01/01/2014, list the first date you didn't have required health coverage.)	Date hardship ended	Check if ongoing		
1. Homeless		2	0					
2. Eviction/foreclosure		2	0					
3. Shut-off notice		2	0					
4. Domestic violence		2	0					
5. Death of family member		2	0					
6. Disaster		2	0					
7. Bankruptcy		2	0					
8. Medical Expenses		2	0					
9. Increase in expenses to care for family member		2	0					
10. Medical support for child		2	0					
11. Eligibility appeals decision		2	0					
12. Ineligible for Medicaid		2	0					
13. Cancellation of individual coverage		2	0					
14. You experienced another hardship		2	0					
Please explain how this hardship prevented you from getting health insurance:								

c. In Step 3 of the application, consumers should review the information provided, confirm that the answers they provided are accurate, and sign their application, as shown in Exhibit 59.





SOP-11. Exemptions

Exhibit 59—Step 3 of Exemption Application

Page 4 of 5

STEP 3: Read, print & sign this application

- I'm signing this application under penalty of perjury, which means I've provided true answers to all the questions on this form to the best of my knowledge. I know that I may be subject to penalties under federal law if I intentionally provide false or untrue information.
- I know that under federal law, discrimination isn't permitted on the basis of race, color, national origin, sex, age, sexual orientation, gender identity, or disability. I can file a complaint of discrimination by visiting <u>hhs.gov/ocr/office/file</u>.

Person 1 should sign this application.

The person who signs this application must be an adult over the age of 18 who files the federal income tax return for your household. If you're an Authorized Representative, you may sign here as long as Person 1 signed Appendix C.



d. In Step 4 of the application, consumers should review the instructions for mailing their completed application and copies of any supporting documentation. Documentation is required for most exemptions.

Exhibit 60—Step 4 of Exemption Application

STEP 4: Mail completed application and documents



Note: A page listing the documents to send with your application appears at the end of this application.

1	
	/

Mail your completed application with **copies (not originals)** of the documents listed on the document information page at the end of this application to: Health Insurance Marketplace - Exemption Processing 465 Industrial Blvd. London. KY 40741



What happens next?

We'll follow up in about 2 weeks. We may call or send you a letter if we need more information. You'll get a letter in the mail after we've processed your application.

- If your application is approved, we'll send you an Exemption Certificate Number (ECN). You'll use it to complete your federal income tax return for the year you didn't have coverage.
- If you don't qualify for the exemption, the letter will explain why.
- If you don't hear from us within 30 days, contact the Marketplace at 1-800-318-2596 (TTY: 1-855-889-4325).

If you think the decision about your exemption is wrong

If you believe you qualify for a hardship exemption but your application was denied, you can appeal the decision. The letter you get from the Marketplace will explain the appeal process and your rights.

The Health Insurance Marketplace must receive your appeal request with 90 days of the date of the notice of application results.

- You may have a relative, friend, legal counsel, or another spokesperson, including an Authorized Representative, help you file or participate in your appeal request. This is optional.
- The outcome of an appeal could change the eligibility of other members of your tax household.

To appeal your exemption application results and learn more about appeals, visit HealthCare.gov/marketplace-appeals. Or contact

e. Depending on the type of exemption application, consumers may need assistance completing additional steps, inputting information in the appendices of the application, or gathering any required supporting documentation. You can provide consumer assistance as needed with applications for exemptions granted through the Marketplace. You can provide general information





SOP-11. Exemptions

on exemptions claimed through the tax filing process, and can help consumers access IRS resources on this topic, but should not help consumers claim exemptions on their tax returns or fill out IRS forms.

Step 3. Consumers should mail Marketplace exemption applications and any supporting documentation to:

Health Insurance MarketplaceSM – Exemption Processing 465 Industrial Blvd. London, KY 40741

C. Next Steps

- 1. After consumers submit an exemption application to the Marketplace, the Marketplace will notify them about any additional supporting documentation needed and the status of their exemption application.
 - The consumer has 90 days from the date the notice is sent to provide additional information if requested by the Marketplace.
- 2. If consumers receive an exemption, they will be assigned an ECN for exemptions granted by the Marketplace. Consumers will need their ECN:
 - If they qualify for a hardship exemption and plan to enroll in a catastrophic health plan in the Marketplace.
 - If they plan to file a federal income tax return, so the IRS knows that they have an exemption. The federal income tax return will include instructions for where consumers should provide their ECN in their federal income tax return forms.
 - Starting with the 2016 tax year, the following exemption types will not be issued an ECN because they will only be available through the tax filing process: Health Care Sharing Ministry, members of Indian tribes and individuals eligible for services from an Indian health care provider and individuals who were incarcerated.
- 3. If consumers do not receive an exemption, you can assist them with applying for health coverage by referring to <u>SOP-3 Create an Account</u>.
- 4. For more help answering consumers' specific questions, see <u>Appendix A for Frequently Asked</u> <u>Questions (FAQs) related to SOP-11 Exemptions</u>.





SOP-12. Update Account Profile

SOP-12. Update Account Profile

A. Introduction

Consumers can update their Marketplace account information through the "My Profile" tab. In general, the Marketplace uses the consumer's contact information and preferences to send Marketplace communications such as notices. However, the consumer's plan only receives consumer information that is provided on the application either initially at enrollment or through a reported life change. Some changes, such as those made to communication preferences or a consumer's account password will have no effect on a consumer's eligibility determination. Other updates to application information (which can be made using the "Report a life change" function), such as updating a state of residence or a change in income, may affect a consumer's eligibility to obtain coverage through the Marketplace or for help paying for coverage. This SOP provides guidance on how to assist consumers in updating their account profiles.

B. Procedures

1. Update Account Profile

Consumers updating their account profiles should complete the following steps:

- **Step I.** Consumers can log in to their accounts on HealthCare.gov and select the My Profile tab.
- **Step 2.** The following information can be changed on the My Profile tab:
 - a. Password;
 - b. E-mail address;
 - c. Phone number;
 - d. Address;*
 - e. State in which the consumer lives;* and
 - f. Security questions.

Things You Should Know

 Consumers can find this information on the My Profile screen or by viewing current applications on the Current Applications & Coverage screen.

*To update addresses to a new ZIP code, county, or state, consumers must report a life change. This address change may affect consumers' eligibility.

2. Update Communication Preferences

Consumers updating their communication preferences should complete the following steps:

Step I. Consumers can log in to their accounts on Healthcare.gov and select the "My Applications & Coverage" tab. Consumers then select the application to update.


SOP-12. Update Account Profile

Step 2. Consumers should select the "Communication Preferences" tab, as shown in Exhibit 61.

Exhibit 61—Communication Preferences Screenshot

 My plans & programs My plan profile Eligibility & appeals Applications details Report a life change 	Communica All fields are required unle You can make changes to here comes from your app	ation preferences ss they're marked optional. the way you get Marketplace information. Inform slication.	ation shown
 Communication preferences 	Email address	kdmoc@yopmail.com	EDIT
 Exemptions 			
o Tax forms	Phone number	517-371-5887	TIGE
	Second phone number	tr	A00
	Notifications	C Email	EDIT
		• Text messages to 517-371-5887	
	Notices	O HealthCare.gov Message Center	TIGE
		Paper notices sent by mail to: 21 HUNLOCK GDNS HUNLOCK CREEK, PA 18621	
	Preferred spoken	English	EDIT

Step 3. The following information can be changed on the "Communication Preferences" tab:

- a. Email address;
- b. Phone number;
- c. Second phone number;
- d. Notifications (i.e., prefer to receive via text message or email);
- e. Notices (i.e., prefer to receive electronic or paper notices*);
- f. Preferred spoken language; and
- g. Preferred written language.

*Consumers may also edit the address to which they would like paper notices sent. To update addresses to a new ZIP code, county, or state, consumers must report a life change. Changes to consumers' home addresses may affect their eligibility.





SOP-12. Update Account Profile

C. Next Steps

- 1. When life changes happen, consumers should return to the Marketplace and update their account information as soon as possible. If consumers want to update their applications because of new life events (e.g., birth of a child, income increase), proceed to <u>SOP-13 Report Life Changes</u>.
- 2. For more help answering consumers' specific questions, see Appendix A for <u>Frequently Asked</u> <u>Questions (FAQs) related to SOP-12 Update Account Profile</u>.





SOP-13. Report Life Changes

SOP-13. Report Life Changes

A. Introduction

This SOP provides guidance on how to assist consumers with updating their eligibility application information. Consumers may experience life changes (e.g., marriage, relocation, birth of a child, or change in household income, citizenship or immigration status) during the year. It is important for consumers to report a life change as soon as possible to the Marketplace because (1) this information may change the coverage or savings for which consumers are eligible or (2) consumers may be eligible for a special enrollment period (SEP) as a result of the life change. Consumers must report changes to their application information within 30 days of the change. The Marketplace will re-determine consumer eligibility after any changes are reported and will notify consumers of any resulting changes in eligibility and next steps. If consumers qualify for an SEP, they generally have 60 days to enroll in or change their Marketplace coverage.

B. Procedures

1. Reporting Life Changes

To assist consumers with updates to reflect new life changes, proceed with the following steps:

- **Step I.** Consumers should log in to their accounts on HealthCare.gov and select the "My Applications & Coverage" tab. Then select the application that needs to be updated to reflect life changes.
- **Step 2.** Consumers should select the "Report a Life Change" tab, as shown in Exhibit 62.



The Assister's SOP Manual

SOP-13. Report Life Changes



0	My plans & programs	Report a life change
0	My plan profile	Some changes may qualify you or your dependents for a Special Enrollment Period.
0	Eligibility & appeals	
0	Applications details	
•	Report a life change	What kind of changes should I report?
0	Communication preferences	Your household's income and size affect the program you qualify for, including help with costs. As soon as you have a change, report it here.
0	Exemptions	Important: If you're enrolled in Pennsylvania Medical Assistance (MA) (Medicaid)
0	Tax forms	(Medicaid) or Pennsylvania Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) (CHIP) coverage, be sure to report life changes to your state Medicaid or CHIP agency before you report these changes to the Marketplace.
		Learn more about reporting these changes, including what to do if someone on your application has Marketplace coverage
		Examples of changes to report:
		 Someone's enrolled in Medicaid or CHIP at the same time they're enrolled in a Marketplace plan
		 Your household income goes up or down, like from a job or benefits
		 Your household size changes because of things like marriage, divorce, a new baby, or someone moving out
		Someone needs new coverage
		 Someone is getting new coverage, like from a job Your citizenship or immigration status is changing, like a visa expired and isn't renewed
		 You want to change your preference on how we send information to you Your tax filing status changes
		Important: Check your income information frequently. Your eligibility for help with costs is based on factors including your household income. Accurate information will help you get the right amount of help and avoid differences when

Exhibit 62—Report a Life Change Screenshot

Step 3. Review the types of possible life changes, listed in Exhibit 63, with consumers.

I

The Assister's SOP Manual

SOP-13. Report Life Changes



Exhibit 63—Life Changes

Life Event	Potential Updates
Citizenship/Immigration Status Change	 Change in citizenship or immigration status for a household member needing coverage
Residency Changes	Report a new residential address
Incarceration Status Change	 Claim current incarceration (in detention or jail) for household member Claim end of incarceration period for household member
Tax Filing Status Change	 Claim new tax filing status (e.g., married, single, divorced) Add, remove, or change tax dependents
Pregnancy Status Change	Claim current pregnancy statusClaim end of pregnancy status
Household Member Change	 Add or remove member of household (including through birth, adoption or placement of child for adoption) Change household members' names Update household contact Correction to date of birth, or Social Security number Update marital status or other family relationships Report that a household member has a physical disability or mental health condition that limits their ability to work, attend school, or take care of daily needs Remove member of household from coverage Change in status as an American Indian/Alaska Native or tribal member
Change in Request to Lower Health Plan Costs	 Request advance payments of the premium tax credit and cost-sharing reductions End request for advance payments of the premium tax credit and cost-sharing
Income Change	Increase or decrease in income
Employer-Sponsored MEC Change	 Changes to job-based coverage (e.g., changes to premiums, coverage no longer offered by employer) Changes to employment status Member of the household gets a new offer of job-based coverage
Other MEC Changes	 Gained or lost health coverage (e.g., Medicaid, CHIP, Medicare) in the last 60 days Will gain or lose health coverage in the next 60 days Gained eligibility for Medicare coverage on 65th birthday or receives disability benefits



SOP-13. Report Life Changes

- **Step 4.** Assist consumers with selecting the type of change they would like to report.
- **Step 5.** Assist consumers as they update their application to account for any life changes. Remind consumers that their eligibility results may change as a result of the life change and how this may affect their coverage options.
- **Step 6.** Help consumers submit any required supporting documentation and review updated eligibility results.

2. Special Enrollment Confirmations

Things You Should Know

 The system may return a list of the supporting documents required depending on the life changes reported. Consumers will see both their previously-uploaded documents and those that they still need to upload.

The Special Enrollment Confirmation Process requires consumers who apply for coverage outside of the Open Enrollment Period and use certain SEPs to enroll in Marketplace coverage to subsequently provide proof of their eligibility for the SEP to the Marketplace. Consumers should submit required documents to the Marketplace by the deadline date provided in their Eligibility Determination Notice. Consumers will generally have 30 days to submit documentation.

CMS will follow up with consumers by mail and by phone if there is a question or concern about the documents submitted by the consumer. Consumers who submit documents and do not hear back from the Marketplace do not need to take any further action. If consumers don't respond at all, or don't provide sufficient documentation, they could be found ineligible for their SEP and lose their coverage.

Consumers enrolling through 5 common SEPs will need to submit documentation to verify their eligibility to use an SEP. These SEPs are:

- Loss of minimum essential coverage;
- Change in primary place of living if the consumer was enrolled in coverage while living at the original place of residence;²⁰
- Birth;
- Gaining a dependent through adoption, placement for adoption, placement in foster care, or a child support or other court order; and
- Marriage.

Consumers who applied for Marketplace coverage will be asked to provide documentation to verify eligibility for a special enrollment period, as shown in Exhibit 64.

²⁰ Consumers must prove they had qualifying health coverage for one or more days in the 60 days before their move, unless they're moving from a foreign country or United States territory. Note however that moving only for medical treatment or staying somewhere temporarily without intending to reside there (for example, a vacation) doesn't qualify a consumer for a Special Enrollment Period.

This information is intended only for the use of entities and individuals that are certified to serve as Navigators, certified application counselors, or non-Navigator assistance personnel in a Federally-facilitated Marketplace. The terms "Federally-facilitated Marketplace" and "FFM," as used in this document, include FFMs where the state performs plan management functions and State Partnership Marketplaces. Some information contained in this manual may also be of interest to individuals helping consumers in State-based Marketplaces and Federally-supported State-based Marketplaces. 110





SOP-13. Report Life Changes

Exhibit 64—Proving Eligibility for Special Enrollment Period

Send proof for your Special Enrollment Period

You can enroll now. But, if you don't send proof by the deadline, you could lose your new coverage. Select "Upload Documents" to see a list of documents to send.

Karen: send documents proving loss of coverage Send documents by 11/9/2016

UPLOAD DOCUMENTS

C. Next Steps

- 1. If consumers receive a new eligibility determination after reporting life changes, proceed to <u>SOP-6</u> <u>Review Eligibility Results</u>.
- 2. For more help answering consumers' specific questions, see Appendix A for <u>Frequently Asked</u> <u>Questions (FAQs) related to SOP-13 Report Life Changes</u>.





SOP-14. Renew Health Coverage

SOP-14. Renew Health Coverage

A. Introduction

As an assister, you can help consumers renew their enrollment in QHPs through the Marketplace. The process for renewal of health coverage begins with the Marketplace's annual eligibility redetermination process for all consumers who were determined eligible for enrollment in a QHP in the previous year. Consumers are responsible for notifying the Marketplace within 30 days of any changes in their application information during the year. This helps ensure an accurate redetermination of eligibility. Any changes in coverage or eligibility as a result of the annual eligibility redetermination will be effective on January 1 of the next year.

If consumers requested help paying for health coverage, agreed to allow the Marketplace to re-check their tax return information on an annual basis, and have properly reconciled any advance payments of the premium tax credit received for the 2015 benefit year with the IRS, the Marketplace will then check the consumer's income data from the IRS and use it to re-determine their eligibility for help paying for health coverage. For consumers covered by Medicaid or CHIP, their states' Medicaid or CHIP agencies will generally re-determine their eligibility for these programs on an annual basis.

The Marketplace will send consumers a Marketplace Open Enrollment Notice (MOEN) before open enrollment for the coming year. All consumers are encouraged to come back to the Marketplace and log into their HealthCare.gov account to update their application information, compare plan options, and enroll in coverage for the coming year. Consumers should also check to be sure they are receiving the correct amount of help paying for coverage and are still enrolled in the coverage for 2017 that works best for them.

If consumers do not agree to allow the Marketplace to re-check their tax return information on an annual basis when they filed an eligibility application, the Marketplace will still send consumers a notice. The notice will tell consumers that if they want to receive, or continue to receive, advance payments of the premium tax credit (APTC) or income-based cost-sharing reductions (CSRs) for 2017, consumers must contact the Marketplace or go to HealthCare.gov to update their information and select a QHP in time for a January 1 effective date. Otherwise, consumers' advance payments of the premium tax credit or income-based cost-sharing reductions will end on December 31, 2016. Similarly, if a tax filer receiving APTC or income-based CSR in 2014 or 2015, failed to file a 2014 or 2015 tax return (respectively), and did not return to the Marketplace to obtain an updated eligibility determination, enrollees in that tax filer's tax household will lose any help paying for coverage after December 31, 2016.

Most current Marketplace enrollees will be automatically enrolled in coverage for the next benefit year under the re-enrollment guidelines established for the Marketplaces, if they don't do anything. However, if consumers don't return to the Marketplace and select 2017 coverage by December 15, 2016, they could miss out on better deals and cost savings for coverage starting on January 1, 2017. That's why CMS is advising assisters to strongly encourage all consumers—even those who plan to re-enroll in their same plan—to come back to the Marketplace to review their plan options, as well as their application information.

In addition to the Marketplace Open Enrollment Notices, all consumers currently enrolled in a QHP will get a notice from their health insurance company before open enrollment. If the health insurance company does not

This information is intended only for the use of entities and individuals that are certified to serve as Navigators, certified application counselors, or non-Navigator assistance personnel in a Federally-facilitated Marketplace. The terms "Federally-facilitated Marketplace" and "FFM," as used in this document, include FFMs where the state performs plan management functions and State Partnership Marketplaces. Some information contained in this manual may also be of interest to individuals helping consumers in State-based Marketplaces and Federally-supported State-based Marketplaces. 112



SOP-14. Renew Health Coverage

have information about the estimated APTC amount before it sends the notice, it will provide the information before or during open enrollment.

The plan's renewal letter notice will identify a plan that is the same as or similar to the enrollee's 2017 plan, if available. The plan notice will describe any changes to the enrollee's QHP. If the QHP will be discontinued or coverage in that QHP non-renewed, the issuer will send a notice to tell consumers which plan, if any, the consumers will be enrolled in for 2017 unless they return to the Marketplace and change plans. If the consumer will not have plans offered by their 2016 health insurance issuer available to them through the FFM in 2017, the consumer may be automatically enrolled in a plan with a different health insurance issuer. However, the consumer should be encouraged to return to the Marketplace to make sure that the new plan with the new health insurance company will meet the consumer's needs—or see if there is another plan that would be a better fit.

The remainder of this SOP provides guidance on how to assist consumers with their annual eligibility redeterminations and completing the renewal process.

B. Procedures

- **Step I.** All consumers who are currently enrolled in a QHP through the Marketplace for plan year 2016 will be sent a Marketplace Open Enrollment Notice before open enrollment that contains the following information:
 - a. A note that the open enrollment period begins November 1, 2016 and ends January 31, 2017.
 - b. A description of the annual eligibility redetermination and renewal process.
 - c. The requirement to report changes affecting eligibility and the timeframe and channels to report changes.
 - d. The key dates for ensuring coverage is effective on January 1, 2017.
 - e. The reconciliation process for consumers receiving advance payments of the premium tax credit and/or cost-sharing reductions.
 - f. Special instructions for those consumers receiving advance payments of the premium tax credit or cost-sharing reductions. For more information on these instructions, see Step 4.
- Step 2. Assist consumers with reviewing their Marketplace Open Enrollment Notice.
- **Step 3.** Explain to consumers that they should update their eligibility application with any new or changed information about themselves or their households. If there are no changes, consumers should still return to their account on HealthCare.gov to review the application and confirm the information is correct and review their financial assistance and plan options.
- **Step 4.** Assist consumers with reporting any changes or new information (e.g., annual household income, household size) to the Marketplace. Keep in mind the guidance below is based on different consumer scenarios:

The Assister's SOP Manual



SOP-14. Renew Health Coverage

- a. If consumers who applied for but were determined ineligible for advance payments of the premium tax credits or income-based cost-sharing reductions contact the Marketplace to report any changes or select a new QHP, they will also get an updated eligibility determination based on updated guidelines (e.g., federal poverty levels) for the new plan year.
- b. If consumers who <u>are not</u> receiving advance payments of the premium tax credit or income-based cost-sharing reductions <u>do not</u> contact the Marketplace within the specified timeframe, generally, the Marketplace will automatically re-enroll them in the coverage for the next benefit year without advance payments of the premium tax credit or cost-sharing reductions.
- c. Consumers who <u>are</u> receiving advance payments of the premium tax credit or income-based costsharing reductions and agreed to allow the Marketplace to re-check their tax return information on an annual basis and have filed a 2014 or 2015 tax return (if they received APTC in 2014 or 2015, as applicable) should be aware of the following key points about their annual eligibility redetermination and renewal process:
 - i. If consumers have provided updated eligibility information to the Marketplace, the eligibility redetermination notice will be based on their most recent eligibility information on file.
 - ii. If consumers have not provided updated eligibility information, the notice will encourage them to contact the Marketplace to get an updated eligibility determination by December 15, 2016.
 - iii. If consumers do not update their information, the Marketplace generally will renew their QHP enrollment for the benefit year with the same level of help selected in the previous year. Income-based cost-sharing reductions and advance payments of the premium tax credit will be updated based on the consumer's most recent income and household size data reported to the Marketplace, updated FPL tables, and plan premiums.²¹²² However, if data sources show that the a consumer's household income is over 500% FPL, the consumer will get a notice that their APTC and CSR will be discontinued unless the the consumer takes action. The consumer may still be auto re-enrolled in a health plan on the FFM, but will lose APTC and CSR.
- d. Consumers who <u>are</u> receiving advance payments of the premium tax credit or income-based costsharing reductions and <u>did not</u> agree to allow the Marketplace to re-check their tax return information on an annual basis should be aware of the following key points about their annual eligibility redetermination and renewal process:
 - i. The Marketplace Open Enrollment Notice will ask consumers to contact the Marketplace to get an updated eligibility determination.
 - ii. In general, if consumers do not contact the Marketplace by December 15, their financial assistance (advance payments of premium tax credit or cost-sharing reductions) will end on December 31.

²¹ The amount of premium tax credits consumers receive in the new plan year depends on their income and the premium cost for the second lowest cost Silver plan available on the Marketplace.

²² Guidance on annual eligibility redetermination and re-enrollment for Marketplace coverage for 2017 can be found here: <u>https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Regulations-and-Guidance/Downloads/ARR-2017-Guidance-051016-508.pdf</u>.

This information is intended only for the use of entities and individuals that are certified to serve as Navigators, certified application counselors, or non-Navigator assistance personnel in a Federally-facilitated Marketplace. The terms "Federally-facilitated Marketplace" and "FFM," as used in this document, include FFMs where the state performs plan management functions and State Partnership Marketplaces. Some information contained in this manual may also be of interest to individuals helping consumers in State-based Marketplaces and Federally-supported State-based Marketplaces. 114

The Assister's SOP Manual



SOP-14. Renew Health Coverage

- iii. If consumers are still eligible for QHP coverage, the Marketplace generally will renew their coverage for the next benefit year but without financial assistance to help lower costs. Federal guidance explains how the Marketplace will decide which QHP the consumer will be automatically enrolled in for 2017 coverage.²³
- e. For consumers who are receiving advance payments of the premium tax credit or income-based cost-sharing reductions and did not file a tax return for the 2015 coverage year (and received APTC for 2015), advance payments of the premium tax credit and/or cost-sharing reductions will end on December 31, 2016. Here are key points about their annual eligibility redetermination and renewal process:
 - i. The Marketplace Open Enrollment Notice will ask consumers to take action to ensure they file a 2015 tax return and then return to the Marketplace to update their application and attest to having filed a tax return. If consumers attest to having filed a tax return by December 15, the Marketplace generally will renew their coverage for the next benefit year.
 - ii. In general, if consumers do not return to the Marketplace to attest to having filed a tax return or updated information from the IRS does not indicate that they have filed a 2015 tax return by December 15, their financial assistance will end on December 31, 2016.
- **Step 5.** If consumers are unsure if they agreed to allow the Marketplace to re-check their tax return information on an annual basis, tell consumers that they can return to the Marketplace to give this authorization when they update their 2017 eligibility and plan selection.

Step 6. Enrollment.

Changes submitted on a 2017 application generally don't take effect unless consumers complete the process by continuing to enrollment and selecting a plan. If returning consumers want to keep their Marketplace plan for next and it remains available, , they should select the plan labeled "YOUR CURRENT PLAN" at the top of the plan results in Plan Compare.

Even if consumers are satisfied with their 2016 plan, it is still a good idea for consumers to compare plans to see what's covered; and whether desired providers, services, and prescription drugs are still covered by the plan; and to compare costs.

Next Steps С.

- 1. If consumers receive updated eligibility notices, proceed to SOP-6 Review Eligibility Results.
- 2. If consumers would like to file an appeals request, proceed to SOP-10 Request an Eligibility Appeal.
- 3. If consumers would like to complete an exemption application, proceed to <u>SOP-11 Exemptions</u>.

²³ 17 See 45 C.F.R. § 155.335(a)(2).

This information is intended only for the use of entities and individuals that are certified to serve as Navigators, certified application counselors, or non-Navigator assistance personnel in a Federally-facilitated Marketplace. The terms "Federally-facilitated Marketplace" and "FFM," as used in this document, include FFMs where the state performs plan management functions and State Partnership Marketplaces. Some information contained in this manual may also be of interest to individuals helping consumers in State-based Marketplaces and Federally-supported State-based Marketplaces. 115







SOP-14. Renew Health Coverage

4. For more help answering consumers' specific questions, see the <u>Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs)</u> related to SOP-14 Renew Health Coverage.





Appendices

Appendix A: Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs)

Assisters may encounter questions while helping consumers. The FAQs in this section are organized by topic area and may serve as an aid to the assister throughout the consumer assistance process.

SOP-1 Receive Consent to Access Consumer Information

The FAQs below are designed to help assisters answer consumers' specific questions on giving consent. For more information on this topic, see <u>SOP-1 Receive Consent Before Accessing Consumer PII</u>.

- FAQ 1. Why are you asking me to provide consent?
 - Answer: Your consent is an important step in the consumer assistance process. It ensures that you are aware of your rights and responsibilities within an Individual Marketplace, understand the role of assisters, and are making an informed decision to share your personal information with an assister.

SOP-2 Assess Consumers' Knowledge & Needs

The FAQs below are designed to help assisters answer consumers' specific questions on how assisters assess consumers' knowledge of and needs within an Individual Marketplace. For more information on this topic, see <u>SOP-2 Assess Consumers' Knowledge & Needs</u>.

- FAQ 2. Why do assisters ask questions to assess my knowledge and needs before helping me with eligibility and enrollment activities in an Individual Marketplace?
 - Answer: For an assister to help you make the most informed choices about your health coverage, an assister needs to understand how much you know about health coverage, the Affordable Care Act, and the Marketplaces. You might also have specific health needs that should be taken into consideration when you are comparing health coverage options. Therefore, assisters want to understand your needs to tailor their assistance to meet your unique circumstances.
- FAQ 3. How do assisters assess my knowledge and needs?
 - Answer: Assisters will have an informal conversation with you and ask you a number of questions designed to evaluate your knowledge and needs for health coverage. For example, an assister might ask if you have concerns about paying for coverage and whether you know that you may be eligible for help paying for coverage. They may also ask you whether you understand how premiums, deductibles, coinsurance, and copayments work.

SOP-3 Create an Account

The FAQs below are designed to help assisters answer consumers' specific questions on creating an eligibility account through the Individual Marketplace. For more information on this topic, see <u>SOP-3 Create an Account</u>.



The Assister's SOP Manual

CENTERS FOR MEDICARE & MEDICAID SERVICE

Appendix A: Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs)

- FAQ 4. Why do I need an account?
 - Answer: An account allows you to electronically submit your application, compare and select QHPs, view the status of your application, and complete other Marketplace-related activities.
- FAQ 5. Can I set up multiple accounts?
 - Answer: No, you are only able to create one account.
- FAQ 6. What if I do not have an email account?
 - Answer: You may create an email account with an email service provider of your choice or choose to submit a paper application to participate in the Marketplace or by calling the Marketplace Call Center.
- FAQ 7. What if my password is not accepted?
 - Answer: If you are still unable to create a password after confirming you have followed the requirements, contact the Marketplace Call Center for further assistance.
- FAQ 8. What if my username is not accepted?
 - Answer: You cannot select a username if it is already in use by another applicant. You should try another username, or contact the Marketplace Call Center for further help.
- FAQ 9. Can I still set up an online account after I mail in my paper application?
 - Answer: If you have submitted a paper application and wish to set up an online account, you should contact the Marketplace Call Center to obtain an application ID number after you receive your eligibility notice in the mail, if available. You should then go to the HealthCare.gov website and create an online Marketplace account. After logging into your account, click the "Find my application" hyperlink on the My Applications & Coverage screen and then enter your application ID number that is linked to the paper application you submitted. Please remember that all information first name, last name, city, state, and zip code for the person listed as the household contact on the original application must be an exact match for the contact information used for creating an account on HealthCare.gov. From here, you will be able to view your eligibility determinations and continue with the enrollment process.
- FAQ 10. Should I make sure to remember or keep a secure record of my username, password, and application ID once they are created?
 - Answer: Yes. You will need your username and password each time you log in to HealthCare.gov and you may need your application ID for certain Marketplace activities (e.g., submitting supporting documentation, filing an appeal).

SOP-4 Verify Identity

The FAQs below are designed to help assisters answer consumers' specific questions on identity verification in the Individual Marketplace. For more information on this topic, see <u>SOP-4 Verify Identity</u>.





Appendix A: Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs)

- FAQ 11. Why do I need to verify my identity?
 - Answer: To protect your personal information, you have to take a few steps to verify your identity before you can finish creating a Marketplace account and completing an application online. Without this process, an unauthorized person could create an account and apply for health coverage in your name without your knowledge.
- FAQ 12. How does HealthCare.gov verify my identity?
 - Answer: HealthCare.gov compares your responses to identity verification questions with information from your Experian consumer report.
- FAQ 13. Why was my identity verification unsuccessful?
 - Answer: Identity verification uses specific information contained in your Experian consumer report. Sometimes this information has not been recently updated or the information is inaccurate. For example, you may have recently paid off a loan that has not yet been reported t o Experian. Other times, Experian may not have enough information about you in its systems to successfully verify your identity.
- FAQ 14. Will identity verification affect my credit score?
 - Answer: No. If you check your credit report, you may see an inquiry from CMS. CMS uses consumer reporting agencies like Experian to verify the information you use to create an account. Your credit score will not be affected by inquiries from CMS.
- FAQ 15. If my identity verification is unsuccessful, will I be unable to enroll in a Marketplace plan?
 - Answer: If you are unable to verify your identity successfully, you should call the Marketplace Call Center. They will be able to assist you with the identity verification process as well as with completing an application and submitting a plan selection.

SOP-5 Apply for Health Coverage

The FAQs below are designed to help assisters answer consumers' specific questions on eligibility applications in the Individual Marketplace. For more information on this topic, see <u>SOP-5 Apply for Health Coverage</u>.

FAQ 16. Do I have to enter my SSN to apply for health coverage?

• Answer: If you have an SSN and you are applying for health coverage for yourself, you must provide your SSN. If you do not have a SSN or you are not applying for coverage for yourself, you are not required to enter one, unless you are the tax filer whose tax return information is used to determine eligibility for an applicant. However, even if you are not applying for coverage for yourself or are not the tax filer, entering your SSN may allow the Marketplace to more quickly determine applicants' eligibility for coverage. It may also help to prevent a request from the Marketplace for additional documentation.

FAQ 17. Why do I need to submit supporting documentation?

• Answer: The Marketplace may request supporting documentation to verify the information you provided on your application. The Marketplace verifies information to ensure only eligible individuals obtain coverage through the Marketplace and/or eligibility for help paying for coverage.

This information is intended only for the use of entities and individuals that are certified to serve as Navigators, certified application counselors, or non-Navigator assistance personnel in a Federally-facilitated Marketplace. The terms "Federally-facilitated Marketplace" and "FFM," as used in this document, include FFMs where the state performs plan management functions and State Partnership Marketplaces. Some information contained in this manual may also be of interest to individuals helping consumers in State-based Marketplaces and Federally-supported State-based Marketplaces. 119



The Assister's SOP Manual



Appendix A: Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs)

- FAQ 18. How do I convert my paper application to the electronic format if I have not yet submitted the application?
 - Answer: If you have not yet submitted your application, you will need to follow a manual process to convert your paper application to an electronic format. You may create an account online and complete identity proofing. Enter the information you have collected on the paper application in the fields provided by the Marketplace portal.
- FAQ 19. I want to change or remove an eligibility application that I previously started. How can I do this?
 - Answer: Log in to your account to view any eligibility applications that you previously submitted or that are still in progress. To remove an application, click the "Remove" button listed under the application's ID number. To edit information on an application that is still in-progress, click on the application you would like to edit then select the "Continue Application" button.
- FAQ 20. How do I know when the Marketplace receives the documents I scanned and uploaded from home?
 - Answer: You can log in to your account and verify whether the Marketplace has received your documents.
- FAQ 21. If the document I am scanning has multiple pages, can I upload each page separately?
 - Answer: Yes, you may upload pages separately.
- FAQ 22. Why do you need to know if I currently have health coverage?
 - Answer: If you already have health coverage that meets MEC requirements other than individual market coverage, then you will not be eligible to receive the benefit of advance payments of the premium tax credit or cost-sharing reductions (although you may be eligible to purchase coverage through the Marketplace without financial assistance). However, if you have job-based coverage but it is not considered affordable for you or it does not meet minimum value standards, you might still be eligible to receive advance payments of the premium tax credit and cost-sharing reductions to lower the cost of your QHP through the Marketplace (see definition of minimum value standards in <u>Appendix B</u>).

FAQ 23. Can I see the plans I might be able to purchase before I finish my application?

- Answer: Yes, on the HealthCare.gov homepage, you may select the "Change or Update Your Plan" link and then select the "See Plans and Prices" link. After providing basic information including age, location, and the type of plan desired, consumers can view a list of plans and estimated premiums. All premium prices and other costs shown will be estimates, as consumers must complete their eligibility application to receive exact information about what their costs will be.
- FAQ 24. Will I be able view, compare, and select QHPs while the Marketplace verifies my application information?
 - Answer: Yes, you will be able to view, compare and select a QHP. You will also be able to see the eligibility that you will be provided while the Marketplace processes any supporting documentation that may be needed from you, if applicable.

The Assister's SOP Manual



Appendix A: Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs)

- FAQ 25. Should I upload and mail my supporting documentation?
 - Answer: No. This will not expedite the process. Please choose one method to submit the information. Your documents will be processed more guickly if you upload them.
- FAQ 26. How can I check on the status of the supporting documentation I submitted to the Marketplace?
 - Answer: If you would like to follow up with the Marketplace for a status update on the supporting documentation you submitted via upload or mail, you can contact the Marketplace Call Center.

The Call Center will ask for some information, such as your name, date of birth, and application ID number.

- FAQ 27. I am a shareholder of an Alaska Native Claims Settlement Act corporation or member of a federally recognized Indian tribe. When can I apply for and enroll in health coverage through the Marketplace?
 - Answer: Members of federally recognized tribes and Alaska Native corporation shareholders can apply for and enroll in Marketplace coverage at any time of year. There is no requirement to wait for an open enrollment period and you can change plans as often as once per month.

SOP-6 Review Eligibility Determination

The FAQs below are designed to help assisters answer consumers' specific questions on eligibility determinations received through the Individual Marketplace. For more information on this topic, see <u>SOP-6 Review Eligibility</u> <u>Results</u>.

- FAQ 28. What if I did not receive my eligibility results?
 - Answer: If you have an account, you should log in to your account and confirm that you have not received an electronic notice in your Message Center. If you are waiting for a paper notice, you may call the Marketplace Call Center to receive further assistance.
- FAQ 29. If I think I am eligible for higher advance payments of the premium tax credit or cost-sharing reductions than I received, what can I do?
 - Answer: You may file an appeal if you think you are eligible for a higher advance payment of the premium tax credit and/or cost-sharing reductions, or if you disagree with certain other eligibility determinations. If you are actually eligible for higher advanced payments of the premium tax credit you will receive credit for these when you file your taxes, even if you do not file an appeal. For more information on appeals, see <u>SOP-10 Request an Eligibility Appeal</u>.
- FAQ 30. How much do my assets matter in determining my eligibility for advance payments of the premium tax credit and cost-sharing reductions?
 - Answer: The Marketplace does not consider your assets to determine your eligibility for advance payments of the premium tax credit and cost-sharing reductions.



The Assister's SOP Manual



Appendix A: Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs)

- FAQ 31. How much does my household income matter in determining my eligibility to enroll in a QHP through the Marketplace?
 - Answer: Your household income is not a factor in determining your eligibility to enroll in a QHP through the Marketplace. If you decide to apply with financial assistance, your household income is only used to help determine your eligibility for advance payments of the premium tax credit and cost-sharing reductions, as well as your eligibility for Medicaid and CHIP. If you decide to submit an application without requesting financial assistance, the Marketplace will not ask for your income.
- FAQ 32. Is the Marketplace application different from the regular Medicaid application?
 - Answer: In all states, you can use the Marketplace application to apply for Medicaid and CHIP, as well as for advance payments of the premium tax credit and cost-sharing reductions. In some states, and for some individuals whose eligibility is based on factors such as age, disability, or the need for long-term care services, the Medicaid agency may require an additional, different Medicaid application or ask for additional information.
- FAQ 33. How much do my assets matter in determining my eligibility for Medicaid and CHIP?
 - Answer: For most applicants, your assets won't matter in determining your eligibility for Medicaid and CHIP. There are still some people for whom assets do matter – specifically, individuals who are seeking Medicaid coverage because they are age 65 or over, disabled, or some individuals in need of long-term care services. The Marketplace will not ask you for information about assets, and your state Medicaid agency will let you know if this information is necessary.
- FAQ 34. How much does my income matter in determining my eligibility for Medicaid and CHIP?
 - Answer: Medicaid and CHIP eligibility standards consider household size and income, and the income standards vary by state and by population. In most states that have expanded Medicaid, the eligibility standard is approximately 138 percent of the federal poverty level for adults in Medicaid. Income eligibility levels are often higher for children and pregnant women in all states. There are other non-financial eligibility requirements for Medicaid and CHIP.

Note: See <u>Appendix C: Federal Poverty Guidelines</u> or visit local state <u>Medicaid Resources in</u> <u>Appendix D</u> to help consumers estimate if they are potentially eligible for Medicaid/CHIP. Please note that there are other non-financial eligibility requirements for Medicaid and CHIP.

- FAQ 35. Can I find out if I qualify for Medicaid without completing the Marketplace application?
 - Answer: Assisters may provide an estimate by referencing and factoring in consumers' household size and income. However, you can only find out for sure if you qualify for Medicaid by completing an application with the Marketplace or your state Medicaid agency. However, I can help you estimate if you are eligible for Medicaid.
 - Note: Assisters may provide an estimate by referencing <u>Appendix C: Federal Poverty Guidelines</u> and local state <u>Medicaid information available in Appendix D</u> and factoring in state Medicaid eligibility thresholds and consumers' household size and income.



Appendix A: Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs)

- FAQ 36. How do I contact my state Medicaid or CHIP agency?
 - Answer: If your eligibility results refer you to your local state Medicaid or CHIP agency, specific contact information will be included in the notice.
 - Note: Assisters can reference <u>Appendix D: State Medicaid & CHIP Program Information</u> for more information to share with consumers.
- FAQ 37. What if I currently have Medicaid/CHIP, but would like a QHP instead?
 - Answer: If you are eligible for Medicaid or CHIP but would rather purchase coverage through the Marketplace, you may be eligible to do so if it is still during Open Enrollment or you are eligible for a SEP. However, you won't qualify for the premium tax credit or cost-sharing reductions to help pay the costs for coverage through the Marketplace.
- FAQ 38. How long does it take for my state Medicaid or CHIP agency to make a final eligibility determination? And how will the agency notify me?
 - Answer: Determination periods vary from state to state. You should contact your local state Medicaid or CHIP agency for detailed information.
- FAQ 39. Do I have to go to my state Medicaid or CHIP agency in person to receive assistance?
 - Answer: No, you can contact your state Medicaid or CHIP agency in person, via phone or through the state's website to request assistance. Nearly all states also have electronic applications.

SOP-7 Lower Costs of Health Plan

The FAQs below are designed to help assisters answer consumers' specific questions on options to lower health plan costs available through the Individual Marketplace. For more information on this topic, see <u>SOP-7 Lower</u> <u>Costs of Coverage</u>.

FAQ 40. Can I adjust the amount of my advance payments of the premium tax credit I receive?

• Answer: Yes, you can adjust the amount of your advance payments of the premium tax credit, up to the maximum amount for which you are eligible, at any point during the year, including during the Open Enrollment period.

FAQ 41. Can I adjust the amount of income-based cost-sharing reductions I receive?

Answer: No. If you are eligible for income-based cost-sharing reductions and enroll in a Silver-level plan, you will receive the fixed amount of cost-sharing reductions for which you are eligible based on your household income. You may not choose a different amount or level of cost-sharing reductions, but you may choose to enroll in a plan without cost-sharing reductions. Your cost sharing reductions will show up as lower copays, coinsurance, and deductibles on your Silver-level plan.



The Assister's SOP Manual



Appendix A: Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs)

- FAQ 42. Can I adjust the amount of my advance payments of the premium tax credit I receive to more than I am eligible for?
 - Answer: No, the Marketplaces determine the amount of advance payments of the premium tax credit for which you are eligible. If you feel that you are eligible for a higher amount of advance payments of the premium tax credit, you may file an appeal. Even if you do not file an appeal, if you are eligible for a higher premium tax credit, you will receive a credit or refund for the difference between the premium tax credit you are eligible for and the APTC that was paid on your behalf, when you file your taxes for the year.
- FAQ 43. I think I am eligible for more advance payments of the premium tax credit or cost-sharing reductions. What do I do?
 - Answer: You may file an appeal if you believe you are eligible for more advance payments of the premium tax credit or cost-sharing reductions, or if you aren't satisfied with certain other eligibility determinations.
- FAQ 44. If I lose my job, will I qualify for advance payments of the premium tax credit and cost-sharing reductions?
 - Answer: You must report this change to the Marketplace and complete an eligibility application to determine whether you are eligible for advance payments of the premium tax credit and cost-sharing reductions. If you were previously ineligible because of household income or because affordable employer-sponsored coverage that meets the minimum value standard was available to you, you may become eligible for help paying for coverage through the Marketplace as a result of decreased income or losing eligibility for this employer-sponsored coverage.
- FAQ 45. How do I report changes in my household income?
 - Answer: You may log in to your account, select the "Report a Life Change" tab, and follow the system instructions to enter any changes. You may also contact the Marketplace Call Center.
- FAQ 46. How much does my household income matter in determining my eligibility for advance payments of the premium tax credit and cost-sharing reductions?
 - Answer: Eligibility for advance payments of the premium tax credit and cost-sharing reductions depends, in part, on your family size and household income. The Marketplace will determine if your family size and household income qualifies you for these benefits. Please note that there are other non-financial eligibility requirements for advance payments of the premium tax credit and cost-sharing reductions. Visit HealthCare.gov for more information.

SOP-8 Compare, Save, & Select Health Plans

The FAQs below are designed to help assisters answer consumers' specific questions on comparing and selecting plans through the Individual Marketplace. For more information on this topic, see <u>SOP-8 Compare, Save, & Select</u> <u>Health Plans</u>.

FAQ 47. How do I look at the different plans and compare them?

• Answer: You may view and compare plans by logging in to your HealthCare.gov account or using the "See Plans and Prices" tool on HealthCare.gov before you create an account.





Appendix A: Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs)

FAQ 48. Can I browse health plans in the Marketplace without creating an account?

- Answer: Yes, you may browse and compare plans on the HealthCare.gov website. However, you
 may not see all details of QHPs, including the exact amounts of what your costs would be. You
 are encouraged to create an account and submit an application to see the full details of various
 QHPs.
- FAQ 49. When can I select my health plan?
 - Answer: During Open Enrollment or if you are eligible for a SEP, you may select an insurance plan after you have completed an eligibility application and received eligibility results indicating that you are eligible to enroll in a QHP through the Marketplace.
- FAQ 50. May I select more than one health plan?
 - Answer: You may only select one health plan for each individual. You may also select stand-alone dental coverage, if available. However, you may select different health plans for different people on a single application by forming different enrollment groups in the enrollment section of HealthCare.gov (after submitting the application).
- FAQ 51. Can I select a stand-alone dental plan QHP?
 - If you want to enroll in a stand-alone dental plan QHP through individual Health Insurance MarketplaceSM, you can select a medical plan that includes dental coverage, and you may also select a stand-alone dental plan. You must be enrolled in a medical plan to enroll in dental coverage in Individual Health Insurance Marketplace^{SM24}.
- FAQ 52. Can I select a child-only qualified health plan?
 - Answer: Yes, you may enroll a child in a child-only plan without enrolling yourself in coverage, but you must include yourself and other members of your tax household as non-applicants on your application if you select that you want to see if you can get help paying for coverage.

However, it's important to remember that if you do not have MEC for yourself, you may be required to obtain an exemption or pay a fee when you file your annual federal income taxes.

- FAQ 53. After I determine the filtering options for my plan comparison, how do I prioritize them?
 - Answer: You will need to determine what factors are most important to you. Some factors that you may want to consider include costs, providers (like doctors, hospitals, and pharmacies) that the health insurer or plan has contracted with to provide health care services (known as the "network"), and what prescription drugs the plan's formulary covers.
- FAQ 54. Who decides which health plans are QHPs?
 - Answer: The Marketplace, with involvement from some states, determines which plans are QHPs.

²⁴ If an employee is enrolling through a Federally-facilitated SHOP Marketplace, and his or her employer offers both medical and stand-alone dental coverage through the SHOP, the employee may enroll in a stand-alone dental plan through the SHOP without also enrolling in a medical plan through the SHOP.

This information is intended only for the use of entities and individuals that are certified to serve as Navigators, certified application counselors, or non-Navigator assistance personnel in a Federally-facilitated Marketplace. The terms "Federally-facilitated Marketplace" and "FFM," as used in this document, include FFMs where the state performs plan management functions and State Partnership Marketplaces. Some information contained in this manual may also be of interest to individuals helping consumers in State-based Marketplaces and Federally-supported State-based Marketplaces. 125





Appendix A: Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs)

FAQ 55. When do I see the cost of the health plans?

• Answer: You can see estimated costs of health plans before you apply. If you are determined eligible to enroll in a QHP through the Marketplace and for help paying for coverage, you will be able to view your exact plan costs, taking into account any advance payments of the premium tax credit or cost-sharing reductions for which you qualify.

FAQ 56. Are all QHP benefits the same despite different QHP costs?

Answer: No, you will see differences within coverage categories and you may see additional benefits that only some plans offer. However, all QHPs provide coverage of the required essential health benefits and all QHPs (other than stand-alone dental plan QHPs) are considered MEC. HealthCare.gov offers several different tools to help consumers compare and contrast plans, including filtering and sorting options, yearly cost estimates, and in-network provider and medication coverage look-up tools. Starting in the 2017 benefit year, consumers will have the option to select "Simple Choice plans," which come with uniform cost-sharing features. The uniform cost-sharing features will allow the consumer to compare plans based on important factors, such as providers in the plan's network, with the knowledge that cost-sharing for certain categories of covered benefits will be the same across Simple Choice plans. The "Simple Choice plans" will display in Plan Compare.

SOP-9 Pay Health Plan Premium

The FAQs below are designed to help assisters answer consumers' specific questions on premium payments for QHPs selected through the Individual Marketplace. For more information on this topic, see <u>SOP-9 Pay Health</u> <u>Plan Premium</u>.

FAQ 57. What financial information can I update in my Marketplace account?

- Answer: You can update household income information in your Marketplace account. However, you must visit your health insurance company's website to update payment information for your monthly premiums (e.g., bank account information, credit card information).
- FAQ 58. How do I make payments?
 - Answer: Your insurance company will inform you of the acceptable methods of payment.

Generally, you can make payments through your health plan's website if the issuer makes online payments available, by phone if the issuer accepts payments by phone, or via mail directly to the health plan. You will not make payments for individual market coverage to the Marketplace, but the Marketplace may help redirect you to your health insurance company's website so you can pay your premium.

- FAQ 59. Can I make payments by check? May I pay in cash?
 - Answer: Your health insurance company will inform you of the acceptable methods of payment.

The Assister's SOP Manual

CENTERS FOR MEDICARE & MEDICAID SERVICE

Appendix A: Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs)

Health insurance companies are required to have methods of payment that are available to consumers who do not have checking accounts or credit cards.

- FAQ 60. What happens if I miss a payment? Does my coverage end?
 - Answer: You will need to contact your health insurance company to confirm what happens after missing a payment. Coverage might not end immediately and your health insurance company may provide a grace period. Under Marketplace rules, QHP issuers must provide a grace period of three consecutive months for an enrollee, who when failing to timely pay premiums, is receiving advance payments of the premium tax credit. They must also grant enrollees who do not receive advance payments of the premium tax credit a grace period in accordance with state laws. Assisters and consumers may want to contact their State Department of Insurance for more information on grace periods based on state rules.
- FAQ 61. Does my premium amount include any advance payments of the premium tax credit I receive?
 - Answer: Yes, the Marketplace automatically deducts any advance payments of the premium tax credit for which you are eligible and have chosen to apply from the monthly premium amount displayed for you to pay.

SOP-10 Request an Eligibility Appeal

The FAQs below are designed to help assisters answer consumers' specific questions on eligibility appeals through the Individual FFM. For more information on this topic, see <u>SOP-10 Request an Eligibility Appeal</u>.

FAQ 62. How will I know when the Marketplace receives my appeal?

- Answer: You will receive a notice about your appeal request via mail or through your account in the Message Center. If you do not receive a notice, you can contact the Marketplace Call Center for assistance.
- FAQ 63. How long will it take to receive a decision on my appeal?
 - Answer: The time required to make a decision on your appeal will vary, based on factors including the reason for your appeal and whether you submit additional documentation to support your appeal.
- FAQ 64. I cannot attend my hearing request date. Can I reschedule?
 - Answer: Yes, you can reschedule if you have a conflict and cannot make the date and time scheduled for your eligibility appeal hearing. As soon as you know you have a conflict with when your hearing is scheduled, you should call the Marketplace Appeals Center to ask for a new date and time. The information on how to do this and the number to call is on your Notice of Hearing. Hearing Officers carefully prepare for hearings to be ready to appropriately conduct each appellant's hearing and then correctly decide the case. If you do not request a rescheduled hearing and fail to appear at your hearing, your appeal will be dismissed.

SOP-11 Exemptions

The FAQs below are designed to help assisters answer consumers' specific questions on consumer exemptions through the Individual Marketplace. For more information on this topic, see <u>SOP-11 Exemptions</u>.



CENTERS FOR MEDICARE & MEDICAID SERVICES

Appendix A: Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs)

- FAQ 65. How do I file for an exemption?
 - Answer: Depending on the reason for the exemption, you may apply for an exemption via the Marketplace or claim it when filing your federal tax returns.
- FAQ 66. How long will it take to know if my exemption application to the Marketplace was approved?
 - Answer: The time required to process your exemption application will vary based on the type of exemption for which you apply. You should receive a notice from the Marketplace after your application is accepted. Otherwise, you may contact the Marketplace Call Center to find out if your application was accepted.
- FAQ 67. When does my exemption end?
 - Answer: When the Marketplace grants you an exemption, the exemption period may vary in length. The Marketplace grants exemptions on a month-to-month basis, for a calendar year, or on a continuing basis until an individual reports a change related to the eligibility standards.

Consumers may reference their exemption notice for further information. Consumers should note that most exemptions will end at the end of the plan year; thus, consumers will need to re-apply for an exemption each year in most cases.

- FAQ 68. My household income is so low that I am not required to file a federal tax return. Do I qualify for an exemption?
 - Answer: Consumers who are not required to submit federal income tax returns because they do not meet the filing threshold are automatically exempt from the shared responsibility payment for not maintaining MEC and do not need to do anything else to get an exemption. This is true even if the consumer files a tax return to get a refund. In that case, the consumer can claim the exemption through the tax filing process. Consumers whose incomes are below the filing threshold but who choose to file a federal income tax return can claim the exemption through the tax filing process. Note, however, that consumers whose incomes are below the filing threshold but who file a federal income tax return for another reason must apply for an exemption if they do not have MEC.

SOP-12 Update Account Profile

The FAQs below are designed to help assisters answer consumers' specific questions on updating their online accounts through the Individual Marketplace. For more information on this topic, see <u>SOP-12 Update Account</u> <u>Profile</u>.

- FAQ 69. What account changes/updates will affect my eligibility to participate in the Marketplace or to get help paying for coverage?
 - Answer: Certain life changes, like gaining citizenship, marriage, or the birth of a child, may affect eligibility. However, account maintenance updates, like changing your password or email, will not affect your eligibility.
- FAQ 70. How do I change my account details (e.g., password, email)?
 - Answer: You may log in to your account, select the "My Profile" tab, and follow the system instructions to complete any account changes.

This information is intended only for the use of entities and individuals that are certified to serve as Navigators, certified application counselors, or non-Navigator assistance personnel in a Federally-facilitated Marketplace. The terms "Federally-facilitated Marketplace" and "FFM," as used in this document, include FFMs where the state performs plan management functions and State Partnership Marketplaces. Some information contained in this manual may also be of interest to individuals helping consumers in State-based Marketplaces and Federally-supported State-based Marketplaces. 128





Appendix A: Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs)

FAQ 71. If I've already mailed in my paper eligibility application, can I update my information later online?

 Answer: If you have submitted a paper application to the Marketplace, you can make changes to your application information online. You will need to create an account online, answer questions to prove your identity, and then use the "Find Application" function to associate the application with the account. You will need your application ID number to retrieve your application. If you're not sure of your application ID number, you can contact the Marketplace Call Center.

SOP-13 Report Life Changes

The FAQs below are designed to help assisters answer consumers' specific questions on reporting life changes through the Individual Marketplace. For more information on this topic, see <u>SOP-13 Report Life Changes</u>.

- FAQ 72. What account changes/updates will affect my eligibility to participate in the Marketplace or to get help paying for coverage?
 - Answer: Certain life changes, like gaining citizenship, marriage, moving, or the birth of a child, may affect eligibility. However, account maintenance updates, like changing your password or email, will not affect your eligibility.
- FAQ 73. When should I report a life change?
 - Answer: Changes to eligibility information must be reported within 30 days of the change, but consumers should report changes in circumstances as soon as they can to ensure the financial assistance is correct and to help avoid potentially owing money related to advance payments of the premium tax credit when they file their federal income tax returns.

SOP-14 Renew Health Coverage

The FAQs below are designed to help Assisters answer consumers' specific questions on renewing their health coverage through the Individual Marketplace. For more information on this topic, see <u>SOP-14 Renew Health</u> <u>Coverage</u>.

FAQ 74. How will I know if my current coverage is available for renewal?

 Answer: Consumers will get a notice from two different sources before open enrollment begins: the Marketplace and their health insurance company. The Marketplace will send an annual eligibility redetermination notice and the health insurance company notice will either tell consumers that they can renew their coverage for 2017 (known as a renewal notice) or that their QHP is being discontinued (known as a discontinuance notice). The health insurance company generally must send a discontinuation notice at least 90 days before the date the coverage will be discontinued.





Appendix A: Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs)

FAQ 75. What happens if my current coverage is being discontinued for the upcoming benefit year?

- Answer: For the 2017 coverage year, if your QHP is being discontinued and if state law allows, you will be enrolled automatically into a different QHP, possibly with a different insurance company. The new QHP would be chosen based on a set of established rules. You can also return to the Marketplace and select a new QHP.
- FAQ 76. Why was I re-determined ineligible for coverage through the Marketplace?
 - Answer: There are several reasons why consumers who were previously eligible for QHP enrollment may no longer be eligible when the Marketplace re-determines their eligibility, including incarceration or moving outside the service area of the Marketplace.



The Assister's SOP Manual



Appendix B: Acronyms & Definitions

Appendix B: Acronyms & Definitions

The proceeding sections describe the commonly used acronyms and terms that appear throughout the Manual.

Frequently Used Acronyms

Acronym	Descriptions
АРТС	Advance payments of the premium tax credit
САР	Consumer Assistance Program
CCIIO	Center for Consumer Information & Insurance Oversight
COBRA	Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act
CFR	Code of Federal Regulations
СНІР	Children's Health Insurance Program
CMS	Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services
CSR	Cost-sharing Reduction
DHS	Department of Homeland Security
DMI	Data-matching Issue
EHB	Essential Health Benefits
FAQ	Frequently Asked Questions
FFM	Federally-facilitated Marketplace
FPL	Federal Poverty Level
HDHP	High Deductible Health Plan
HHS	Department of Health & Human Services
НМО	Health Maintenance Organization
HSA	Health Savings Account
ID	Identification
IHS	Indian Health Service
IRS	Internal Revenue Service
MAGI	Modified Adjusted Gross Income
MEC	Minimum Essential Coverage
PII	Personally Identifiable Information
QHP	Qualified Health Plan
SBC	Summary of Benefits and Coverage
SEP	Special Enrollment Period
SHIP	State Health Insurance Assistance Program
SHOP	Small Business Health Options Program
SOP	Standard Operating Procedure
SSI	Supplemental Security Income
SSN	Social Security Number

II)

MARKETPLACE ASSISTER TOOLKIT

The Assister's SOP Manual



Appendix B: Acronyms & Definitions

Acronym	Descriptions
VA	Veterans Affairs
VHA	Veterans Health Administration

Definitions

The following is a list of terms from HealthCare.gov, CCIIO, and the Affordable Care Act explained in plain language that you may reference to assist consumers.

Actuarial Value: The percentage of total average costs for covered benefits that a plan will cover, on average. For example, if a plan has an actuarial value of 70%, on average, a consumer would be responsible for 30% of the costs of all covered benefits. However, consumers could be responsible for a higher or lower percentage of the total costs of covered services for the year, depending on their actual health care needs and the terms of their insurance policy. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/actuarial-value</u>)

Advance Payments of the Premium Tax Credit: (APTC) The Affordable Care Act provides a new tax credit to help consumers afford health coverage purchased through a Marketplace. Consumers can use advance payments of the premium tax credit to lower their monthly premium costs. If consumers qualify, they may choose how much in advance payments of the premium tax credit to apply to their premiums each month, up to a maximum amount. If the amount of advance payments of the premium tax credit consumers get for the year is less than the premium tax credit they're due based on their annual household income, they'll get the difference as a refundable credit when they file their federal income tax return. If their advance payments of the premium tax credit for the year are more than the amount of the premium tax credit for which they are eligible, they may be required to repay the excess advance payments with their tax return. (Reference: HealthCare.gov/glossary/advanced-premium-tax-credit)

Affordable Care Act: The comprehensive health care reform law enacted in March 2010. Congress passed the law in two parts. The President signed the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act into law on March 23, 2010, which was amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 on March 30, 2010. The name "Affordable Care Act" refers to the amended version of the law. (Reference: HealthCare.gov/glossary/affordable-care-act)

Agent: When registered with a Marketplace, an individual or entity that helps individuals and businesses apply for and enroll in QHPs through the Marketplace and may assist in applying for advance payments of the premium tax credit and cost-sharing reductions. States grant licenses to agents to sell insurance in their respective jurisdictions. They may receive compensation from insurance companies with whom they have a contractual relationship to enroll consumers in a QHP or non-QHP. (Reference: Affordable Care Act §1312(e) and 45 CFR §155.20)

Applicant: With respect to a Marketplace for the individual market, an applicant is an individual seeking eligibility for him or herself through an application submitted to the Marketplace (or transmitted to the Marketplace by the state Medicaid or CHIP agency) except individuals seeking eligibility for an exemption from the individual shared responsibility payment. Applicants must be seeking eligibility for at least one of the following: enrollment in a QHP through the Marketplace (with or without advance payments of the premium tax credit and/or cost-sharing reductions) and enrollment in Medicaid or CHIP. (Reference: 45 CFR §155.20 and 42 CFR §435.4)



The Assister's SOP Manual



Appendix B: Acronyms & Definitions

Authorized Representative: Someone whom consumers designate in writing to act on their behalf with the Marketplace, like a family member or other trusted person. (Reference: 45 CFR §155.227)

Benefits: The health care items or services covered under a health plan. The health plan's coverage documents define the covered benefits and excluded services. In Medicaid or CHIP, the state program rules define covered benefits and excluded services. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/benefits</u>)

Benefit Year: A calendar year for which a health plan provides coverage for health benefits. The benefit year for non-grandfathered individual market plans bought inside or outside the Marketplace generally begins January 1 of each year and ends December 31 of the same year. Unless terminated earlier, a consumer's individual market coverage ends December 31 even if the coverage started after January 1. Any changes to benefits or rates of an individual market health insurance plan are generally made at the beginning of the calendar year. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/benefit-year</u>)

Broker: When registered with a Marketplace, an individual or entity that helps individuals and businesses apply for and enroll in a QHP through the Marketplace and may assist in applying for advance payments of the premium tax credit and cost-sharing reductions. States grant licenses to brokers to sell insurance in their respective jurisdictions. They may receive compensation from an insurance company with whom they have a contractual relationship to enroll consumers into a QHP or non-QHP. (Reference: Affordable Care Act § 1312(e) and 45 CFR §155.20)

Catastrophic Health Plan: Health plans that meet all of the requirements applicable to other QHPs but that don't cover any benefits other than three primary care visits per year before the plan's deductible is met, and complies with the requirement to cover certain preventive services without cost sharing obligations. The premium amount consumers pay each month for health care is generally lower than for other QHPs but the amounts for deductibles, copayments, and coinsurance are generally higher. To qualify for a catastrophic plan, consumers must be under 30 years old at the time of enrollment OR get an exemption because the Marketplace determined that they're unable to afford health coverage or have certain other hardships. (Reference: HealthCare.gov/glossary/catastrophic-health-plan)

Center for Consumer Information & Insurance Oversight (CCIIO): A part of the Department of Health & Human Services that helps to implement many provisions of the Affordable Care Act, the historic health reform bill that became law in March 2010. CCIIO oversees the implementation of the provisions related to private health insurance. (Reference: <u>CMS.gov/CCIIO</u>)

Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS): The federal agency that runs the Medicare, Medicaid, and Children's Health Insurance Programs, as well as the Federally-facilitated Marketplaces. For more information, visit <u>CMS.gov</u>. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/centers-for-medicare-and-medicaid-services</u>)

Certified Application Counselor (CAC): In an FFM, an individual (affiliated with an organization designated by CMS, as operator of the FFMs) who is trained and able to help consumers as they look for health coverage options through the Marketplace, including helping them complete eligibility and enrollment forms. Their services are free to consumers. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/certified-applicant-counselor</u>)

Certified Application Counselor Designated Organization (CDO): In an FFM, an organization designated by CMS, as operator of the FFMs, to certify staff members or volunteers to act as certified application counselors. (Reference: 45 CFR §155.225)

The Assister's SOP Manual



Appendix B: Acronyms & Definitions

Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP): Program jointly funded by state governments and the federal government that provides health coverage to low-income children and, in some states, pregnant women in families who earn too much income to qualify for Medicaid but cannot afford to purchase private health insurance coverage. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/childrens-health-insurance-program-chip</u>)

Claim: A request for payment that a consumer, his or her authorized representative, or his or her health care provider submits to the consumer's health insurer when the consumer gets items or services he or she thinks are covered. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/claim</u>)

Coinsurance: The consumer's share of the costs of a covered health care service calculated as a percent (for example, 20%) of the allowed amount for the service. Consumers pay coinsurance plus any deductibles they owe. For example, if the health insurance or plan's maximum allowed amount for a covered office visit is \$100 and the consumer has met the plan's deductible, the consumer's coinsurance payment of 20% would be \$20. The health insurance or plan pays the rest of the allowed amount. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/co-insurance</u>)

Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA): A federal law that may allow consumers to temporarily keep health coverage after their employment ends, they lose coverage as a dependent of the covered employee, or another qualifying event. If consumers elect COBRA coverage, they pay 100% of the premiums including the share the employer used to pay plus a small administrative fee. (Reference: HealthCare.gov/glossary/cobra)

Copayment: Also referred to as a copay, this is a fixed amount (for example, \$15) a consumer pays for a covered health care service, usually when they receive the service. The amount can vary by the type of covered health care service. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/co-payment</u>)

Cost-sharing Reduction: A discount that lowers the amount consumers have to pay out-of-pocket for deductibles, coinsurance, and copayments. Consumers also have a lower out-of-pocket maximum. Consumers are eligible for cost-sharing reductions if they get health insurance through a Marketplace, they meet household income requirements, and if they enroll in a health plan from the Silver plan category (See Health Plan Categories). Consumers may qualify for additional cost-sharing benefits if they are a member of a federally recognized tribe. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/cost-sharing-reduction</u>)

Deductible: The amount consumers owe for covered health care services before their health insurance or plan begins to pay. For example, if a consumer's deductible is \$1,000, the plan won't pay anything for covered health care services subject to the deductible until the consumer has met the \$1,000 deductible. The deductible may not apply to all services. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/deductible</u>)

Eligibility Appeal: In an Individual Marketplace, a request by an individual for a reevaluation of a Marketplace eligibility decision or an eligibility decision by a state Medicaid or CHIP agency. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/can-i-appeal-a-marketplace-decision</u>)

Employer-sponsored Health Insurance Plan (Group Health Plan): A group health plan or health coverage offered by an employer which may be a governmental plan or any other plan, or coverage offered in the small- or large - group marketplace within a state. (Reference: IRC §5000A(f)(2))

Enrollee: In an individual Marketplace, a qualified individual enrolled in a QHP through the Marketplace. (Reference: 45 CFR §155.20)



The Assister's SOP Manual



Appendix B: Acronyms & Definitions

Essential Health Benefits (EHB): A set of health care service categories that certain plans must cover starting with plan years beginning in 2014.

The Affordable Care Act ensures that non-grandfathered health insurance plans offered in the individual and small-group markets, both inside and outside of the Health Insurance Marketplaces, offer a comprehensive package of items and services, known as essential health benefits. Essential health benefits must include items and services within at least the following ten categories: ambulatory patient services; emergency services; hospitalization; maternity and newborn care; mental health and substance use disorder services, including behavioral health treatment; prescription drugs; rehabilitative and habilitative services and devices; laboratory services; preventive and wellness services and chronic disease management; and pediatric services, including oral and vision care. Insurance policies must cover these categories of benefits to be certified as qualified health plans that can be offered in the Health Insurance Marketplaces, and alternative benefit plans offered under Medicaid state plans (which must be offered to the new adult population) must cover these services by 2014. (Reference: HealthCare.gov/glossary/essential-health-benefits)

Federal Poverty Level (FPL): FPL represents a threshold level of household income used by the federal government to determine an individual's eligibility to participate in certain federal programs or qualify for advance payments of the premium tax credit or cost-sharing reduction in a Marketplace when enrolling in a QHP.

Health Coverage: Consumers' legal entitlement to payment or reimbursement for their health care costs for covered services or items generally under a contract with a health insurance company, a group health plan offered in connection with employment, or a government program like Medicare, Medicaid, or CHIP. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/health-coverage</u>)

Health Insurance: A contract that requires a consumer's health insurer to pay some or all of the consumer's health care costs in exchange for a premium. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/health-insurance</u>)

Health Insurance Issuer (Issuer): An insurance company, insurance service, or insurance organization that must have a license to engage in the business of insurance in a state and that is subject to state laws that regulate insurance. (Reference: 45 CFR §144.103)

Health Maintenance Organization (HMO): A type of health insurance plan that usually limits coverage to care from doctors who work for or contract with the HMO. It generally won't cover out-of-network care except in an emergency. An HMO may require a consumer to live or work in its service area to be eligible for coverage. HMOs often provide integrated care and focus on prevention and wellness. (Reference: HealthCare.gov/glossary/health-maintenance-organization-HMO)

Health Plan Categories: The Individual Marketplace generally separates health plans into four health plan categories — Bronze, Silver, Gold, or Platinum, — based on the amount the plan can be expected to pay of the average overall cost of providing essential health benefits to members. The plan category a consumer chooses affects the total amount the consumer will likely spend for essential health benefits during the year. For the four metal category plans, the percentages the plans will spend on average are 60% (Bronze), 70% (Silver), 80% (Gold), and 90% (Platinum). This is not the same as coinsurance in which a consumer pays a specific percentage of the cost of a specific service. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/health-plan-categories</u>)

High Deductible Health Plan (HDHP): A plan that features higher deductibles than traditional insurance plans. Consumers may combine high deductible health plans with a health savings account or a health reimbursement

The Assister's SOP Manual



Appendix B: Acronyms & Definitions

arrangement to allow them to pay for qualified medical expenses on a pre-tax basis. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/high-deductible-health-plan</u>)

Health Savings Account (HSA): A medical savings account available to taxpayers who are enrolled in a HDHP. The funds contributed to the account aren't subject to federal income tax at the time of deposit. Consumers must use funds to pay for qualified medical expenses. Unlike a Flexible Spending Account (FSA), funds roll over year to year if consumers do not spend them. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/health-savings-account-HSA</u>)

Incarceration Status: A criterion for eligibility referring to whether an individual is required to be confined to a correctional institution. Applicants are not qualified individuals if they are incarcerated other than pending the disposition of charges. (Reference: 45 CFR §155.305)

Indian Status: A criterion for eligibility for cost-sharing reductions or enrollment periods referring to whether an individual is a member of an Indian tribe as defined by section 4 of the Indian Self-Determination and Education Assistance Act. (Reference: 45 CFR §155.300)

Individual Marketplace: The Marketplace for individuals to purchase health insurance plans for themselves or their families other than through an employer-sponsored group health plan. (Reference: Affordable Care Act §1304(a)(2))

Individual Shared Responsibility Payment (also referred to as a "Fee"): Starting January 1, 2014, if applicable individuals do not maintain health coverage that qualifies as MEC or obtain an exemption, they may have to pay a fee, known as the individual shared responsibility payment, that increases every year from 1% of household income (or \$95 per adult, whichever is higher) in 2014, 2.0% of household income (or \$325 per adult) in 2015, to 2.5% of household income (or \$695 per adult) in 2016, up to a maximum of \$2,085. The fee for children is half the adult amount. If applicable, consumers will pay this fee on their annual tax return. People with very low incomes and others may be eligible for exemptions. (Reference: HealthCare.gov/glossary/fee)

In-network Providers: Doctors, hospitals, pharmacies, and other health care providers that have agreed to provide members of a certain insurance plan or certain issuer with services and supplies. Some insurance plans will only cover a consumer's health care if the consumer gets the services from in-network doctors, hospitals, pharmacies, and other health care providers. (Reference: <u>Medicare.gov/glossary/i.html</u>)

Insurance Affordability Program: A program that is one of the following: a Medicaid program, a CHIP program, a program that makes available QHPs with advance payments of the premium tax credit or cost-sharing reductions, or a Basic Health Program, if available. (Reference: 45 CFR §155.300)

Job-based Coverage: Also referred to as a job-based health plan, group health plan or employer-sponsored health insurance plan, coverage that an employer offers to employees (and may also offer to employees' family members). (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/job-based-health-plan</u>)

Marketplace: A marketplace for health insurance, also known as an "Exchange," operated by a governmental agency or non-profit entity that meets applicable government standards. A Marketplace makes QHPs available to qualified individuals and/or qualified employers. Generally, in CMS documents, this term is often used to refer both to Marketplaces serving the individual market for qualified individuals and to Small Business Health Options Program (SHOP) Marketplaces serving the small group market for qualified employers, and is often used regardless of whether a Marketplace is established and operated by a State or by HHS. However, in this



The Assister's SOP Manual



Appendix B: Acronyms & Definitions

document, the term Marketplace generally is used to refer only to the Federally-facilitated Marketplaces (FFMs), and frequently is used to refer only to the FFMs for the individual market. (Reference: 45 CFR §155.20)

Marketplace Service Area: The geographic area in which a Marketplace is certified to operate. (Reference: 45 CFR §155.20)

Medicaid: A state-administered health insurance program for low-income families and children, pregnant women, the elderly, people with disabilities, and in some states, other adults. The federal government provides a portion of the funding for Medicaid and sets guidelines for the program. States also have choices in how they design their programs, in which Medicaid can vary state by state and may have a different name in your state. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/medicaid</u>)

Medicare: A federal health insurance program for people who are age 65 or older and certain younger people with disabilities. It also covers people with End-Stage Renal Disease (permanent kidney failure requiring dialysis or a transplant, sometimes called ESRD). (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/medicare</u>)

Minimum Essential Coverage (MEC): The type of health coverage individuals need to have to avoid having to make the individual shared responsibility payment (unless they qualify for an exemption) when they file a federal income tax return. Many types of coverage qualify as MEC, including qualified health plans offered through the Marketplace, job-based coverage, Medicare, Medicaid, CHIP, and TRICARE. (Reference: Section 5000A(f) of the Internal Revenue Code)

Minimum Value: A health plan meets this standard if it is designed to pay at least 60% of the total allowed cost of benefits under the plan. Individuals eligible for minimum essential coverage, including employer-sponsored coverage that provides minimum value and that is affordable, are not eligible to receive a premium tax credit. (Reference: 45 CFR §156.145)

Modified Adjusted Gross Income (MAGI): The figure used to determine eligibility for lower costs in the Marketplace and for Medicaid and CHIP applicants whose eligibility is based on MAGI. Generally, MAGI is an individual's adjusted gross income plus any tax-exempt Social Security, interest, or foreign income the individual has. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/modified-adjusted-gross-income-magi</u>)

Navigator: An individual or organization that receives a grant from the Marketplace and that is trained and able to help consumers, including small employers and their employees, as they look for health coverage options through the Marketplace, including helping them complete the eligibility and enrollment process. These individuals and organizations are required to be unbiased. Their services are free to consumers. (Reference: HealthCare.gov/glossary/navigator)

Non-citizen: An individual who is not a citizen or national of the United States. (Reference: 45 CFR §155.305;)

Non-Navigator Assistance Personnel: Individuals or organizations that are trained and able to provide help to consumers, including small employers and their employees, as they look for health coverage options through a Marketplace, including helping them complete the eligibility and enrollment process. These individuals and organizations are required to be unbiased. Their services are free to consumers. Also referred to as "in-person assisters." (Reference: HealthCare.gov/glossary/in-person-assistance-personnel-program)

Open Enrollment Period: The period of time during which individuals who are eligible to enroll in a QHP can enroll in a plan through the Marketplace. For coverage starting in 2017, the individual market Open Enrollment

This information is intended only for the use of entities and individuals that are certified to serve as Navigators, certified application counselors, or non-Navigator assistance personnel in a Federally-facilitated Marketplace. The terms "Federally-facilitated Marketplace" and "FFM," as used in this document, include FFMs where the state performs plan management functions and State Partnership Marketplaces. Some information contained in this manual may also be of interest to individuals helping consumers in State-based Marketplaces and Federally-supported State-based Marketplaces. 137

The Assister's SOP Manual



Appendix B: Acronyms & Definitions

period is November 1, 2016 – January 31, 2017. Individuals may also qualify for special enrollment periods if they experience certain qualifying events. Consumers can apply for Medicaid or CHIP at any time of the year. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/open-enrollment-period</u>)

Out-of-pocket Costs: The expenses for health care services that insurance companies do not reimburse. Out-of-pocket costs include deductibles, coinsurance, and copayments for covered services plus all costs for services that are not covered. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/out-of-pocket-costs</u>)

Plan Year: A consecutive twelve-month period during which a health plan provides coverage for health benefits. A plan year may be a calendar year. (Reference: 45 CFR §155.20)

Pre-existing Condition: A health problem that a consumer had before the date that his or her new health coverage starts. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/pre-existing-condition</u>)

Preferred Provider Organizations (PPOs): Types of health plans that contract with medical providers, such as hospitals and doctors, to create a network of participating providers. Consumers pay less in out-of-pocket costs if they use providers that belong to the plan's network. Consumers can use doctors, hospitals, and providers outside of the network for an additional cost. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/preferred-provider-organization-PPO</u>)

Premium: The amount that consumers or employers pay for a health insurance or job-based coverage. Premiums are paid by the consumer or employers on a monthly, quarterly, or yearly basis. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/premium</u>)

Prevention: Activities to prevent illness such as routine check-ups, immunizations, patient counseling, and screenings. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/prevention-glossary</u>)

Point-of-service Plan (POS): A type of plan in which consumers pay less when they use doctors, hospitals, and other health care providers that belong to the plan's network. POS plans also require consumers to get a referral from their primary care doctor to see a specialist. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/point-of-service-plan-POS-plan</u>)

Qualified Health Plan (QHP): Under the Affordable Care Act, an insurance plan that is certified by a Health Insurance MarketplaceSM, provides essential health benefits, follows established limits on cost- sharing (like deductibles, copayments, and out-of-pocket maximum amounts), and meets other requirements. Each QHP is certified by the Marketplace through which the plan is offered. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/qualified-health-plan</u>)

Qualified Individual: An individual who has been determined eligible to enroll in a QHP through an Individual Marketplace. (Reference: 45 CFR §155.20)

Service Area: A geographic area where a health insurance plan accepts members limited to a specific area if it limits membership based on where people live, work, or reside. For plans that limit which doctors and hospitals consumers may use, it is also generally the area where consumers can get routine (non-emergency) services. The plan may disenroll consumers if they move out of the plan's service area, and out of network costs may apply for services received outside a plan's network (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/service-area</u>)

Special Enrollment Period (SEP): In the individual market, a period during which a qualified individual or enrollee who experiences certain qualifying events may enroll in, or change enrollment in, a QHP through the

The Assister's SOP Manual



Appendix B: Acronyms & Definitions

Marketplace outside of the annual individual market open enrollment period. For example, individuals who lose employer-sponsored health coverage, or who lose Medicaid coverage because of an increase in income, would be eligible for a SEP to enroll in a Marketplace plan, if they otherwise qualify. Other triggering events include marriage, divorce, and the birth or adoption of a child. (Reference: 45 CFR §155.20)

Summary of Benefits and Coverage (SBC): An easy-to-read summary that lets consumers make apples-to-apples comparisons of costs and coverage between health plans. Consumers can compare options based on price, benefits, and other features that may be important to them. Consumers will get the Summary of Benefits and Coverage when they shop for coverage on their own or through their job, renew or change coverage, or request an SBC from the health insurance company. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/summary-of-benefits-and-coverage</u>)

Tax Dependent: A child or other individual for whom a parent, relative, or other person may claim a personal exemption tax deduction. Under the Affordable Care Act, individuals may be able to claim a premium tax credit to help cover the cost of coverage for themselves and their tax dependents. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/dependent</u>)

TRICARE: A health care program for active-duty and retired uniformed services members and their families. (Reference: <u>HealthCare.gov/glossary/tricare</u>)

Veterans Affairs Health Care Benefits: Health care benefits for which veterans who served in the active military, naval or air service and were separated under any condition other than dishonorable, may qualify. For more information on how the Affordable Care Act affects veterans' health benefits, visit VA.gov/aca. (Reference: VA.gov)



Appendix C: Federal Poverty Guidelines

Appendix C: Federal Poverty Guidelines

Exhibit 65—2016 Annual Poverty Guidelines for All States (Except Hawaii and Alaska)

Family Size	100%	120%	133%	135%	150%	175%	185%	200%	250 %
1	11,880.00	14,256.00	15,800.40	16,038.00	17,820.00	20,790.00	21,978.00	23,760.00	29,700.00
2	16,020.00	19,224.00	21,306.60	21,627.00	24,030.00	28,035.00	29,637.00	32,040.00	40,050.00
3	20,160.00	24,192.00	26,812.80	27,216.00	30,240.00	35,280.00	37,296.00	40,320.00	50,400.00
4	24,300.00	29,160.00	32,319.00	32,805.00	36,450.00	42,525.00	44,955.00	48,600.00	60,750.00
5	28,440.00	34,128.00	37,825.20	38,394.00	42,660.00	49,770.00	52,614.00	56,880.00	71,100.00
6	32,580.00	39,096.00	43,331.40	43,983.00	48,870.00	57,015.00	60,273.00	65,160.00	81,450.00
7	36,730.00	44,076.00	48,850.90	49,585.50	55,095.00	64,277.50	67,950.50	73,460.00	91,825.00
8	40,890.00	49,068.00	54,383.70	55,201.50	61,335.00	71,557.50	75,646.50	81,780.00	102,225.00

*For family units with more than eight members, add \$4,160 for each additional family member.

Exhibit 66–2016 Annual Poverty Guidelines for Alaska Only

Family Size	100%	120%	133%	135%	150%	175%	185%	200%	250%
1	14,840	17,808.00	19,737.20	20,034.00	22,260.00	25,970.00	27,454.00	29,680.00	37,100.00
2	20,020	24,024.00	26,626.60	27,027.00	30,030.00	35,035.00	37,037.00	40,040.00	50,050.00
3	25,200	30,240.00	33,516.00	34,020.00	37,800.00	44,100.00	46,620.00	50,400.00	63,000.00
4	30,380	36,456.00	40,405.40	41,013.00	45,570.00	53,165.00	56,203.00	60,760.00	75,950.00
5	35,560	42,672.00	47,294.80	48,006.00	53,340.00	62,230.00	65,786.00	71,120.00	88,900.00
6	40,740	48,888.00	54,184.20	54,999.00	61,110.00	71,295.00	75,369.00	81,480.00	101,850.00
7	45,920	55,104.00	61,073.60	61,992.00	68,880.00	80,360.00	84,952.00	91,840.00	114,800.00
8	51,120	61,344.00	67,989.60	69,012.00	76,680.00	89,460.00	94,572.00	102,240.00	127,800.00

*For family units with more than eight members, add \$5,200 for each additional family member.

Exhibit 67-2016 Annual Poverty Guidelines for Hawaii Only

Family Size	100%	120%	133%	135%	150%	175%	185%	200%	250%
1	13,670	16,404.00	18,181.10	18,454.50	20,505.00	23,922.50	25,289.50	27,340.00	34,175.00
2	18,430	22,116.00	24,511.90	24,880.50	27,645.00	32,252.50	34,095.50	36,860.00	46,075.00
3	23,190	27,828.00	30,842.70	31,306.50	34,785.00	40,582.50	42,901.50	46,380.00	57,975.00
4	27,950	33,540.00	37,173.50	37,732.50	41,925.00	48,912.50	51,707.50	55,900.00	69,875.00
5	32,710	39,252.00	43,504.30	44,158.50	49,065.00	57,242.50	60,513.50	65,420.00	81,775.00
6	37,470	44,964.00	49,835.10	50,584.50	56,205.00	65,572.50	69,319.50	74,940.00	93,675.00
7	42,230	50,676.00	56,165.90	57,010.50	63,345.00	73,902.50	78,125.50	84,460.00	105,575.00
8	47,010	56,412.00	62,523.30	63,463.50	70,515.00	82,267.50	86,968.50	94,020.00	117,525.00
The Assister's SOP Manual



Appendix C: Federal Poverty Guidelines

*For family units with more than eight family members, add \$4,780 for each additional family member.



MARKETPLACE ASSISTER TOOLKIT The Assister's SOP Manual



Appendix D: State Medicaid & CHIP Program Information

Appendix D: State Medicaid & CHIP Program Information

While implementation of the Affordable Care Act brings with it the coordination of state Medicaid and CHIP programs with the Health Insurance Marketplaces, states must still have a single state agency to administer or supervise the administration of the Medicaid program. As an assister, you may be confronted with questions from consumers about specific Medicaid or CHIP eligibility requirements in their states. You may also encounter consumers who have been determined eligible for Medicaid or CHIP by the Marketplace and require assistance with enrollment. In these cases, you may reference Exhibit 68 for links to Medicaid and CHIP programs. Please refer consumers to these websites and agencies to help them find the information and assistance they need.

State	CHIP Program Name	CHIP Program Website	Medicaid Program Website
Alabama	ALL Kids	http://www.adph.org/allkids	http://www.medicaid.alabama.gov
Alaska	Denali KidCare	<u>http://dhss.alaska.gov/dhcs/Pages/</u> <u>denalikidcare/default.aspx</u>	<u>http://dhss.alaska.gov/dpa/pages/medi</u> <u>caid</u>
Arizona	Arizona Health Care Cost Containment System (AHCCCS) KidsCare	https://www.azahcccs.gov/Member s/GetCovered/Categories/KidsCare. html	http://www.azahcccs.gov
Arkansas	ARKids First!	http://www.arkidsfirst.com	https://www.medicaid.state.ar.us
California	Medi-Cal	http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/services/m edi-cal/Pages/default.aspx	http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/services/chdp/ Pages/default.aspx
Colorado	Health First Colorado	<u>https://www.colorado.gov/hcpf/chil</u> <u>d-health-plan-plus</u>	https://www.colorado.gov/pacific/hcpf/ colorado-medicaid
Connecticut	HUSKY Health	http://www.huskyhealth.com/hh/sit e/default.asp	http://www.huskyhealth.com/hh/site/d efault.asp
Delaware	Delaware Healthy Children Program	http://www.dhss.delaware.gov/dss/ dhcp.html	http://www.dmap.state.de.us
District of Columbia	DC Healthy Families	http://dhcf.dc.gov/service/dc- healthy-families	http://dhcf.dc.gov/service/dc-healthy- families
Florida	Florida KidCare	http://www.floridakidcare.org	http://www.myflfamilies.com/service- programs/access-florida-food-medical- assistance-cash/medicaid www.fdhc.state.fl.us/Medicaid/index.s html
Georgia	PeachCare for Kids	http://www.peachcare.org	http://dch.georgia.gov/medicaid
Hawaii	My Medical Benefits	http://humanservices.hawaii.gov/m gd/	http://humanservices.hawaii.gov/mqd/
Idaho	Idaho Health Plan for Children	http://www.healthandwelfare.idaho .gov/	http://healthandwelfare.idaho.gov/Me dical/Medicaid/tabid/123/Default.aspx
Illinois	All Kids	https://www.illinois.gov/hfs/Medica IPrograms/AllKids	http://www2.illinois.gov/hfs/Pages/de fault.aspx

Exhibit 68—State Medicaid & CHIP Program Contact Information



The Assister's SOP Manual



Appendix D: State Medicaid & CHIP Program Information

	CHIP		
State	Program Name	CHIP Program Website	Medicaid Program Website
Indiana	Hoosier Healthwise Package C	http://member.indianamedicaid.co m/programsbenefits/medicaid- programs/hoosier-healthwise/hhw- covered-servicesaspx	http://member.indianamedicaid.com/p rogramsbenefits/medicaid- programs/hoosier-healthwise/hhw- covered-servicesaspx
Iowa	Hawk-I	http://www.hawk-i.org	http://dhs.iowa.gov/ime/about
Kansas	KanCare CHIP	http://www.kdheks.gov/hcf/Medica id/about.html	http://www.kdheks.gov/hcf/Medicaid/a bout.html
Kentucky	КСНІР	http://kidshealth.ky.gov/en/kchip/	http://www.chfs.ky.gov/dms
Louisiana	LaCHIP	http://www.lachip.org	http://dhh.louisiana.gov/index.cfm/sub home/1/n/331
Maine	MaineCare	http://www.maine.gov/dhhs/ofi/ser vices/cubcare/Getting%20an%20Ap plication.htm	http://www.maine.gov/dhhs/oms/
Maryland	Maryland Children's Health Connection Program (MCHP)	https://www.marylandhealthconnec tion.gov/	https://www.marylandhealthconnectio n.gov/
Massachusetts	MassHealth	<u>http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/gov/d</u> <u>epartments/masshealth/</u>	http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/gov/depar tments/masshealth/
Michigan	MIChild	http://www.michigan.gov/mdhhs/0, 5885,7-339- 71547 2943 4845 4931,00.html	http://www.michigan.gov/mdhhs/0,588 5,7-339-71547 4860,00.html
Minnesota	Medical Assistance (MA)	http://mn.gov/dhs/people-we- serve/adults/health-care/health- care-programs/programs-and- services/medical-assistance.jsp	http://mn.gov/dhs/people-we- serve/adults/health-care/health-care- programs/programs-and- services/medical-assistance.jsp
Mississippi	Mississippi Health Benefits CHIP	https://medicaid.ms.gov/programs/ childrens-health-insurance- program-chip/	http://www.medicaid.ms.gov
Missouri	MO HealthNet for Kids	<u>http://www.dss.mo.gov/mhk/index.</u> <u>htm</u>	http://www.dss.mo.gov/mhd
Montana	Healthy Montana Kids	http://www.dphhs.mt.gov/hmk	http://dphhs.mt.gov/montanahealthcar eprograms/welcome/memberservices
Nebraska	Nebraska CHIP	http://dhhs.ne.gov/medicaid/Pages /med_CHIP.aspx	http://dhhs.ne.gov/medicaid/Pages/me d_medindex.aspx
Nevada	Nevada Check Up	https://www.nevadahealthlink.com /individuals- families/medicaidnevada-check-up/	https://www.medicaid.nv.gov
New Hampshire	Expanded Children's Medicaid	http://www.dhhs.nh.gov/dfa/medic al/children.htm	http://www.dhhs.nh.gov/ombp/medica id/
New Jersey	NJ Family Care	http://www.njfamilycare.org	http://www.state.nj.us/humanservices/ dmahs/clients/medicaid/



The Assister's SOP Manual



Appendix D: State Medicaid & CHIP Program Information

State	CHIP Program Name	CHIP Program Website	Medicaid Program Website
New Mexico	Centennial Care	http://www.hsd.state.nm.us/Lookin gforAssistance/centennial-care- overview.aspx	http://www.hsd.state.nm.us/Lookingfor Assistance/centennial-care- overview.aspx
New York	Child Health Plus	https://www.health.ny.gov/health care/medicaid/	http://www.health.ny.gov/health_care/ medicaid
North Carolina	NC Health Choice for Children	https://dma.ncdhhs.gov/medicaid	https://dma.ncdhhs.gov/medicaid
North Dakota	Healthy Steps	https://www.nd.gov/dhs/services/ medicalserv/chip/	http://www.nd.gov/dhs/services/medic alserv /medicaid
Ohio	Healthy Start	http://www.medicaid.ohio.gov/FOR OHIOANS/Programs/ChildrenFamilie sandWomen.aspx	http://medicaid.ohio.gov
Oklahoma	SoonerCare	http://www.okhca.org/individuals.a spx?id=52&menu=114&parts=11601 _7453	http://www.okhca.org/individuals.aspx ?id=52&menu=114&parts=11601 7453
Oregon	Oregon Health Plan	http://www.oregon.gov/oha/health plan/pages/index.aspx	http://www.oregon.gov/oha/healthplan /pages/index.aspx
Pennsylvania	Pennsylvania CHIP	http://www.chipcoverspakids.com	http://www.dhs.pa.gov/citizens/healthc aremedicalassistance/#.VvQ9Xrz5d90
Rhode Island	HealthSourceRI	http://www.dhs.ri.gov	http://www.dhs.ri.gov
South Carolina	Partners for Healthy Children	<u>https://www.scdhhs.gov/eligibility-</u> groups/partners-healthy-children- phc	https://www.scdhhs.gov
South Dakota	South Dakota CHIP	https://dss.sd.gov/medicaid/general info/medicalprograms.aspx	http://dss.sd.gov/medicaid/
Tennessee	Cover Kids	http://www.tn.gov/coverkids/sectio n/cover-kids	http://www.tn.gov/tenncare
Texas	Texas CHIP	http://www.chipmedicaid.org	http://www.hhsc.state.tx.us/medicaid
Utah	Utah CHIP	http://www.health.utah.gov/chip	<u>http://health.utah.gov/medicaid/prov</u> <u>html/general_info.html</u>
Vermont	Dr. Dynasaur	http://info.healthconnect.vermont.g ov/Medicaid	http://www.greenmountaincare.org
Virginia	Family Access to Medical Insurance (FAMIS)	http://www.famis.org	http://www.dss.virginia.gov/benefit/me dical_assistance/
Washington	Apple Health	http://www.hca.wa.gov/free-or- low-cost-health-care/apple-health- medicaid-coverage	http://www.hca.wa.gov/free-or-low- cost-health-care/apple-health- medicaid-coverage
West Virginia	West Virginia CHIP	http://www.chip.wv.gov	http://www.dhhr.wv.gov/bms/Pages/d efault.aspx



The Assister's SOP Manual



Appendix D: State Medicaid & CHIP Program Information

State	CHIP Program Name	CHIP Program Website	Medicaid Program Website
Wisconsin	BadgerCare Plus	https://www.dhs.wisconsin.gov/bad gercareplus/index.htm	https://www.dhs.wisconsin.gov/badger careplus/index.htm
Wyoming	Kid Care CHIP	http://health.wyo.gov/healthcarefi n/chip	https://wyequalitycare.acs-inc.com/

The Assister's SOP Manual

Appendix E: Support Resources

Appendix E: Support Resources

If consumers require assistance that is outside of assister activities, refer consumers to other organizations and resources as appropriate. Exhibit 69 provides a list of external resources.

Resource	Contact Information	What does this resource do?	How should consumers use this resource?
Center for Consumer Information & Insurance Oversight (CCIIO)	http://www.CMS.gov/cciio/index.html	This entity implements many provisions of the Affordable Care Act, the health reform bill signed into law in March 2010. CCIIO oversees the implementation of the provisions related to private health insurance.	To gather more information on the Affordable Care Act by referencing detailed fact sheets, FAQs, and other resources.
Experian Help Desk	1-866-578-5409	The Experian Help Desk assists consumers with verifying their identity over the phone so that they may proceed with eligibility and enrollment activities after creating an account on HealthCare.gov.	To verify their identity over the phone if they were unsuccessful in their attempt to verify their identity on HealthCare.gov. When necessary, consumers will receive a unique identity verification code and will be instructed to contact the Experian Help Desk.
Marketplace Call Center	1-800-318-2596 TTY: 1-855-889-4325 (all languages available)	The Marketplace Call Center provides assistance to consumers who need information or want to enroll in health coverage through an FFM.	To get answers to questions while applying for health coverage using the online or paper application. To apply for health coverage over the phone.
HealthCare.gov	http://www.HealthCare.gov	This website allows consumers to access information about the Affordable Care Act and to enroll in health coverage through an FFM.	To find out about health coverage options available through an FFM. To apply for health coverage online. To get real-time answers to questions using the online chat function.

Exhibit 69—External Resources



The Assister's SOP Manual

Contact Information

http://www.IHS.gov

http://www.IRS.gov

<u>.gov</u>

http://www.Medicaid XE "Medicaid"

Appendix E: Support Resources

Resource

Internal

Revenue Service (IRS)

Medicaid

Indian Health Service (IHS)

		a portion of the funding for Medicaid and sets guidelines for the program. States also have choices in how they design their program, so Medicaid varies state-by- state and may have a different name in your state.	
Medicare	<u>http://www.Medicare XE "Medicare"</u> .gov	This federal program is run by CMS and provides health coverage to qualified individuals who are 65 years of age or older and/or have a disability.	To learn more about eligibility for Medicare or apply for Medicare online. To learn more about or make changes to existing Medicare benefits.
State Health Insurance Assistance Program (SHIP) Office	http://www.shiptacenter.org	The state-based SHIP program offers one-on-one counseling and assistance to people covered by Medicare and their families.	To receive free in-person or telephone counseling on navigating the health care system and Medicare program.
State Health Insurance Assistance Program (SHIP) Office	http://www.shiptacenter.org	disability. The state-based SHIP program offers one-on-one counseling and assistance to people covered by Medicare and their families.	To receive free in-person or telephone counseling on navigating the health care system and Medicare progr
This information is in Navigator assistance include FFMs where t also be of interest to	tended only for the use of entities and individuals t personnel in a Federally-facilitated Marketplace. Th the state performs plan management functions and individuals helping consumers in State-based Mark	hat are certified to serve as Navigators, c le terms "Federally-facilitated Marketplac State Partnership Marketplaces. Some ir etplaces and Federally-supported State-b	ertified application counselors, or non- ce" and "FFM," as used in this document, nformation contained in this manual may nased Marketplaces. 14



How should consumers use

Affordable Care Act provisions

that apply to American Indians

exemptions and lower health coverage costs available to American Indians or Alaskan

effects of the Affordable Care

Act on consumers' tax returns.

about health coverage through

To find answers to questions

To get further information

about their state's Medicaid

program and agency contact

To learn more about the

or Alaskan Natives.

Natives.

To learn more about

To learn more about the

Medicaid or CHIP.

information.

this resource?

What does this resource do?

This division of HHS is

dedicated to providing

Natives.

federal health services to

American Indians and Alaska

This federal agency collects

taxes from individuals and

businesses in the U.S.

This state-administered

health insurance program is

for low-income families and

children, pregnant women, the elderly, people with

disabilities, and in many

states, other adults. The

federal government provides

The Assister's SOP Manual



Appendix E: Support Resources

Resource	Contact Information	What does this resource do?	How should consumers use this resource?
Social Security Administration (SSA)	<u>http://www.SSA.gov</u>	This independent federal agency administers Social Security, A system that distributes financial benefits to retired or disabled people, their spouses, and their dependent children based on their reported earnings.	To learn more about available Social Security benefits for which consumers might be eligible. To apply for a Social Security number, which is necessary to apply for health coverage through the Marketplace (except for legal immigrants, who can provide a document number).
Veterans Affairs (VA) Health Benefits	http://www.VA.gov/health/aca	The Department of Veterans Affairs provides comprehensive health care programs, services and benefits to Veterans and other beneficiaries who are enrolled in the following programs: Veterans Health Care Program, VA Civilian Health and Medical Program (CHAMPVA), or Spina Bifida Health Care Benefits Program.	To learn more about or apply for VA health benefits.





Index

Account, 21, 24, 37, 72, 107, 121 Advance Payments of the Premium Tax Credit, 59, 61, 63, 73, 74, 75, 136 Agent, 136 Appeals, 52, 53, 90, 91, 92, 93, 94, 131

Broker, 137

Certified Application Counselor, 137 CHIP, 11, 29, 37, 39, 46, 51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 56, 57, 60, 72, 90, 91, 113, 116, 126, 127, 135, 136, 137, 138, 139, 140, 141, 142, 146, 147, 148, 149, 151 Complaint & Grievance, 9 Consent, 4, 12, 14, 15, 17, 121

Deductible, 77, 135, 138, 139 Dependent, 143

Eligibility, 38, 39, 43, 44, 49, 50, 51, 52, 53, 54, 56, 57, 58, 61, 67, 71, 75, 90, 91, 93, 94, 97, 114, 115, 120, 125, 128, 131, 138 Exemption, 95, 96, 97, 98, 99, 100, 101, 102, 104, 106, 107, 120, 131

Federal Poverty Level, 135, 139 Fraud, 3, 7, 8, 9

Health Coverage, 18, 29, 30, 33, 36, 37, 39, 50, 116, 120, 123, 133, 139
Health Insurance, 1, 8, 11, 33, 36, 46, 50, 82, 92, 93, 102, 107, 129, 135, 137, 138, 139, 142, 146, 151

Health Plan Categories, 138, 139 Household Income, 65

Individual Marketplace, 1, 11, 121, 122, 123, 125, 127, 128, 130, 131, 132, 133, 138, 139, 140, 142 Individual Shared Responsibility Payment, 140

Knowledge Assessment, 18

Life Changes, 50, 71, 110, 111, 113, 115, 133

Medicaid, 1, 7, 11, 29, 37, 39, 46, 51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 56, 57, 60, 65, 72, 90, 91, 95, 113, 116, 126, 127, 135, 136, 137, 138, 139, 140, 141, 142, 143, 146, 147, 148, 151 Medicare, 1, 7, 99, 113, 135, 137, 139, 140, 141, 151 Minimum Essential Coverage, 135, 141 Modified Adjusted Gross Income, 135, 141

Navigator, 1, 3, 9, 10, 12, 13, 14, 15, 64, 90, 141

Open Enrollment Period, 114, 141

Paper Application, 45 Personally Identifiable Information, 4, 7, 135

Qualified Health Plan, 135, 142

SHOP, 5, 90, 91, 129, 135, 140 Special Enrollment Period, 39, 50, 62, 114, 115, 135, 142 Summary of Benefits and Coverage, 72, 135, 143

Tax Return, 9

¹ This communication was printed, published, or produced and disseminated at U.S. taxpayer expense.